
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
  

      BBooaarrdd  ooff  CCoommmmiissssiioonneerrss  
MMeeeettiinngg  

AAuugguusstt  55,,  22002244  
  



 
July 31, 2024  4:22:54 PM 

 
 

WASHINGTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

AUGUST 5, 2024 
MEDIA CENTER 

WASHINGTON COUNTY SCHOOL EARLY COLLEGE 
115 MIDDLE STREET, CRESWELL, NC 

 
 6:00 PM Call to Order—Chair Keyes 
 6:01 PM Invocation / Pledge   
   Additions / Deletions 
 
Item 1 6:05 PM Consent Agenda 

a) Approval of Minutes of July 1, 2024  
b) FY25 Salary Schedule/Pay Tables Effective 7/16/24 v2 
c) Language Access Plan (LAP) for ESFRLP2023 
d) NCDHHS-DSS MOU FY25 
e) RESO 2024-026 Approving & Accepting Sale of Real Property, 90 Cumberland St., 

Plymouth, NC 
f) RESO 2024-027 Approving & Accepting Sale of Real Property, 134 Daisy Lane, 

Roper, NC. 
g) RESO 2024-028 Opioid Resolution 

 
Item 2 6:10 PM Public Forum (3-minute limit per speaker)  
 
Item 3   6:20 PM  Department Information Update: Ricky Young, Facilities Director 
 
Item 4 6:30 PM  Airport Engineering RFQ Selection, Ms. Mary Moscato, Airport Development Director 
 
Item 5 6:40 PM  Boards & Committees, Ms. Julie J. Bennett, Clerk to the Board 

a. Re-Appointment of Ms. Linda West to the Beaufort County Community College (BCCC) 
Board of Trustees 

 
Item 6 6:50 PM  Finance Officer’s Report, Budget Amendments/Budget Transfers, Ms. Missy Dixon, Finance 

Officer 
 
Item 7 7:00 PM Other Items by Chair, Commissioners, CM/CA, Finance Officer or Clerk 

a. NCACC Legislative Goals for FY24-25 
  
Item 8 7:10 PM Closed Session has been scheduled according to NCGS§143-318.11(a)(3)  (attorney-

client privilege) and NCGS §143-318.11(a)(6) (personnel) 
     Adjourn 



 
WASHINGTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

 
       ITEM NO:  1 
 
       DATE:  August 5, 2024 
 
ITEM:  Consent Agenda      
  
SUMMARY EXPLANATION: 
 
Items listed under Consent are generally of a routine nature.  The Board may take action to 
approve/disapprove all items in a single vote.  Any item may be withheld from a general action, 
to be discussed and voted upon separately at the discretion of the Board. 
 

a) Approval of Minutes of July 1, 2024. 
See attached at the end of the package 

b) FY25 Salary Schedule/Pay Tables Effective 7/16/24 v2 
See attached. 
1. After further review and evaluation of the 911 dispatcher positions , 

the proposed pay tables effective 7/16/24 v2 have been modified to 
regrade certified and uncertified 911 dispatchers to bring starting 
salaries in line with current comparable county salaries. 

2. 2 additional corrections were made to the original table (noting the 
correct 8 total 911 positions rather than the 10 previously shown by 
error) and (updating the Sheriff’s Admin Asst. to match the grade for 
Admin Asst. in other departments). 

3. Staff believes the maximum additional cost of the 911 regraded 
positions will be approximately $45k, but will in reality likely be 
lower due to ongoing vacancies and turnover, and that the additional 
costs within FY25 will most likely be absorbed within the currently 
allocated budget lines (including salary contingencies).  Therefore no 
additional funding allocations are recommended at this time. 

4. Staff recommends approving the revised Pay Table as presented. 
 

c) Language Access Plan (LAP) for ESFRLP2023 
See attached. 

d) NCDHHS-DSS MOU FY25 
See attached.   Staff’s recommendation is to approve the MOU as 
presented in the cover letter.   
 
Also, below is the email from DSS Director Clifton Hardison on 
this subject. 
 



From: Clifton Hardison <CliftonH@wcchs.org>  
Sent: Monday, June 17, 2024 3:31 PM 
To: Curtis Potter <cpotter@washconc.org> 
Cc: Lynn Swett <lynns@wcchs.org> 
Subject: 24-26 MOU - County/NCDHHS 
Curtis, 
 
I have attached the MOU for signature.  I have reviewed the 
performance requirements subject to corrective action in 
Attachment I.  I do not have any concerns at this time.  The 
attachment for signature is labeled “County MOU and Data 
Sharing 2024-25 and 2025-26”.  The remaining attachments are 
for information.  I would recommend reading the Cover Letter for 
summary information. 
 

e) RESO 2024-026 Approving & Accepting Sale of Real Property, 90 
Cumberland St., Plymouth, NC 

f) RESO 2024-027 Approving & Accepting Sale of Real Property, 
134 Daisy Lane, Roper, NC 

g) RESO 2024-028 Opioid Resolution 
 

 

mailto:CliftonH@wcchs.org
mailto:cpotter@washconc.org
mailto:lynns@wcchs.org


Grade Position Title FY25 #POS FY25 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Step 7 Step 8 Step 9 Step 10 Step 11 Step 12 Step 13 Step 14 Step 15 Step 16 Step 17
(YORE) Index: 44 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7&8 9&10 11&12 13&14 15&16 17&18 19&20 21&22 23&24 25&26

8 Veteran's Service OfficerFrozen PT 23,260$       23,838$       24,443$       25,062$       25,653$       26,339$       26,971$       27,656$       28,342$       29,028$       29,767$       30,480$       31,287$       32,053$       32,819$       33,666$       34,507$       
Office Assistant/Floater PT
Housekeeper 2
Maintenance Worker I 3
Senior Center Nutrition Prog. Mgr. 1
Asst Register of Deeds 1
Landfill Operator 1
Accounting Techniciation 1
Property Tax Clerk 2
Utilitity/AR Clerk 2
Waterworks Techanician I 4
Administrative Assistant 3 29,673$       30,386$       31,179$       31,905$       32,711$       33,532$       34,379$       35,240$       36,100$       36,987$       37,942$       38,896$       39,864$       40,859$       41,881$       42,902$       43,975$       
Code Enforement Officer 1 30,735$       31,474$       32,267$       33,088$       33,895$       34,755$       35,629$       36,516$       37,431$       38,345$       39,300$       40,254$       41,276$       42,351$       43,387$       44,449$       45,560$       

16
Chief Landfill Operator                            
Water Plant OperatorFrozen

1           
0 31,784$       32,590$       33,383$       34,231$       35,064$       35,952$       36,826$       37,767$       38,708$       39,690$       40,685$       41,666$       42,741$       43,764$       44,893$       45,996$       47,145$       

Airport Operations Manager 1 32,833$       33,666$       34,514$       35,361$       36,248$       37,162$       38,089$       39,030$       40,012$       41,007$       42,015$       43,077$       44,180$       45,242$       46,371$       47,528$       48,716$       
Soil and Water Supervisor 1
Assistant Tax Assessor 1
Delinquent Tax Coordinator 1
Accounting/HR Specialist 1
Recreation Director 1
Senior Center Director 1
Airport Development Director 1
Tax Land Records Coord 1

21 Clerk to Board/Admin. Asst. 1 37,081$       38,022$       38,990$       39,959$       40,954$       41,962$       42,984$       44,100$       45,188$       46,304$       47,487$       48,631$       49,410$       51,118$       52,395$       53,712$       55,055$       
Elections Director (FN1) 1
Deputy Tax Administrator 1
IT Systems Operator 1
Maintenance Supervisor 1 41,396$       42,419$       43,454$       44,516$       45,673$       46,802$       47,918$       49,168$       50,365$       51,615$       52,919$       54,263$       55,608$       57,006$       58,432$       59,857$       61,353$       
Water Treatment Plant Supervisor 1
Grants & Procurement Manager 1
Register of Deeds (FN2) 1 43,481$       44,543$       45,726$       46,828$       47,985$       49,208$       50,418$       51,695$       52,973$       54,304$       55,649$       57,047$       58,472$       59,924$       61,416$       62,949$       64,522$       

28 Deputy Finance Officer/Financial Analys 1 44,529$       45,699$       46,815$       47,944$       49,181$       50,405$       51,682$       52,960$       54,291$       55,635$       57,019$       58,445$       59,883$       61,389$       62,922$       64,482$       66,094$       
34 Tax Administrator 1 50,943$       52,220$       53,537$       54,828$       56,200$       57,598$       59,036$       60,529$       62,048$       63,595$       65,181$       66,808$       68,475$       70,182$       71,944$       73,758$       75,602$       
39 Utilities Director 1 56,267$       57,638$       59,104$       60,583$       62,102$       63,634$       65,207$       66,848$       68,516$       70,249$       71,998$       73,812$       75,627$       77,523$       79,459$       81,435$       83,471$       
40 Planning Dir./Bldg Insp (Dual Role) 1 57,342$       58,781$       60,219$       61,753$       63,272$       64,831$       66,445$       68,139$       69,833$       71,567$       73,355$       75,197$       77,066$       78,975$       81,247$       82,995$       85,070$       

Finance Officer 1
Assistant County Manager 1
FN1: Elections Director & Employee Compensation Subject to NCGS 163-37
FN2: Sheriff&ROD Compensation Subject to NCGS 153A-92
FN3: Time spent in uncertified positions is not counted for YORE purposes in a higher pay grade/range position resulting from obtaining certification
FY23 Note: Total actual compensation amounts for NCSU Coop Extension Staff should be monitored to insure equitable progression comparable to regular county staff.  Countywide COLAs shall be applied to county only portion of NCSU Coop Extension Staff.
Historical COLAs: [2% 2013];     [2% 2015];     [2% 2018];  [1st YORE adj began w/ Jan22' payroll a year after Jan21' grade adj]     [2.5% 7.16.22];     [2.5% 7.16.23];    [2.5% 7.16.24]

77,469$       79,405$       81,395$       83,426$       85,523$       87,647$       89,866$       92,112$       

51,695$       52,973$       54,304$       55,649$       57,034$       58,458$       59,924$       61,403$       62,938$       

62,022$       63,595$       65,168$       66,808$       68,475$       70,182$       71,929$       73,758$       75,587$       

38,184$       39,166$       40,093$       41,088$       42,083$       43,185$       44,261$       45,350$       46,479$       47,676$       48,845$       50,055$       51,292$       52,596$       53,901$       55,259$       56,640$       

49,396$       50,607$       51,872$       

44,987$       46,102$       47,259$       48,442$       49,639$       50,902$       52,167$       53,471$       36,033$       36,934$       37,847$       38,789$       39,810$       40,778$       41,801$       42,822$       43,884$       

34,997$       35,858$       36,731$       37,660$       38,574$       39,528$       40,590$       41,572$       42,594$       

35,629$       36,530$       37,444$       38,358$       39,326$       40,282$       41,276$       42,351$       43,400$       

35,562$       36,477$       37,391$       38,291$       39,248$       

27,509$       28,234$       28,921$       29,660$       30,373$       31,166$       31,892$       32,698$       33,519$       34,352$       35,199$       36,072$       36,973$       37,914$       38,856$       39,851$       

26,460$       

Revised/Effective: 7/16/2024 v2

26 42,445$       43,481$       44,543$       45,712$       46,828$       47,985$       49,195$       

40,847$       

44

47,851$       49,101$       

25

27

22

50,418$       

20

19

50,328$       

43,643$       44,772$       45,874$       46,990$       48,200$       

15

13

14

28,570$       29,296$       37,498$       38,425$       39,380$       40,334$       41,411$       42,446$       

17

18 33,908$       34,782$       44,462$       45,565$       46,748$       

30,009$       30,789$       31,542$       32,336$       33,169$       33,989$       34,822$       35,723$       36,584$       

34,137$       

12

10 25,411$       26,029$       34,997$       35,871$       26,675$       27,361$       28,020$       28,746$       

33,855$       27,132$       27,818$       28,490$       29,216$       29,929$       30,694$       31,421$       32,215$       33,047$       34,702$       

37,678$       29,444$       

FY25 Washington County 

Salary Schedule/Pay Tables (County - Non Sheriff/Emergency Services & Non-DSS)

11

36,759$       30,198$       30,923$       31,717$       32,497$       33,290$       



Grade FY25 Position Title #POS FY25 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Step 7 Step 8 Step 9 Step 10 Step 11 Step 12 Step 13 Step 14 Step 15 Step 16 Step 17
(YORE) Index: 67 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7&8 9&10 11&12 13&14 15&16 17&18 19&20 21&22 23&24 25&26

12 WCSO Animal Control Officer 1 $27,509 $28,234 $28,921 $29,660 $30,373 $31,166 $31,892 $32,698 $33,519 $34,352 $35,199 $36,072 $36,973 $37,914 $38,856 $39,851 $40,847
WCSO Admin Asst 1
Detention Officer (FN3) 8
EMT Basic 8
Telecommunicator I - Uncert (FN3) 3

16 Detention Corporal 3 $31,784 $32,590 $33,383 $34,231 $35,064 $35,952 $36,826 $37,767 $38,708 $39,690 $40,685 $41,666 $42,741 $43,764 $44,893 $45,996 $47,145
EMT Intermediate 5
Telecommunicator II - EMD Cert 4

18 Detention - Lieutenant 1 $33,908 $34,782 $35,629 $36,530 $37,444 $38,358 $39,326 $40,282 $41,276 $42,351 $43,400 $44,462 $45,565 $46,748 $47,851 $49,101 $50,328
21 911 Telecom Supervisor - EMD Cert 1 $37,081 $38,022 $38,990 $39,959 $40,954 $41,962 $42,984 $44,100 $45,188 $46,304 $47,487 $48,631 $49,410 $51,118 $52,395 $53,712 $55,055
22 EMT Paramedics 9 $38,184 $39,166 $40,093 $41,088 $42,083 $43,185 $44,261 $45,350 $46,479 $47,676 $48,845 $50,055 $51,292 $52,596 $53,901 $55,259 $56,640
23 Chief Detention Officer 1 $39,246 $40,200 $41,195 $42,284 $43,320 $44,368 $45,471 $46,614 $47,783 $48,993 $50,189 $51,454 $52,731 $54,048 $55,407 $56,778 $58,197
26 WCSO Deputy (FN3) 8 $42,445 $43,481 $44,543 $45,712 $46,828 $47,985 $49,195 $50,418 $51,695 $52,973 $54,304 $55,649 $57,034 $58,458 $59,924 $61,403 $62,938
27 WCSO Corporal 2 $43,481 $44,543 $45,726 $46,828 $47,985 $49,208 $50,418 $51,695 $52,973 $54,304 $55,649 $57,047 $58,472 $59,924 $61,416 $62,949 $64,522
28 WCSO Sergeant 2 $44,529 $45,699 $46,815 $47,944 $49,181 $50,405 $51,682 $52,960 $54,291 $55,635 $57,019 $58,445 $59,883 $61,389 $62,922 $64,482 $66,094
29 WCSO Investigator 3 $45,632 $46,774 $47,905 $49,127 $50,351 $51,602 $52,906 $54,223 $55,567 $56,966 $58,391 $59,829 $61,335 $62,854 $64,414 $67,736 $69,429

Emergency Mgmt Coord 1
WCSO Lieutenant 2

32 EMS Deputy Director 1 $48,791 $50,029 $51,266 $52,557 $53,887 $55,231 $56,590 $58,001 $59,440 $60,932 $62,465 $64,011 $65,611 $67,264 $68,945 $70,666 $72,080
36 WCSO Chief Deputy 1 $53,067 $54,399 $55,756 $57,140 $58,566 $60,031 $61,510 $63,030 $64,643 $66,256 $67,883 $69,591 $71,352 $73,114 $74,955 $76,837 $78,758
37 EMS Director 1 $54,115 $55,487 $56,885 $58,310 $59,749 $61,255 $62,761 $64,321 $65,947 $67,574 $69,281 $70,989 $72,791 $74,579 $76,447 $78,370 $80,329
45 WCSO Sheriff (FN2) 1 $63,572 $65,184 $66,797 $68,478 $70,187 $71,936 $73,728 $75,602 $77,477 $79,406 $81,391 $83,430 $85,511 $87,661 $89,838 $92,112 $94,415

Refer to FNs on Non-Sheriff/Emergency Services Salary Schedule/Pay Tables

Grade Position Title FY25 #POS FY25 Step 1/A1 Step 2/A2 Step 3/B1 Step 4/B2 Step 5/B3 Step 6/C1 Step 7/C2 Step 8/C3 Step 9/D1 Step 10/D2 Step 11/D3 Step 12/E1 Step 13/E2 Step 14/E3 Step 15/F1 Step 16/F2 Step 17/F3
(YORE) Index: 54 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7&8 9&10 11&12 13&14 15&16 17&18 19&20 21&22 23&24 25&26

52FN1 Housekeeper  (FN1) 1 $25,411 $26,029 $26,675 $27,361 $28,020 $28,746 $29,444 $30,198 $30,923 $31,717 $32,497 $33,290 $34,137 $34,997 $35,871 $36,759 $37,678
Processing Assistant V 2 $27,051 $27,751 $28,410 $29,136 $29,848 $30,560 $31,327 $32,080 $32,873 $33,680 $34,540 $35,387 $36,328 $37,203 $38,089 $39,044 $40,026
IM CW I 0
Vehicle Operator I 5
Transportation Coordinator 1 $29,848 $30,560 $31,327 $32,080 $32,873 $33,680 $34,540 $35,387 $36,328 $37,203 $38,089 $39,044 $40,026 $41,021 $42,002 $42,997 $44,046
IM Caseworker II (FN2) 14
Info Processing Tech 2
Social Worker I 0
CS Enforcement Agent II 0 $32,873 $33,680 $34,540 $35,387 $36,328 $37,203 $38,089 $39,044 $40,026 $41,021 $42,002 $42,997 $44,046 $45,175 $46,304 $47,582 $48,711
IM Investigator II (FN2) 1
IM Caseworker III (FN2) 5

IM Supervisor II 2
Paralegal I 1
Transit Supervisor 1
Social Worker II (FN3) 5

69 Social Worker III (FN3) 5 $40,026 $41,021 $42,002 $42,997 $44,046 $45,175 $46,304 $47,582 $48,711 $49,827 $51,118 $52,382 $53,740 $55,003 $56,455 $57,812 $59,318
Social Worker Inv/Ass/Tr (FN3) 3
Social Worker Supervisor II 1
Computer System Administrator I 0-Frozen

73 Social Worker Supervisor III 3 $48,711 $49,827 $51,118 $52,382 $53,740 $55,003 $56,455 $57,812 $59,318 $60,824 $62,344 $63,890 $65,476 $67,090 $68,798 $70,451 $72,199
75 Social Services Deputy Director 1 $53,740 $55,003 $56,455 $57,812 $59,318 $60,824 $62,344 $63,890 $65,476 $67,090 $68,798 $70,451 $72,199 $74,054 $75,923 $77,792 $79,728
81 Social Services Director 1 $72,100 $73,833 $75,664 $77,609 $79,568 $81,525 $83,555 $85,654 $87,782 $89,966 $92,220 $94,516 $96,870 $99,307 $101,788 $104,309 $106,888

FN1: DSS Housekeeper step values are based on and pasted into the schedule from the non-DSS salary schedule's values for non-DSS housekeepers to create equity between all housekeeper positions
FN2: YORE value subject to work against reduction (refer to Supplemental DSS YORE Guidelines v20201216)
FN3: Subject to YORE reductions for Work Against/Prior Experience (refer to Supplemental DSS YORE Guidelines v20201216)
CS = Child Support
IM = Income Maintenance

$40,012 $41,007 $42,015 $43,077 $44,180 $45,242 $46,371 $47,528 $48,71617 $32,833 $33,666 $34,514 $35,361 $36,248 $37,162 $38,089 $39,030

$40,859 $41,881 $42,902 $43,975$36,100

Revised/Effective: 7/16/2024 v2

$37,942 $38,896 $39,864

31 $47,743 $48,939 $50,150 $51,400 $52,691 $54,022 $55,353 $56,724

$46,304 $47,582$42,002 $42,997 $44,046 $45,17570

$36,987

$53,740 $55,003 $56,455

$30,386 $31,179 $31,905 $32,711 $33,532

63

FY25 Washington County 

14 $29,673

$49,827 $51,118 $52,382 $53,740

$34,379 $35,240

Salary Schedule/Pay Tables (Sheriff/Emergency Services Only)

$62,344

$42,002 $42,997 $44,046 $45,175 $46,304 $47,582

$48,711 $49,827 $51,118 $52,382

$48,711

$57,812 $59,318 $60,824

67 $36,328 $37,203 $38,089 $39,044 $40,026 $41,021

65

61

Revised/Effective: 7/16/2024 v2

$58,122 $59,615 $61,080 $62,613 $64,186 $65,786 $67,426 $69,107 $70,834

FY25 Washington County 

Salary Schedule/Pay Tables (DSS Only)

15 $30,735 $31,474 $32,267 $33,088 $33,895 $34,755 $35,629 $36,516 $37,431 $38,345 $39,300 $40,254 $41,276 $42,351 $43,387 $44,449 $45,560



Providing Meaningful Communication with Persons with Limited English Proficiency 
Washington County 

 

The purpose of this Policy and Plan is to ensure compliance with Title V I of the 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, and their applicable federal and state laws and their implementing 
regulations with respect to persons with limited English proficiency (LEP).  Title VI of the 
Civil Rights Act of 1964 prohibits discrimination based on the ground of race, color or 
national origin by any entity receiving federal financial assistance.  Administrative methods 
or procedures, which have the effect of subjecting individuals to discrimination or 
defeating the objective so these regulations, are prohibited. 

POLICY: 

In order to avoid discrimination on the grounds of national origin, all programs or activities 
admin by the County will take reasonable steps to ensure that persons with Limited English 
Proficiency (LEP) have meaningful access and an equal opportunity to participate in benefits and 
services for which such persons qualify.  This Policy defines the responsibilities the agency has 
to ensure LEP individuals can communicate effectively. 

DEFINITIONS: 

Limited English Proficient (LEP) Individual – Any prospective, potential, or actual recipient of 
benefits or services from the agency who cannot speak, read, write, or understand the English 
language at a level that permits them to interact effectively with health care providers and social 
service agencies. 

Vital Documents – These forms include, but are not limited to, applications, consent forms, all 
compliance plans, bid documents, fair housing information, citizen participation plans, letters 
containing important information regarding participation in a program; notices pertaining to the 
reduction, denial, or termination of services or benefits, the right to appeal such actions, or that 
require a response from beneficiary notices advising LEP persons of the availability of free 
language assistance, and other outreach materials.  

Title VI Compliance Officer: the person or persons responsible for administering compliance 
with the title V LEP policies. 

Substantial number of LEP: 5% or 1000 people whichever is smaller are potential applicants or 
recipients of the agency and speak a primary language other than English and have limited 
English proficiency. 

PROCEDURES: 

1. IDENTIFYING LEP PERSONS AND THEIR LANGUAGE 

The County will promptly identify the language and communication needs of the LEP person 
staff will use a language identification card (or “I speak cards”,  provided by Community 
Investment and Assistance (CI))and LEP posters to determine the language. In addition, when 



records are kept of past interactions with individuals or family members the language used to 
communicate with the LEP person will be included as part of the record. 

2. OBTAINING A QUALIFIED INTERPRETER 

List the current name, office telephone number, office address and e-mail address of the Title VI 
compliance officers: 

 
Julie J. Bennett 
Clark to the board 
Washington County 
PO Box 1007 
Plymouth NC 27962 
252-793-5823 
jay.bennett@washconc.org 

(Note: the agency must notify the CI Compliance Office immediately of changes in name or 
contact information for the Title VI compliance officer.) 

Check all methods that will be used: 

Maintaining an accurate and current list showing the language, phone number, and hours of 
availability of bilingual staff. 

_X_  Contacting the appropriate bilingual staff member to interpret, in the event that an 
interpreter is needed, if an employee who speaks the native language is available and is qualified 
to interpret. 

_X_  Using telephone or computer translator software 

        Obtaining an outside interpreter if a bilingual staff or staff interpreter is not available or 
does not speak the needed language. 

(Identify the agency's names with whom you have contracted or made arrangements.) 

 

___Have/has agreed to provide qualified interpreter services. The agency’s telephone number(s) 
is is/are and the hours of availability are: 

 

___ Other (describe):  

All staff will be provided notice of this policy and procedure, and staff that may have direct 
contact with LEP individuals will be trained in effective communication techniques, including 
the effective use of an interpreter. 

mailto:jay.bennett@washconc.org


Some LEP persons may prefer or request to use a family member or friend as an interpreter  
However, family members or friends of the LEP person will not be used as interpreters unless 
specifically requested by that individual and after the LEP person has understood that an offer of 
an interpreter at no charge to the person has been made by the facility. Such an offer and the 
response will be documented in the person's file if the LEP person chooses to use a family 
member or friend as an interpreter issues of competency of interpretation, confidentiality, 
privacy, and conflict of interest should be considered. If the family member or friend is not 
competent or appropriate for any of these reasons, competent interpretive services will be 
provided to the LEP person. 

Children and other residents will not be used to interpret, in order to ensure confidentiality of 
information and accurate communication.  

3. PROVIDING WRITTEN TRANSLATIONS 
 
i. The County will set benchmarks for translation of vital documents into additional 

languages. (please ensure to keep records of those documents that apply to your 
agency) 

ii. When translation of vital documents is needed, the County will submit documents for 
translation into frequently-encountered languages. 

iii. Facilities will provide translation of other written materials, if needed, as well as 
written notice of the availability of translation, free of charge, for LEP individuals. 
 

4. PROVIDING NOTICE TO LEP PERSONS 

The County will inform LEP persons of the availability of language assistance, free of charge, by 
providing written notice in languages LEP persons will understand. Example: the notification 
will include, in the primary language of the applicant/recipient, the following language: 
IMPORTANT: IF YOU NEED HELEP IN READING THIS, ASK THE AGENCY FOR AN 
INTERPRETER TO HELEP, AN INTERPRETER IS AVAILABLE FREE OF CHARGE. 

All interpreters, translators and other aides needed to comply with this policy shall be provided 
without cost to the person being served, and individuals and their families will be informed of 
the availability of such assistance free of charge.  

At a minimum, notices and signs will be posted and provided in intake areas and other points of 
entry, including but not limited to the main lobbies, waiting rooms, etc. 

These signs will be posted in the library, the Police Department, and the County Administration 
Building, all of which are highly visible to the public.  

Notification will also be provided through one or more of the following: outreach documents, 
telephone voicemail menus, local newspapers, and/or community-based organizations. 

5. MONITORING LANGUAGE NEEDS AND IMPLEMENTATION 

On an ongoing basis, the County will assess changes in demographics, types of services or other 
needs that may require reevaluation of this policy and its procedures. In addition, the County will 



regularly assess the efficacy of these procedures, including but not limited to mechanisms for 
securing interpreter services, complaints filed by LEP persons, feedback from residents and 
community organizations, etc. 

I. Compliance Procedures, Reporting And Monitoring 
 
A. Reporting 

The agency will complete an annual compliance report and send this report to CI. (Format will 
be supplied by CI.) 

 
B. Monitoring  

The agency will complete a self-monitoring report on a quarterly basis, using a standardized 
reporting system proposed by the local government. These reports will be maintained and stored 
by the Title VI compliance officer and will be maintained by the CI upon request. 

 

The agency will cooperate, when requested, with special review by the CI. 

 
II. Applicant/Recipient Complaints of Discriminatory Treatment 

 
A. Complaints 

The agency will provide assistance to LEP individuals who do not speak or write in English if 
they indicate that they would like to file a complaint a complaint will be filed in writing, contain 
the name and address of the person filing it or his slash her designee and briefly describe the 
alleged violation of this policy. The form can be found at 
http://www.nccommerce.com/cd/community-investment/forms-resources/compliance-plans-and-
templates. 

The agency will maintain records of any complaints filed, the date of filing, actions taken and 
resolution.  

The agent will notify the appropriate section within CI of complaints filed, the date of filing, 
actions taken and resolution. This information will be provided within 30 days of resolution. 

B. Resolution of Matter 

If the matter cannot be resolved by informal means, the individual be informed of his or her right 
to appeal further to CI.  This notice will be provided in the primary language of the individual 
with limited English proficiency. The CI compliance office will conduct an investigation of the 
allegations of the complaint. The investigation will afford all interested persons and their 
representatives, if any, an opportunity to submit evidence relevant to the complaint. The 
investigation will not exceed 30 days, absent a 15-day extension for extenuating circumstances.  

http://www.nccommerce.com/cd/community-investment/forms-resources/compliance-plans-and-templates
http://www.nccommerce.com/cd/community-investment/forms-resources/compliance-plans-and-templates


If the investigation indicates a failure to comply with the act, the local unit of government, 
agency director or his hard designee will so inform the recipient and the matter will be resolved 
by informal means whenever possible within 60 days.  

If the matter cannot be resolved by informal means, then the individual will be informed of his or 
her right to appeal further to the Department of Justice. This notice will be provided in the 
primary language of the individual with limited English proficiency. If not resolved by CI, then 
complaint will be forwarded to Department of Justice (DOJ), Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD) field office 

 
ADOPTED this ___ day of _______2024. 

       
       
                                                  
__________________________________________ 

Ann C. Keyes, Chair 
           Washington County Board of Commissioners 
 
 
ATTEST: ________________________________ 

Julie J. Bennett, MMC, NCMCC 
Clerk to the Board 

 

 



 

 

 
ROY COOPER • Governor 

KODY H. KINSLEY • Secretary 

CARLA WEST • Division Director, Human Services 

 
 

  

NC DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVSERVICES •VISION OF SOCIAL SERVICES 

LOCATION: 820 S. Boylan Avenue, McBryde Building, Raleigh, NC 27603 
MAILING ADDRESS: 2401 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, NC 27699-2401 

www.ncdhhs.gov • TEL: 919-527-6335 • FAX: 919-334-1018 

AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY / AFFIRMATIVE ACTION EMPLOYER 

April 22, 2024 
 

Dear County Manager and County Director of Social Services: 
 
Session Law 2017-41 requires all counties to enter into an annual written agreement, referred 
to as a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), with the North Carolina Department of Health 
and Human Services (NCDHHS) for all social services programs excluding medical assistance 
(Medicaid). State Fiscal Year (SFY) 2018-2019 was the first year of these agreements. 
 
Since March 2020 COVID-19 has had an impact on our daily business. In 2020 the leadership 
in NCDHHS made the decision to not issue formal corrective actions relating to MOU 
performance for SFY 2019-2020. We know that the focus of all work was to provide services 
to the families of North Carolina, and you continued to commit to meeting the needs in your 
communities, because of that NCDHHS chose to not issue a new MOU for SFY 2020-2021 
but continued to work with counties to improve performance and meet or exceed the 
standards that were outlined. A MOU was issued with an effective date of January 1, 2021, 
through June 30, 2022, and June 30,2022 through June 30, 2024. In an effort to allow each 
county to remain focused on providing the best possible services to the families in North 
Carolina, NCDHHS again chose not to issue formal corrective actions relating to MOU 
performance for the period of January 1, 2021, through June 30, 2024. The MOU effective 
January 1, 2021, also formalized the ongoing criteria for implementing a pause in issuing 
Corrective or Development Plans that NCDHHS would follow.  

 
This letter provides an overview of the MOU process for SFY 2024-2025 and SFY 2025-2026.   
 
The Department worked jointly with the NC Association of County Directors of Social Services 
to vet all measures prior to the finalization for the upcoming MOU, which remains the same as 
the most recent MOU. Attached you will find the MOU with an effective date of July 1, 2024, 
through June 30, 2026. The measures for the SFY 2024-2025 and SFY 2025-2026 MOU can 
be found in Attachment I entitled Mandated Performance Requirements. These are the only 
measures that will be evaluated as part of the MOU for SFY 2024-2025 and SFY 2025-
2026 and are subject to performance improvement actions. 
 



  

 2 

Attachment Il includes information concerning the upcoming Child and Family Services 
Review Round IV and the measures that will be reviewed by the Administration for Children 
and Families (ACF) and will not be included in any corrective action. Ongoing monitoring 
and support activities will continue as they have in prior years for these measures. We will 
continue to develop reports and validate data for these remaining performance measures. As 
always, we will work with the NC Association of County Directors of Social Services and 
counties to assist with the data validation process.   
 
The goal of this work is not intended in any way to be punitive. NCDHHS will work collaboratively 
with counties that are having difficulty consistently meeting the measures and provide support 
using a Continuous Quality Improvement framework.   
 
COVID-19 changed our world and had a tremendous impact on the work of human services. 
We recognize that you experienced significant increases in requests for the safety net 
services you provide. We also recognize that through Medicaid unwinding, Medicaid 
Expansion, Tailored Plans, and workforce shortages, there continues to be barriers that are 
difficult to overcome in meeting the performance measures outlined in the SFY 2024-2025 
and SFY 2025-2026 MOU.  
 
Based on the conditions established in 2019, NCDHHS has determined that the barriers 
that counties are currently facing meet the criteria for a pause in issuing corrective or 
development plans. This pause will give counties time to establish procedures to meet 
the barriers outlined in the previous paragraph. The pause will be reevaluated in 
December of 2024. In the future, NCDHHS will consider a pause on issuing a corrective 
action or development plan on a county-by-county basis if there are barriers outside the 
control of the county that has a significant impact on the counties ability to meet their 
performance requirements (i.e., a significant hurricane, tornado, etc.). While we will continue 
to monitor performance and share data with you and provide your team support, if the pause 
is in place there will be no formal performance improvement or corrective actions taken 
related to MOU performance. We will also hold off publishing the Rylan’s Law Dashboard to 
the public at this time. 
 
Several items are included with this letter for your review and information: 

• Memorandum of Understanding for SFY 2024-2025 – SFY 2025-2026 
• Addendum A – Data Sharing Memorandum of Agreement 
• Attachment I - MOU Performance Measures At-A-Glance 
• Attachment II - Child Welfare Performance Measures At-A-Glance 
• Fact Sheets for each program area that provide information on the measures 

 



  

 3 

Please take the steps below and return signed agreements to Carla West 
(carla.west@dhhs.nc.gov) and Danielle Upchurch (Danielle.upchurch@dhhs.nc.gov) 
no later than June 30, 2022. 
 

1. On page 6 please add the name and contact person to whom information and notices regarding 
this agreement should be sent. 
 

2. On page 10 submit this document for signature to the person who the county designates as the 
signature authority. In case the county elects to have the document co-signed by county 
leadership and the Department of Social Services director, two spaces for signatures have been 
provided. 

 
3. On page 9 of Addendum A: Data Sharing Agreement please add the name and contact person 

who will be designated as the point of contact for data sharing/security. 
 

4. Once we receive your returned, signed copy of the MOU it will be submitted to Secretary Kody 
Kinsley for signature and a signed copy will be returned for your records. 
 

Please note that any signing statement, resolution or other documentation that a County may return 
to NCDHHS along with a signed MOU will be deemed separate from the MOU and not incorporated 
as a part of the MOU. If any documentation is physically affixed to the signed MOU, NCDHHS may 
return the MOU to be signed without any affixed documentation. NCDHHS will review and retain any 
submissions received from a County and follow up with a County as needed. 
 
Thank you for your ongoing partnership with us in serving North Carolina's citizens with critical 
services. Please feel free to contact me directly if you have any questions or need any additional 
information. 
 
Sincerely, 

 

 
 

Carla West 
Division Director, Human Services 
Child Support, Economic Services, Aging and Operations 

mailto:carla.west@dhhs.nc.gov
mailto:Danielle.upchurch@dhhs.nc.gov


Page 1 of 21 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  

(FISCAL YEAR 2024-25 and 2025-26)  

BETWEEN 

THE NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES 
AND 

___________________________________ COUNTY 
 

A Written Agreement Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 108A-74,  
an Act of the North Carolina General Assembly 

 
This Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) is made by and between the North Carolina 
Department of Health and Human Services, (hereinafter referred to as the “Department”) and 
__________________________________ County a political subdivision of the State of North 
Carolina (hereinafter referred to as the “County”) to comply with the requirements of law, N.C. 
Gen. Stat. § 108A-74.  The Department and the County may be referred to herein individually as 
a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.”  
 

TERMS OF UNDERSTANDING 
 
In consideration of the mutual promises and agreements contained herein, as well as other good 
and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged by the Parties, the 
Parties agree to this MOU, effective July 1, 2024, in compliance with the mandates of law enacted 
by the North Carolina General Assembly and in recognition of possible amendments by the 
General Assembly, the Parties further agree to conform to changes made to the law, 
notwithstanding a contractual term previously agreed upon.  
 

1.0 Parties to the MOU 
 
The only Parties to this MOU are the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services 
and __________________________________ County, a political subdivision of the State of 
North Carolina.   
 
        1.1 Relationships of the Parties 
 
Nothing contained herein shall in any way alter or change the relationship of the parties Parties as 
defined under the laws of North Carolina. It is expressly understood and agreed that the 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this MOU, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Department and the County. Nothing contained in 
this document shall give or allow any claim or right of action whatsoever by any other third person. 
It is the express intention of the Department and County that any such person or entity, other than 
the Department or the County, receiving services or benefits under this MOU shall be deemed an 
incidental beneficiary only. 
 
Subcontracting: The County shall be responsible for the performance of all of its subcontractors. 
The County shall disclose the names of its subcontractors to the Department within thirty (30) days 
of the execution thereof. The County shall also provide additional information concerning its 
subcontractors as may be requested by the Department within thirty (30) days of the request. The 



Page 2 of 21 
 

County additionally agrees not to enter into any confidentiality agreement or provision with a 
subcontractor or other agent to provide services related to this MOU that would prevent or frustrate 
the disclosure of information to the Department. Subcontractors shall be defined under this MOU 
to mean any party the County enters into a contractual relationship with for the complete 
administration of one or more social services programs covered by this MOU. Temporary 
employees hired by the County shall not be considered subcontractors under this MOU. 
 
Assignment: No assignment of the County's obligations or the County's right to receive any 
funding made in any way concerning the matters covered by this MOU hereunder shall be 
permitted.  
 

2.0 Terms of the MOU 
 
The term of this MOU shall be for a period of two years beginning July 1, 2024 and ending  
June 30, 2026.  
 
        2.1 Default and Modification 
 
Default: In the event the County fails to satisfy the mandated performance requirements as set 
forth in Attachment I or fails to otherwise comply with the terms of this MOU, the Department 
may withhold State and/or federal funding.  Any such withholding shall be in compliance with, 
and as allowed by, state and/or federal law.  
 
Performance Improvement: Prior to the Department exercising its authority to withhold State 
and/or federal funding for a failure to satisfy the mandated performance requirements set forth in 
Attachment I or failure to meet the terms of this MOU, the process for performance improvement 
set forth in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 108A-74 will govern. Nothing contained in this MOU shall supersede 
or limit the Secretary’s authority to take any action otherwise set forth in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 108A-74. 

Waiver of Default: Waiver by the Department of any default or breach in compliance with the 
terms of this MOU by the County shall not be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default or breach 
and shall not be construed to be modification of the terms of this MOU unless stated to be such in 
writing, signed by an authorized representative of the Department and the County and attached to 
the MOU. 
 
Force Majeure: Neither Party shall be deemed to be in default of its obligations hereunder if and 
so long as it is prevented from performing such obligations by any act of war, hostile foreign 
action, nuclear explosion, riot, strikes, civil insurrection, earthquake, hurricane, tornado, public 
health emergency or other catastrophic natural event or act of God. 
 
Modification: The terms and conditions of this MOU may only be modified by written agreement 
of the Parties, signed by an authorized representative of the Parties. 
 
  



Page 3 of 21 
 

3.0 MOU Documents 
 
The Recitals and the following attachments are incorporated herein by reference and are part of 
this MOU: 

(1) The portions hereof preceding the Terms of Understanding, including but not limited to the 
introductory paragraph and the Recitals, which are contractual as well as explanatory. 

(2) The Terms of Understanding 
(3) Addendum A – Data Sharing Memorandum of Agreement  
(4) Attachment I – Mandated Performance Requirements:  

a. I-A: Energy Programs 
b. I-B: Work First  
c. I-C: Food and Nutrition Services 
d. I-D: Child Welfare – Foster Care 
e. I-E: Adult Protective Services 
f. I-F: Special Assistance 
g. I-G: Child Support Services 

(5) Attachment II - Child Welfare - CFSR 
 

4.0 Entire MOU 
 
This MOU and any documents incorporated specifically by reference represent the entire 
agreement between the Parties and supersede all prior oral or written statements or agreements 
between the Parties.  
  

5.0 Definitions 
 
While “County” is used as an abbreviation above, the following definitions, some of which are 
contained in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 108A-74(a), also apply to this MOU: 

(1) "County department of social services" also means the consolidated human services 
agency, whichever applies. 

(2) "County director of social services" also means the human services director, whichever 
applies. 

(3) "County board of social services" also means the consolidated human services board, 
whichever applies. 

(4) "Child welfare services or program" means protective, foster care, and adoption 
services related to juveniles alleged to be abused, neglected, or dependent as required 
by Chapter 7B of the General Statutes. 

(5) "Social services programs” or “Social services programs other than medical assistance" 
means social services and public assistance programs established in Chapter 108A 
other than the medical assistance program (Part 6 of Article 2 of Chapter 108A).  This 
includes, but is not limited to, child welfare programs, adult protective services, 
guardianship services for adults, and programs of public assistance established in 
Chapter 108A. It also includes the child support enforcement program, as established 
in Article 9 of Chapter 110 of the General Statutes, and the North Carolina Subsidized 
Child Care Program. 

 
To the extent that any term used herein is defined by a statute or rule applicable to the subject 
matter of this MOU, the statutory or rule definition shall control. For all remaining terms, which 



Page 4 of 21 
 

are not defined by statute or rule, those terms shall have their ordinary meaning.  Should any further 
definition be needed, the Parties agree that the meanings shall be those contained in the current 
version (as of the time the dispute or question arises) of Black’s Law Dictionary, and if not defined 
therein, then of a published unabridged modern American English Language Dictionary published 
since the year 2000. 
 

6.0 Audit Requirements 
 
The County shall furnish to the State Auditor, upon his/her request, all books, records, and other 
information that the State Auditor needs to fully account for the use and expenditure of state funds 
in accordance with N.C.G.S. § 147-64.7.  Additionally, as the State funding authority, the 
Department of Health and Human Services shall have access to persons and records as a result of 
all contracts or grants entered into by State agencies or political subdivisions. 
 

7.0 Record Retention 
 
The County shall retain records at its own expense in accordance with applicable State and Federal 
laws, rules, and regulations.  The County shall facilitate and monitor the compliance of its 
subcontractors with all applicable requirements of record retention and disposition. 
 
In order to protect documents and public records that may be the subject of Department litigation, the 
Department shall notify the County of the need to place a litigation hold on those documents. The 
Department will also notify the County of the release of the litigation hold. If there is no litigation hold 
in place, the documents may be destroyed, disposed of, or otherwise purged through the biannual 
Records Retention and Disposition Memorandum from the Department’s Controller’s Office.  
 

8.0  Liabilities and Legal Obligations 
 
Each party hereto agrees to be responsible for its own liabilities and that of its officers, employees, 
agents or representatives arising out of this MOU. Nothing contained herein is intended to alter or 
change the relationship of the Parties as defined under the laws of the State of North Carolina.   
 

9.0 Confidentiality 
 
Any medical records, personnel information or other items exempt from the NC Public Records 
Act or otherwise protected by law from disclosure given to the Department or to the County under 
this MOU shall be kept confidential and not divulged or made available to any individual or 
organization except as otherwise provided by law.  The Parties shall comply with all applicable 
confidentiality laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Health Insurance Portability 
and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), the administrative simplification rules codified at 45 
Parts 160, 162, and 164, alcohol and drug abuse patient records laws codified at 42 U.S.C. §290dd-
2 and 42 CFR Part 2, and the Health Information Technology for Economics and Clinical Health 
Act (HITECH Act) adopted as part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 
(Public Law 111-5). 
 
 
 



Page 5 of 21 
 

10.0  Secretary’s Authority Undiminished  
 
Certain functions delegated to the County pursuant to this MOU are the duty and responsibility of 
the Department as the grantee of federal grant funds. The Parties understand and agree that nothing 
in this MOU shall be construed to diminish, lessen, limit, share, or divide the authority of the 
Secretary of the Department to perform any of the duties assigned to the Department or its 
Secretary by the North Carolina General Statutes, the terms and conditions of the federal funds 
and their applicable laws and regulations or other federal laws and regulations regarding any 
federal funding which is used by the Department to reimburse the County for any of its duties 
under this MOU. 
 

11.0  MOU does not Diminish Other Legal Obligations 
 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein and to facilitate the mandated 
performance requirements of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 108A-74, the Parties acknowledge and agree that 
this MOU is not intended to supersede or limit, and shall not supersede or limit, the County’s 
obligations to comply with all applicable: 1) federal and state laws; 2) federal and state rules; and 
3) policies, standards, and directions of the Department, as all such currently exist and may be 
amended, enacted, or established hereafter.   
 

12.0  Notice 
 
The persons named below shall be the persons to whom notices provided for in this MOU shall be 
given.  Either Party may change the person to whom notice shall be given upon written notice to 
the other Party. Any notice required under this MOU will only be effective if actually delivered to 
the Parties named below. Delivery by hand, by first class mail, or by email are authorized methods 
to send notices. 
 
For the Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Social Services 
 
IF DELIVERED BY US POSTAL SERVICE IF DELIVERED BY ANY OTHER MEANS 
  
Carla West, Division Director, Human Services 
NCDHHS 
2417 Mail Services Center  
Raleigh, NC 27699-2001 
 

Carla West 
NCDHHS  
Dorethea Dix Campus, McBryde Building 
Phone: 919-855-4755 
E-mail: carla.west@dhhs.nc.gov 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 6 of 21 
 

For __________________________________ County: 
 

IF DELIVERED BY US POSTAL SERVICE IF DELIVERED BY ANY OTHER MEANS 
  
  
  
  
  
  

 
13.0  Responsibilities of the Department 

 
The Department hereby agrees that its responsibilities under this MOU are as follows: 

(1) The Department shall develop performance requirements for each social services 
program based upon standardized metrics utilizing reliable data. The performance 
requirements are identified in Attachments I and II.   

(2) The Department shall provide supervision, program monitoring and technical assistance to 
the counties in the administration of social services programs. 

(3) The Department shall provide leadership and coordination for developing strategies that 
address system-level barriers to the effective delivery of social services programs, 
including but not limited to: the Administrative Office of Courts, the LME/MCO, 
Department of Public Instruction, and the Department of Public Safety. 

(4) The Department shall have the following administrative responsibilities:   
a. Staff Training and Workforce Development: 

i. Develop training requirements for county personnel and provide guidance 
for adequate staffing patterns related to the provision of social services 
programs. The Department will publish annually, a list of required and 
recommended trainings for county personnel directly involved in the 
administration of social services programs covered under this MOU. 

ii. Develop training curricula and provide, timely, adequate access to statewide 
training opportunities for county personnel related to the provision of social 
services programs. Training opportunities may include in-person, self-
guided, web-based and remotely facilitated programs.  

iii. The Department will publish a training calendar, at least quarterly, notifying 
the counties of training opportunities.   

iv. Provide timely written guidance related to new federal or state statutes or 
regulations. The Department will provide information thirty days in 
advance of the effective date of new policy to the extent feasible or 
practicable, including interpretations and clarifications of existing policy.   

v. Provide technical assistance and training in areas where quality control, 
monitoring or data indicates a lack of correct application of law, rule or policy.    

b. Performance Monitoring:  
i. Monitor and evaluate county compliance with applicable federal and state 

laws, rules and policies. 
ii. Provide feedback to counties with recommended changes when necessary.  

iii. Monitor that all financial resources related to the provision of social services 
programs covered by this MOU are utilized by the county in compliance 
with applicable federal and state laws. 



Page 7 of 21 
 

c. Data Submission: 
i. Maintain and review data submitted by counties pursuant to the mandatory 

performance requirements. 
ii. Provide counties with reliable data related to their performance 

requirements as well as accuracy and timeliness of programs in accordance 
with state and federal program guidelines.  This includes but is not limited 
to processing applications and recertification, quality control standards, 
program statistics and fiscal information. 

iii. The Department shall be responsible for the maintenance and functionality 
of its information systems utilized in the statewide administration of social 
services programs covered by this MOU.  

d. Communication: 
i. Provide counties with clarification or explanation of law, rule or policy 

governing social services programs when necessary or as requested.  
ii. Disseminate policy on social services programs and provide counties with 

timely information on any updates to policy.  
iii. Provide timely information to counties on any changes to federal law or 

policy made known to the Department.  
iv. Provide counties with a timely response to requests for technical assistance 

or guidance.  
v. Maintain all policies covering social services programs in a central, 

accessible location. Policies will be updated, to the extent possible, in 
advance of the effective date of any new policies or policy changes. 

vi. Provide counties with an opportunity to submit questions, concerns and 
feedback related to the administration of social services programs to the 
Department and provide County a timely response to such communication.  

vii. Communicate proactively with the County Director of Social Services on 
matters that affect social services programs covered under this MOU. 
Communication shall be timely, and alerts sent to counties to let them know 
of the upcoming changes. 

viii. Communicate directly with the County Manager, Governing Boards, and 
the County Director of Social Services on matters including but not limited 
to, corrective action, and significant changes to law, rule and policy that 
impact the administration of social services programs covered by this MOU.   

e. Inter-agency Coordination: 
i. Provide guidance to counties in the event they are unable to reach a 

resolution on a conflict of interest that arises related to the provision of 
social services programs covered by this MOU.  

ii. Provide guidance for county DSS personnel on federal and state 
Emergency Management, mass shelter, Business Continuity Plan (BCP) 
and Continuity of Operations Plan (COOP) requirements. 

iii. Coordinate with and communicate to county DSS agencies regarding 
available and required training opportunities associated with DSS Mass 
Shelter, BCP and COOP responsibilities. 

iv. Assist and support counties as needed in implementation of operational 
functions of mass shelter operations and as needed during other 
emergencies as they arise. 



Page 8 of 21 
 

(5) The Department shall timely meet all of its responsibilities contained in this MOU. 
“Timely” shall be defined consistent with timeliness requirements set forth in relevant 
statute, regulation, and policy. Where timeliness is not otherwise defined, “timely” shall 
mean within a reasonable time under the circumstances.  

 
14.0  Responsibilities of the County  

 
The County hereby agrees that its responsibilities under this MOU are as follows:   

(1) The County shall adhere to the mandated performance requirements for each social 
services program as identified in Attachment I. The County will ultimately work toward 
achievement of the Standard Measure for all performance requirements set forth in 
Attachments I and II.  

(2) The County shall comply with the following administrative responsibilities:  
a. Staff Requirements and Workforce Development: 

i. The personnel, including new hires and existing staff, involved in the 
County’s provision of social services programs covered by this MOU shall 
complete all required and necessary training, which is documented as 
required by federal and state law and policy.  

b. Compliance: 
i. Perform activities related to its social services programs in compliance with 

all applicable federal and State laws, rules, regulations and policies. 
Nothing contained herein is intended to, nor has the effect of superseding 
or replacing state law, rules or policy related to social services programs.   

ii. Develop and implement internal controls over financial resources related to 
the County’s social services programs to ensure that all financial resources 
are used in compliance with applicable federal and state laws. 

iii. Provide and adhere to corrective action plans as required based on 
monitoring findings and the Single Audit.   

c. Data Submission: 
i. Maintain accurate, thorough records of all social services programs covered 

by this MOU, in particular, records related to the mandated performance 
requirements that can be accessed for the purpose of data collection, service 
provision, monitoring or consultation. 

ii. Ensure reliable data entry into state systems utilized for the administration 
of social services programs covered under this MOU. 

iii. Provide, upon request, data to the state for the purpose of, but not limited to, 
conducting monitoring, case file reviews, error analysis and quality control. 

iv. Utilize data to understand the performance of their county and to conduct 
analysis and implement changes where needed if performance measures are 
not being met.   

d. Communication: 
i. Respond and provide related action in a timely manner to all 

communications received from the Department. 
ii. Provide timely information on all matters that have a potential negative 

impact on the social services programs they administer, including but not 
limited to, litigation risks (not including child welfare cases governed by 
Chapter 7B or adult services cases governed by Chapter 35A or 108A), 
network and computer issues, or data breaches.  



Page 9 of 21 
 

iii. Provide timely information regarding temporary or permanent changes to 
the Social Services Governing Board.  or the County Social Services 
Director, including retirements, separations, or any leaves of absence 
greater than two calendar weeks.   

e. Inter-agency Cooperation: 
i. Ensure that county social services personnel complete required training 

and are prepared to engage in Disaster Management, mass shelter, BCP 
and COOP operations.  

ii. Ensure that all plans and systems are in place to meet potential disaster 
(natural, technical, otherwise) response requirements. 

iii. Engage with DHHS, state Emergency Management and local leadership in 
associated efforts. 

iv. Assist or operate mass shelter operations or other required disaster 
management responsibilities. 

(3) The County shall timely meet all its responsibilities contained in this MOU. “Timely” shall 
be defined consistent with timeliness requirements set forth in relevant statute, regulation, 
policy or as otherwise required by the Department. If timeliness is not otherwise defined, 
“timely” shall mean within a reasonable time under the circumstances.  

 
15.0  Data Security and Reporting 

 
Data Security: The County shall adopt and apply data privacy and security requirements to comply 
with all applicable federal, state, department and local laws, regulations, and rules.  The Parties hereby 
adopt and incorporate the terms of the Data Sharing Agreement attached as Addendum A as if fully 
set forth herein.  
 
Duty to Report: The County shall report all privacy and security incidents related to the provision 
of social services programs covered by the MOU to the Department and the Privacy and Security 
Office within twenty-four (24) hours after the privacy and security incident is first discovered, 
provided that the County shall report a breach involving Social Security Administration data or 
Internal Revenue Service data within one (1) hour after the incident is first discovered. During the 
performance of this MOU, the County is to notify the Department of any contact by the federal 
Office for Civil Rights (OCR) received by the County related to the provision of social services 
programs covered by the MOU. In case of a privacy and security incident, the County, including 
any subcontractors or agents it retains, shall fully cooperate with the Department. 
 

16.0  Miscellaneous 
 
Choice of Law: The validity of this MOU and any of its terms or provisions, as well as the rights 
and duties of the Parties to this MOU, are governed by the laws of North Carolina. The Parties, by 
signing this MOU, agree and submit, solely for matters concerning this MOU, to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts of North Carolina and agrees, solely for such purpose, that the exclusive 
venue for any legal proceedings shall be Wake County, North Carolina. The place of this MOU 
and all transactions and agreements relating to it, and their situs and forum, shall be Wake County, 
North Carolina, where all matters, whether sounding in contract or tort, relating to the validity, 
construction, interpretation, and enforcement shall be determined. 
 



Page 10 of 21 
 

Amendment: This MOU may not be amended orally or by performance. Any amendment must 
be made in written form and executed by duly authorized representatives of the Department and 
the County. The Parties agree to obtain any necessary approvals, if any, for any amendment prior 
to such amendment becoming effective. Also, the Parties agree that legislative changes to state 
law shall amend this MOU by operation of law to the extent affected thereby.   
 
Effective Date: This MOU shall become effective July 1, 2024 and shall continue in effect until 
June 30, 2026.  
 
Signature Warranty: Each individual signing below warrants that he or she is duly authorized 
by the party to sign this MOU and to bind the party to the terms and conditions of this MOU. 
 
County 
 
 
BY: _______________________________    
                                 Name 
 
TITLE: _____________________________ 
 
DATE:  _____________________________ 

 
 
 
BY: _______________________________    
                                 Name 
 
TITLE: _____________________________ 
 
DATE:  _____________________________ 

 
 
 
North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services 
 
 
 
BY: ______________________________________ 
                 Secretary, Department of Health and Human Services 
 
DATE: _____________________________________ 
 
  



Page 11 of 21 

ADDENDUM A: DATA SHARING MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

Between 

North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services 

And 

__________________________________ County 

This Data Sharing Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) between the North Carolina Department 
of Health and Human Services (NC DHHS or Agency) and 
__________________________________ County (County) (and collectively with Agency 
referred to as the Parties) establishes the agreement between the Parties regarding the County’s 
access to, and use and disclosure of, all confidential data and information provided by the Agency 
to the County, for purposes of administering North Carolina’s public assistance and public service 
programs. 

1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE

The purpose of this MOA is to identify certain roles and responsibilities of each party as it relates 
to the sharing and use of all confidential data and information provided by the Agency to the 
County in connection with the administration of North Carolina’s public assistance programs as 
well as the County’s administration and performance of other public services delegated to it by 
law (collectively referred to as NCDHHS Data). For purposes of this MOA, NCDHHS Data, 
includes, but is not limited to: 

a. Social Security Administration (SSA) data;
b. Federal Tax Information (FTI) as defined in the current IRS Publication 1075, Tax

Information Security Guidelines for Federal, State and Local Agencies (IRS Publication
1075);

c. protected health information as defined by 45 CFR 160.103;
d. personal information, as defined by the North Carolina Identity Theft Protect Act,

N.C.G.S. § 75-61(10);
e. identifying information, as defined by N.C.G.S. § 14-113.20(b); and
f. names or other information concerning persons applying for or receiving public assistance

or social services which are confidential pursuant to N.C.G.S. §108A- 80.

More specifically, the objectives of this MOA are to: 

• Manage the information technology process and systems pertaining to the NCDHHS Data
provided by the Agency to the County, and received by the County from the Agency, to
ensure compliance with all applicable federal and state laws, regulations, standards and
policies regarding the confidentiality, privacy and security of this NCDHHS Data.



Page 12 of 21 

• Enhance the County’s secure receipt, access to, and use of NCDHHS Data provided by the
Agency to the County.

• Allow the County to access and utilize NCDHHS Data provided by the Agency for
purposes of administering North Carolina’s public assistance and public service programs.

2. BACKGROUND

The Agency administers and oversees a variety of public assistance and public service programs 
for the State of North Carolina (collectively, Public Assistance Programs), including, but not 
limited to, the following: 

• NC Medicaid Program
• NC Health Choice for Children (North Carolina’s CHIP Program)
• Temporary Assistance for Needy Families
• Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program
• NC Food and Nutrition Services (North Carolina’s SNAP Program)
• Work First (North Carolina’s Temporary Assistance for Needy Families program)
• Women, Infants and Children (WIC)
• Adult and Family Services
• Child Support Services
• Child Welfare Services

As part of its role pertaining to these Public Assistance Programs, the Agency receives, maintains, 
and stores certain data pertaining to applicants for, and recipients participating in, the Public 
Assistance Programs, which includes NCDHHS Data. 

The County administers the daily operations of many of the Public Assistance Programs at the 
local level, in accordance with State and Federal law, and policies and rules adopted by the Agency. 
As part of its role pertaining to these Public Assistance Programs, the County accesses and utilizes 
certain data pertaining to applicants for, or recipients participating in, the Public Assistance 
Programs, which includes NCDHHS Data. 

The Agency and the County agree to work cooperatively to ensure that NCDHHS Data is available 
to the County for purposes of administering North Carolina’s Public Assistance Programs, and that 
the County accesses and utilizes NCDHHS Data in accordance with applicable federal and state 
laws, regulations, standards and policies governing confidentiality, privacy and security of the 
NCDHHS Data and the terms of this MOA. The parties acknowledge and agree that this MOA is 
intended to continue and renew and prior similar memorandum of agreement in place between the 
Parties which was effective on or about October 14, 2016. 



Page 13 of 21 

3. AUTHORITY OF PARTIES

Each Party is an agency of the State of North Carolina and operating pursuant to its respective 
statutory authority and obligations. This MOA is authorized under the provisions of N.C.G.S. §§ 
108A-25, 108A-54, and 153A-11 and Article 13 of Chapter 153A of the North Carolina General 
Statutes, and the implementing recommendations or regulations of these laws, if any. For the 
convenience of the Parties and avoidance of doubt, the Parties acknowledge and agree that NC 
DHHS is the “Agency” as such term is used in IRS Publication 1075, and that the County is a 
statutory agent but not a “contractor” or “agent” as such term is used in North Carolina statutory 
or common law. The Agency acknowledges it is authorized to receive and use FTI pursuant to 26 
U.S.C. 
§ 6103.

4. PARTIES’ ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Pursuant and subject to this MOA, the Agency shall provide to the County NCDHHS Data 
pertaining to the Public Assistance Programs, through access to the Agency’s information 
technology systems utilized in conjunction with the Public Assistance Programs. These 
information technology systems include, but are not limited to, the Agency’s current NC FAST 
case management system (NC FAST), and the legacy information systems which preceded NC 
FAST (collectively, NCDHHS Information Systems). The NCDHHS Information Systems are 
secured via Agency access control mechanisms and related procedures, including, but not limited 
to, Resource Access Control Facility (RACF), North Carolina Identification (NCID), and Web 
Identity Role Management Portal (WIRM) (collectively, NCDHHS Access Controls). 

All NCDHHS Data that the Agency provides to the County shall remain confidential and secure 
at all times. Confidentiality and security of this NCDHHS Data will be maintained by the County 
in accordance with all applicable federal and state laws, regulations, standards and policies 
governing this NCDHHS Data and in accordance with the terms of this MOA. Only appropriately 
authorized County employees and contractors whose job responsibilities require access to the 
NCDHHS Data will be granted access to the NCDHHS Data, through the NCDHHS Information 
Systems and NCDHHS Access Controls. Any data, records or other information shared through 
this MOA are protected from unauthorized use and disclosure and shall be accessed and used by 
the County solely for purposes of administering and operating the Public Assistance Programs. 

NCDHHS agrees: 

a. To provide NCDHHS Data to the County through access to the NCDHHS Information
Systems in strict accordance with the NCDHHS Access Controls and in accordance
with the terms of this MOA.

b. To allow the County to access and utilize the NCDHHS Data to administer and operate
the Public Assistance Programs.



Page 14 of 21 

c. To allow appropriately authorized County employees and contractors whose job
responsibilities require access to the NCDHHS Data to access and utilize the NCDHHS
Data through access to the NCDHHS Information Systems, to the extent needed to
perform their job responsibilities.

d. To work cooperatively with the County regarding County employee and contractor
access to NCDHHS Data and NCDHHS Information Systems, and compliance with
this MOA and applicable law.

e. To be responsible for supervision of its own employees and contractors.

The County agrees: 

a. To grant access to NCDHHS Data through access to the NCDHHS Information Systems
only to County employees and contractors authorized in strict accordance with the
NCDHHS Access Controls and in accordance with the terms of this MOA. The County
shall conduct background checks for individual employees prior to authorizing their
access to FTI.

b. To ensure the NCDHHS Data and NCDHHS Information Systems are accessed and
utilized only for the purposes authorized by law and under this MOA in conjunction
with the administration and operation of the Public Assistance Programs.

c. To grant access to the NCDHHS Data only to appropriately authorized County
employees and contractors whose job responsibilities require access to the NCDHHS
Data, and only for purposes of administering and operating the Public Assistance
Programs.

d. To ensure NCDHHS data is available only to persons authorized by law and this MOA
to access and use the NCDHHS Data.

e. To ensure NCDHHS Information Systems are accessed only by persons authorized by
law and this MOA to access the NCDHHS Information Systems.

f. To obtain prior written permission from NCDHHS for the disclosure of any NCDHHS
Data to any contractor. If NCDHHS approves disclosure of any NCDHHS Data to a
County contractor, the County shall ensure the contractor is provided a copy of this
MOA and signs a written agreement with the County acknowledging receipt of a copy
of this MOA and agreeing to comply with the terms of this MOA as it relates to the
contractor’s access to NCDHHS Data.

g. To obtain prior written permission from NCDHHS for granting access to any of the
NCDHHS Information Systems to any contractor. If NCDHHS approves access of a
contractor to any NCDHHS Information System, the County shall ensure the
contractor is provided a copy of this MOA and signs a written agreement with the



Page 15 of 21 

County acknowledging receipt of a copy of this MOA and agreeing to comply with the terms 
of this MOA as it relates to the contractor’s access to NCDHHS Information Systems. 

h. To ensure that all information technology systems receiving, storing, processing, or
transmitting FTI meet the requirements in IRS Publication 1075, including the
requirements set forth in Exhibit 7 to IRS Publication 1075, a copy of which is available
at: https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/p1075.pdf.

i. To maintain a current list of employees and contractors authorized to access and utilize
the NCDHHS Data provided by the Agency pursuant to this MOA, and to provide the
Agency a copy of that list upon written request by the Agency.

j. To submit, when requested by the Agency, a written certification that continuous
security monitoring has been performed in accordance with applicable requirements.
Additionally, the County will submit a written certification that all mainframe and
network device configurations supporting the County environment is compliant with
all applicable requirements. This certification will be provided to the Agency with
supporting evidence, such as a recent vulnerability scan.

k. At the Agency’s request, the County will work with the IRS, Social Security
Administration, or other federal agencies or their agents with respect to periodic
safeguard and security reviews. The County will support the resolution of the Agency’s
finding based on a written plan satisfactory to both Parties.

l. Upon notification from the IRS, Social Security Administration, other federal agencies,
or the Agency of changes to functional and security specifications, the County will
collaborate with the Agency to develop and implement plans to meet specified
requirements in accordance with guidance and direction provided by the IRS and/or the
Agency. The County will be responsible for costs arising from such modifications.

m. To provide annual access and disclosure awareness and incident reporting training to
its employees and any approved contractors that may have access to SSA data and/or
FTI data (only certain functions in support of Child Support Enforcement may allow
contractor access to FTI).

n. To work cooperatively with the Agency regarding County employee or contractor
access to NCDHHS Data and NCDHHS Information Systems, and compliance with
this MOA and applicable law.

o. To be responsible for supervision of its own employees and contractors.

http://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/p1075.pdf
http://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/p1075.pdf


Page 16 of 21 

5. ACCESS CONTROL

The County shall be responsible for reviewing, approving, delegating and monitoring access by 
County employees and any approved contractors to NCDHHS Data, in strict accordance with the 
NCDHHS Access Controls applicable to the NCDHHS Information Systems involved and in 
accordance with the terms of the MOA. In addition, the County will adhere to any written standard 
or guidelines provided by the Agency regarding management and implementation of the NCDHHS 
Access Controls, and access to the NCDHHS Information Systems, including, but not limited to, 
the information systems access control policy in the current version of the North Carolina Statewide 
Information Security Manual. 

6. CONFIDENTIALITY AND SECURITY

The Agency and the County acknowledge and agree that the NCDHHS Data which the Agency 
provides to the County shall be classified as, and shall remain, “NCDHHS Data” or “State Data”. 
At no time will the NCDHHS Data provided by the Agency ever be classified as County data. 

The County acknowledges and agrees that in accessing, receiving, utilizing or otherwise dealing 
with the NCDHHS Data, it will safeguard and not use or disclose such NCDHHS Data except as 
provided in this MOA. The County shall protect the confidentiality of the NCDHHS Data in 
accordance with applicable federal and North Carolina laws, regulations, standards and guidelines, 
including, but not limited to the following: 

• Privacy Act of 1974 (5 USC § 552a), as amended by the Computer Matching and Privacy
Protection Act of 1988;

• IRS Publication 1075;
• Medicaid, 42 U.S.C. § 1396(a)(a)(7), 42 CFR Part 431.300-307;
• Temporary Assistance to Needy Families, 42 U.S.C. § 602 (a)(1)(A)(iv);
• Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program, 7 U.S.C. § 2020 (e)(8); 7

CFR Part 272.1(c);
• Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396(a)(a)(7);
• Social Security Administration Disclosure, 20 CFR Part 401;
• Child Support, 42 U.S.C. § 654(26);
• Public Assistance Programs (Public Welfare), 45 CFR Part 205.50; and

U.S. Department of Labor Employment and Training Administration, 20 CFR Part 603;
• Health Information Portability and Accountability Act and HIPAA Privacy Rule, 45 CFR

Part 160 and Subparts A and E of Part 164;
• North Carolina law governing confidentiality of, and access to, public assistance program

data and records, including N.C. Gen. Stat. 108A-80 and implementing regulations; and
• North Carolina Identify Theft Protection Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. 75-60 et seq. and 132-

1.10 and any implementing regulations.

https://it.nc.gov/documents/statewide-policies/scio-access-control/download?attachment
https://it.nc.gov/documents/statewide-policies/statewide-information-security-manual/open
https://it.nc.gov/documents/statewide-policies/statewide-information-security-manual/open
http://www.access.gpo.gov/nara/cfr/waisidx_07/45cfr160_07.html
http://www.access.gpo.gov/nara/cfr/waisidx_07/45cfr164_07.html


Page 17 of 21 

The County acknowledges and agrees that some of the data elements included within the 
NCDHHS Data can be classified as “identifying information” within the meaning of 
N.C.G.S. § 14-113.20(b). In addition, the combination of certain data elements could classify
the data elements as “personal information” within the meaning of N.C.G.S. § 75-61(10).
Since the Agency and the County are subject to the North Carolina Identity Theft Protect Act
requirements, N.C.G.S. § 132-1.10 and 75-65, the Agency and the County acknowledge and
understand that the unauthorized disclosure, misuse, or loss of these certain data elements
could subject the County and/or the Agency to security breach notification requirements.

The County shall safeguard and protect the security of the NCDHHS Data from loss, theft, or 
inadvertent disclosure, in accordance with applicable federal and North Carolina laws, 
regulations, standards and guidelines, and policies including, but not limited to the following: 

• Federal Information Security Management Act of 2002 (44 USC 3541 et seq.);
• SSA’s “Electronic Information Exchange Security Requirements and Procedures for

State and Local Agencies Exchanging Electronic Information with the Social Security
Administration”

• IRS Publication 1075;
• Health Information Portability and Accountability Act and HIPAA Security Rule, 45

CFR Part 160 and Subparts A and C of Part 164; and
• National Institute of Standards and Technology guidelines.

In accordance with applicable federal and North Carolina statutes, regulations, standards, and 
policies, the County shall use appropriate physical and technological security safeguards to 
prevent re-disclosure of NCDHHS Data, and to protect NCDHHS Data in paper and/or electronic 
forms during transmission, storage or transport. The County shall use encryption during the data 
transmission process and shall protect NCDHHS Data on portable computers and devices 
through the use of applicable encryption and strong authentication procedures and other security 
controls to make NCDHHS Data unusable and inaccessible by unauthorized individuals. 

The County shall monitor County employees’ access to higher-risk NCDHHS Data elements such 
as Social Security numbers, dates of birth, and FTI. The County shall terminate access privileges 
to NCDHHS Data of County employees immediately when their employment has been terminated 
or their job responsibilities no longer require access. 

The County shall dispose of paper and equipment containing NCDHHS Data in a secure 
manner in accordance with applicable law and information security NIST standards. At the 
request of the Agency, the County shall provide documentation of proper disposal of NCDHHS 
Data to NCDHHS. 

http://www.access.gpo.gov/nara/cfr/waisidx_07/45cfr160_07.html
http://www.access.gpo.gov/nara/cfr/waisidx_07/45cfr164_07.html


The County shall implement procedures for detecting, investigating, reporting and responding to 
security incidents involving NCDHHS Data. The County shall implement an Incident 
Management Plan which will be the source for how to handle incident management involving 
NCDHHS Data, and the Incident Management Plan will be available to the Agency upon 
request. 

The County shall evaluate and report all losses, misuse, or unauthorized disclosure of NCDHHS 
Data to the NCDHHS Privacy and Security Office without unreasonable delay. Any expenses 
incurred as a result of the loss, misuse, or unauthorized disclosure of NCDHHS Data by the 
County will be the responsibility of the County. 

The County shall report any suspected or confirmed privacy or security breach or incident 
involving the NCDHHS Data to the NCDHHS Office of Privacy and Security via electronic mail 
and the Office’s website: http://www.ncdhhs.gov/about/administrative- divisions-offices/office-
privacy-security, within 24 hours after the suspected or confirmed breach is first discovered. The 
County shall report any suspected or confirmed privacy or security breach involving Social 
Security Administration or Federal Tax Information data to: (i) the NCDHHS Office of Privacy 
and Security via the online incident reporting tool at the link above, or if after normal business 
hours, (ii) the NCDHHS Chief Information Security Officer via the phone numbers listed at the 
link above, IMMEDIATELY and within 60 minutes after the suspected or confirmed privacy or 
security breach is first discovered. The County acknowledges and agrees that it must make 
immediate reports of any suspected or confirmed breach involving SSA or FTI data in the 
manner set forth above in order to enable the Agency to fulfill the Agency’s obligation to report 
the suspected or confirmed breach to the SSA or IRS (as applicable) within one hour after it is 
first discovered.

The County will collaborate and cooperate with the Agency regarding investigation, actions and 
potential remedies pertaining to any suspected or confirmed privacy or security breach or 
incident involving NCDHHS Data. 

If the County experiences a security breach involving NCDHHS Data, the County will be 
responsible for providing notification to all affected persons. The County will collaborate and 
cooperate with the NCDHHS Office of Privacy and Security regarding the content and timing of 
notification prior to providing the notification. Any and all expenses incurred as a result of any 
suspected or confirmed security breach involving NCDHHS Data will be the responsibility of 
the County. 

Page 18 of 21 

http://www.ncdhhs.gov/about/administrative-divisions-offices/office-privacy-security
http://www.ncdhhs.gov/about/administrative-divisions-offices/office-privacy-security
http://www.ncdhhs.gov/about/administrative-divisions-offices/office-privacy-security


Page 19 of 21 

7. CONTACTS
The Parties mutually agree that the following named individuals will be designated as points of 
contact for the MOA on behalf of the Agency and the County: 

For NCDHHS: 

For County: 

The Parties agree that if there is a change regarding the information in this section, the party 
making the change will notify the other party in writing of such change. 

8. LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION

Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of the sovereign immunity of the State of North 
Carolina or the assumption by the State of any liability contrary to the laws and statutes of North 
Carolina. Each Party shall be responsible for its own liabilities and neither Party shall seek 
indemnification from the other. 

This MOA shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties hereto and their respective 
successors in the event of governmental reorganization pursuant to N.C.G.S. 
§ 143A-6 or other authority.

Pyreddy Reddy 
Chief Information Security officer 
N.C. DHHS Privacy and Security Office 695
Palmer Drive
Raleigh, NC 27605
Phone: (919) 855-3090
Fax: (919) 733-1524
Email: pyreddy.reddy@dhhs.nc.gov

Curtis S. Potter
County Manager/County Attorney
P.O Box 1007
Plymouth, NC  27962
Phone:  252-793-5823
E-mail:  cpotter@washconc.org

mailto:pyreddy.reddy@dhhs.nc.gov


9. MONITORING AND AUDITING

The IRS, SSA, any other federal agency or the Agency, with advance notice, shall have the right 
to send its officers and employees into the offices and facilities of the County for inspection of the 
County’s facilities to ensure that adequate safeguards and security measures have been maintained 
as required by this MOA. Key areas to be inspected include record keeping, secure storage, limited 
access, disposal, and computer security systems such as those described in IRS Publication 1075. 
The County and the Agency will work together to correct any deficiencies identified during any 
internal inspection. The Agency may opt to utilize the County representatives for compliance 
validation. 

The State Auditor shall have access to persons and records as a result of all contracts or grants 
entered into by State agencies or political subdivisions in accordance with General Statute 147-64.7 
and other applicable laws or regulations. 

The NC DHHS Privacy and Security Office will conduct privacy and security assessments based on 
NIST Standards, Federal, State and DHHS Privacy and security requirements, 

10. DURATION OF AGREEMENT AND MODIFICATION

This MOA is effective on July 1, 2024, and shall continue for an initial term of 24 months 
following the effective date, through and including June 30, 2026. 

The Parties shall review this MOA as deemed necessary by the Agency, or upon the written request 
of either the Agency or the County to the other party, or whenever a State or Federal statute is 
enacted that material affects the substance of this MOA, in order to determine whether it should 
be revised or renewed, as applicable. 

Notwithstanding all other provisions of this MOA, the Parties agree that this MOA may be amended 
at any time by written mutual consent of both Parties. 

11.GOVERNING LAW

The validity of this MOA and any of its terms or provisions, as well as the rights and duties of 
the parties to this MOA, are governed by the laws of North Carolina. The place of this MOA 
and all transactions and agreements relating to it, and their situs and forum, shall be Wake 
County, North Carolina, where all matters, whether sounding in contract or tort, relating 
to the validity, construction, interpretation, and enforcement shall be determined. 

Page 20 of 21 



Page 21 of 21 

12. OTHER PROVISIONS/SEVERABILITY

Nothing in this MOA is intended to conflict with current federal or state laws or regulations, or 
any governing policies of the County or the Agency. If any term of this MOA is found by any 
court or other legal authority, or is agreed by the Parties to be in conflict with any law or 
regulation governing its subject, the conflicting term shall be considered null and void. The 
remaining terms and conditions of this MOA shall remain in full force and effect. 

13. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This MOA and any amendments hereto and any documents incorporated specifically by 
reference represent the entire agreement between the Parties and supersede all prior oral and 
written statements or agreements. 

14. TERMINATION

The Parties may terminate this MOA at any time upon mutual written agreement. In addition, 
either party may terminate this MOA upon 90 days’ advance written notice to the other party. 
Such unilateral termination will be effective 90 days after the date of the notice or at a later date 
specified in the notice. In the event this MOA is terminated unilaterally by the County, the 
Agency will suspend the flow of NCDHHS Data to the County until a superseding written 
agreement is executed by the Parties. 

The Agency may immediately and unilaterally suspend the flow of NCDHHS Data to the 
County under this MOA, or terminate this MOA, if the Agency, in its sole discretion, determines 
that the County (including its employees, contractors and agents) has: (i) made an unauthorized 
use or disclosure of NCDHHS Data; (ii) provided unauthorized access to NCDHHS Information 
Systems; or (iii) violated or failed to follow the terms and conditions of this MOA. 



 



 



 

 



 



 

 



 



 

 



 

 



 











Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 1 of 18 
 

 
POST OFFICE BOX 1007 

PLYMOUTH, NORTH CAROLINA 27962 
OFFICE (252) 793-5823    

 
 

RESOLUTION 2024-25 
  

TO DIRECT THE EXPENDITURE & CLARIFY THE BUDGETING 
OF OPIOID SETTLEMENT FUNDS FOR FY25 

 
WHEREAS, Washington County has joined national settlement agreements with companies 

engaged in the manufacturing, distribution, and dispensing of opioids. 
 

WHEREAS, the allocation, use, and reporting of funds stemming from these national settlement 
agreements and bankruptcy resolutions (“Opioid Settlement Funds”) are governed by the Memorandum 
of Agreement Between the State of North Carolina and Local Governments on Proceeds Relating to the 
Settlement of Opioid Litigation (“MOA”) and the Supplemental Agreement for Additional Funds from 
Additional Settlements of Opioid Litigation (“SAAF”) and as applicable a Second Supplemental 
Agreement for Additional Funds (“SAAF-2”); 

 
WHEREAS, Washington County has received Opioid Settlement Funds pursuant to these 

national settlement agreements and deposited the Opioid Settlement Funds in a separate special revenue 
fund as required by section D of the MOA commonly referred to within its chart of accounts and 
financial statements as Fund 50; 
 

WHEREAS, section E.6 of the MOA states that, before spending opioid settlement funds, the 
local government’s governing body must adopt a resolution that:  

(i) indicates that it is an authorization for expenditure of opioid settlement funds; and,  
(ii) states the specific strategy or strategies the county or municipality intends to fund 

pursuant to Option A or Option B, using the item letter and/or number in Exhibit A or 
Exhibit B to identify each funded strategy; and,  

(iii) states the amount dedicated to each strategy for a specific period of time. 
 
WHEREAS, in addition to the authorizing resolution required pursuant to the MOA, the North 

Carolina Local Government and Fiscal Control Act also requires that the funds also be properly 
budgeted prior to expenditure each fiscal year;  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS: 
ANN C. KEYES, CHAIR 

CAROL V. PHELPS, VICE-CHAIR  

TRACEY A. JOHNSON 

JOHN C. SPRUILL 

JULIUS WALKER, JR. 

ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF: 
CURTIS S. POTTER, ICMA-CM  

  COUNTY MANAGER & COUNTY ATTORNEY 
cpotter@washconc.org  

 
JASON SQUIRES 

ASSISTANT COUNTY MANAGER 
acm@washconc.org 

 
 

CATHERINE “MISSY” DIXON 
FINANCE OFFICER 

mdixon@washconc.org 
 

      JULIE J. BENNETT, MMC, NCMCC 
CLERK TO THE BOARD 

jbennett@washconc.org 
 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 2 of 18 
 

 
WHEREAS, Washinton County initially sought to budget its settlement funds using an “Opioid 

Settlement – Grant Project Ordinance” adopted on or about June 6th, 2022, pursuant to budgetary 
guidance from the School of Government which was subsequently reversed by an Official Opinion 
issued by the North Carolina Attorney General’s Office; 

 
WHEREAS, the amounts actually budgeted for Fund 50 have also been shown for informational 

purposes within the Annual Budget Ordinances adopted by the Washington County Board of 
Commissioners for both FY24 and FY25;   

 
WHEREAS, previously authorized strategy/allocations are shown within the following table: 
 

STRAT TYPE RESOLUTION AMOUNT 
1 A7-Naloxone Dist (CY23) 2023-08 $10,615.10 
2 A9-Hope Exchange Program (CY23) 2023-08 $10,615.09 

Resolution 2023-008 Total $21,230.19 
1 A3-Drug Recovery Court Match (FY23) 2023-033 $5,000 
2 A3-Drug Recovery Court Match (FY24) 2023-033 $5,000 
3 A7-Naloxone Dist (CY24) 2023-033 $10,615.10 
4 A9-Hope Exchange Program (CY24) 2023-033 $10,615.09 

Resolution2023-033 Total $31,230.19 
5 A3-Drug Recovery Court Match (FY25) This Resolution $10,000 
6 A7-Naloxone Dist (CY25) This Resolution $10,615.10 
7 A9-Hope Exchange Program (CY25) This Resolution $10,615.09 

This Resolution Total $31,230.19 
All Resolutions Grand Total $83,690.57 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, in alignment with the NC MOA, the SAAF, and as 

applicable the SAAF-2, Washington County authorizes the expenditure of opioid settlement funds as 
follows: 
1. Fifth strategy authorized: 

a. Name of strategy: Recovery Support Services (A3) 
b. Strategy is included in Exhibit A 
c. Item letter and/or number in Exhibit A or Exhibit B to the MOA: 3 
d. Amounted authorized for this strategy: $10,000.00 
e. Period of time during which expenditure may take place: Start date July 1, 2024, through End 

date June 30, 2025 
f. Description of the program, project, or activity: County contribution/match to help fund the 

Martin-Tyrrell-Washington (MTW) Health Department Grant Funded 2nd Judicial District 
Drug Recovery Court Program (see attached 1 page overview) 

g. Provider: Martin-Tyrrell-Washington (MTW) Health Department 
 

2. Sixth strategy authorized 
a. Name of strategy: Naloxone Distribution (A7) 
b. Strategy is included in Exhibit A 
c. Item letter and/or number in Exhibit A or Exhibit B to the MOA: 7 
d. Amounted authorized for this strategy: $10,615.10 
e. Period of time during which expenditure may take place: Start date January 1, 2025, through 

End date December 31, 2025 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 3 of 18 
 

f. Description of the program, project, or activity: Funding will support a Health Educator II 
position focused on opioids and a naloxone distribution project through our “Hope 
Exchange” harm reduction program.  These funds will be used as a match for funds from 
Vital Strategies to support naloxone distribution. 

g. Provider: Martin-Tyrrell-Washington (MTW) Health Department 
 

3. Seventh strategy authorized 
a. Name of strategy: Syringe Service Program (A9) 
b. Strategy is included in Exhibit A 
c. Item letter and/or number in Exhibit A or Exhibit B to the MOA: 9 
d. Amounted authorized for this strategy: $10,615.09 
e. Period of time during which expenditure may take place: Start date January 1, 2025, through 

End date December 31, 2025 
f. Description of the program, project, or activity: Funding will support a Health Educator II 

position focused on opioids and the “Hope Exchange” harm reduction program.  These funds 
will be used as a match for funds from Vital Strategies to support harm reduction SSPs. 

g. Provider: Martin-Tyrrell-Washington (MTW) Health Department 
 
For informational purposes only: Note that Strategy/Items 6 and 7 above represent funding the 

third calendar year of a multi-year grant-funded combined Naloxone Distribution/Syringe Service 
Program administered by MTW for Washington County. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the “Opioid Settlement – Grant 

Project Ordinance” adopted on or about June 6th, 2022 is hereby rescinded and repealed in its entirety, 
and the amounts shown for informational purposes as allocated for Fund 50 revenues and expenditures 
in the Annual Budget Ordinances originally adopted for FY24 and FY25 shall be deemed to have been 
actually allocated together with and pursuant to said Annual Budget Ordinances. 
  
 
ADOPTED this ___ day of _______2024. 
 
 

             
                                                   __________________________________________ 

Ann C. Keyes, Chair 
           Washington County Board of Commissioners 
 
 
ATTEST: ________________________________ 

Julie J. Bennett, MMC, NCMCC 
Clerk to the Board 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 4 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 5 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 6 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 7 of 18 
 

 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 8 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 9 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 10 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 11 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 12 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 13 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 14 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 15 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 16 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 17 of 18 
 

 
 



Washington County Resolution 2024-028 Page 18 of 18 
 

 



 
WASHINGTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

 
 
 

       ITEM NO:   2  
 
       DATE:   August 5, 2024 
 
ITEM:        Public Forum (3-minute limit per speaker) 
  
  
SUMMARY EXPLANATION: 
 
As is required by North Carolina General Statute §153A-52.1, time has been allotted for comments from 
the public. 

  
Public Comment Statements 

In December of 2015, the Washington County Board of Commissioners adopted a public comment period.  
Essentially this policy said that a public comment period shall be set aside at the beginning of each regular 
monthly Commissioners and it shall be limited to a maximum of thirty (30) minutes. 
Additionally this policy stated that all speakers are required to sign up prior to the meeting at which they 
wish to speak. The signup sheet must be on the podium 30 mins prior to the meeting.  Each speaker shall 
clearly write their name, address, and the topic upon which they wish to speak on the signup sheet.   
This board adopted rules that must be followed. Some of the high points of those rules, which I wish to 
remind the public is: 

1. Speakers shall be acknowledged by the Board Chairperson. 
2. Speakers shall address the Board from the lectern at the front of the room, and begin their remarks 

by stating their name and address.   
3. Public comment is not intended to require any Board or staff members to answer any impromptu 

questions or engage in debate.  Speakers shall address all remarks to the Board as a body, and not 
to any individual board or staff members.  Discussions between speakers and members of the 
audience shall not be allowed. 

4. Speakers shall be courteous in their language and presentations, and shall not use profanity, racial 
slurs, or make any obscene remarks, nor engage in any personal attacks of commissioners.  

5. Speakers shall have a maximum of three (3) to five (5) minutes to make their remarks depending 
on the number of speakers and topics.  The Chairperson may limit the number of speakers allowed 
to make substantially similar comments with respect to the same topic.   

6. Speakers who have prepared written remarks or supporting documents are encouraged to leave a 
copy of such remarks and documents with the County Clerk. 

7. Speakers shall not discuss any of the following:  matters which are the subject of public hearings 
set for the same meeting; matters which are closed session matters, including without limitation 
matters within the attorney-client privilege, anticipated or pending litigation, personnel, property 
acquisition, and matters which are made confidential by law. 



 
WASHINGTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

 
 
 

       ITEM NO:  3 
 
       DATE:  August 5, 2024 
 
 
ITEM:        Department Information Update: Facilities, Mr. Ricky Young, Director 
  
  
SUMMARY EXPLANATION: 
 
Mr. Young will speak to the Board on the work that has been taking place around the 
County facilities and upcoming projects.  (See list below.) 
 
Also listed below are the Departments that have spoken to the Board this year.  If there is 
a particular Department you are interested in hearing about, please let the Clerk know so 
she can arrange for them to attend an upcoming meeting. A list of all Departments is on 
the second page of this statement. 
 
 
Month   Department   Director     
JAN    
FEB Sheriff’s Office  Arlo Norman 
MAR  Elections   Dora Bell 
APR 
MAY 
JUNE Senior Center   Renee’ Collier 
JULY Soil & Water   Chris Respess 
AUG Facilities   Ricky Young 
SEPT 
OCT   
NOV Cooperative Ext.  Rebecca Liverman 
DEC 
 

 



 
List of Departments 

 
  Planning/Inspections  Human Resources 
  EM    Tax  
  EMS    Soil & Water 
  Elections   Utilities 
  Detention   DSS 
  Airport    Facilities 
  Landfill   TTA 
  Finance   Library 
  Register of Deeds  Soil & Water 
  MTW    Sheriff’s Office 
  Senior Center   IT 
  Recreation   E911 
  
 



 
 



 
 



 
 



 
 



 
 



 
 
 
 
 



 
WASHINGTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

 
 
 

       ITEM NO:   4 
 
       DATE:    August 5, 2024 
 
ITEM:        Airport Engineering RFQ Selection, Ms. Mary Moscato, Airport 

Development Director 
  
  
SUMMARY EXPLANATION: 
 
Ms. Moscato will speak to the Board on the abovementioned subject.  
 
See attached. 
 
Recommendations from staff: 
 

1. Make a motion to approve the RFQ evaluation team’s recommended priority of 
most qualified firms and direct the County Manager to negotiate with firm in that 
priority until a contract to provide the services solicited by the RFQ at a fair and 
reasonable  price is successfully reached between the parties; and 
 

2.  Make a motion to approve and authorize the County Manager to execute the 
engineering services contract presented, subject to any additional modifications or 
amendments requested by the Board or recommended to be made in the county’s 
favor by the County Attorney prior to its execution. 

 
 



 

Agenda Item Memo  Page 1 of 2 

 

 

 
POST OFFICE BOX 1007 

PLYMOUTH, NORTH CAROLINA 27962 

OFFICE (252) 793-5823    

   AGENDA ITEM MEMO 

MEETING DATE:  August 5, 2024  MEMO Date:  July 29, 2024      ITEM:    4  

SUBJECT:  Airport Engineering Services RFQ Evaluation & Award 

DEPARTMENT: Airport 

FROM:  Mary Moscato, Airport Development Director 

ATTACHMENTS: 
A- RFQ Issued 4/30/24 for Architectural, Engineering, & Planning Consultant Services for Airport 

Development Projects for Plymouth Municipal Airport (PMZ) (4 pgs) 

B- Qualification Proposal from: AVCON, Inc. (15 pgs) 

C- Qualification Proposal from: Delta Group (14 pgs) 

D- Qualification Proposal from: Parrish & Partners (15 pgs) 

E- Qualification Proposal from: Talbert & Bright (15 pgs) 

F- Proposed Contract from: Talbert & Bright  

PURPOSE: Review the attached Statements of Qualifications received from the firms in response to the 

County's RFQ for Consultant Services for Airport Development Projects and select the most qualified firm to 

direct staff to negotiate a contract for such services at a fair and reasonable price. 
 

BACKGROUND: General Aviation airports like the Plymouth Municipal Airport, owned and operated by 

Washington County, are strongly encouraged by the FAA to recruit and maintain a resident engineering firm 

under contract. This firm provides a range of architectural, engineering, and planning consultant services for 

airport development projects. 

 

Washington County's current contract for resident aviation engineering services with AVCON, Inc. expires 

on August 5, 2024. To continue planning future projects identified in the FAA-approved Airport Layout Plan 

(ALP) and to assist in obtaining state and federal funding, Washington County needs to secure a variety of 

professional services for its airport development projects. These services are best provided by contracting 

with a resident aviation engineering firm. 

 

Applicable regulations mandate that the selection of such firms be based on their qualifications, without 

initial consideration of the costs they may charge for their services. Once the most qualified firm(s) are 

selected, the County will negotiate a contract to ensure the services are provided at a fair and reasonable cost. 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS: 

ANN C. KEYES, CHAIR 

CAROL V. PHELPS, VICE-CHAIR  

TRACEY A. JOHNSON 

JOHN C. SPRUILL 

JULIUS WALKER, JR. 

ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF: 

CURTIS S. POTTER, ICMA-CM  
  COUNTY MANAGER & COUNTY ATTORNEY 

cpotter@washconc.org  
 

JASON SQUIRES 
ASSISTANT COUNTY MANAGER 

acm@washconc.org 

 

CATHERINE “MISSY” DIXON 
FINANCE OFFICER 

mdixon@washconc.org 
 

      JULIE J. BENNETT, MMC, NCMCC 
CLERK TO THE BOARD 

jbennett@washconc.org 

 
 



 

Agenda Item Memo  Page 2 of 2 

 

 

ANALYSIS: The attached RFQ was published on the County website and distributed directly to known 

interested firms as well as indirectly to the NC Aviation Association Listserve to which most qualified firms 

providing such services in NC are subscribed for that specific purpose. 

 

Four Statements of Qualification (attached) were received by the RFQ deadline and evaluated by a team 

consisting of the County Manager, Assistant County Manager, Airport Development Director, a County 

Commissioner, and NCACC Strategic Project Coordinator. The evaluation was conducted individually using 

a weighted scoring approach in which each firm could earn 100 possible points based on the same evaluation 

criteria published in Section 5 of the RFQ itself. The evaluation team collectively weighted the criteria, as 

shown in the Max Points column in the table below. 

 

Each team member conducted an independent evaluation of each firm. The average of those scores is reflected 

in the table below. The evaluation team unanimously scored and recommends Talbert & Bright. as the most 

qualified firm.  

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACTS:  No immediate direct financial impact at this time. Upon entering into a contract for 

services, the County would pay for services as requested and incurred from within the Airport budget. 
 

RECOMMENDATION(S): Review the attached Statement of Qualifications and: 

1. VOTE: To approve the RFQ evaluations team's recommended priority of most qualified firms and 

direct the County Manager to negotiate with the firm in that priority until a contract to provide the 

services solicited by the RFQ at a fair and reasonable price is successfully reached between the parties.   

 

2. VOTE: To approve and authorize the County Manager to execute the engineering services contract 

presented, subject to any additional modifications or amendments requested by the Board or 

recommended to be made in the County's favor by the County Attorney prior to its execution. 

AVIATION RFQ EVALUATION CRITERIA: 
MAX 

POINTS:

AVCON 
Average 

Score

DELTA 

GROUP 
Average 

Score

PARRISH & 

PARTNERS  
Average Score

TALBERT & 

BRIGHT 
Average 

Score

Specific professional backgrounds and experience of 

the key personnel who will be involved in providing 

these services. 15 67 52 71 74

Demonstrated capability of firm to furnish said 

personnel for work on county’s projects and 

availability of said personnel to county staff and for 

attendance of public hearings and board meetings as 

required. 20 85 47 85 87

Firms’ knowledge of FAA/NCDOT Division of Aviation 

regulations, policies and procedures and proven 

background, experience in working with the FAA and 

NCDOT Department of Aviation, and other airports of 

this type and size, including Firm’s ability to assist 

county staff with any online portal documentation 

required by state and/or federal agencies. 30 123 92 137 139

Quality of comparable projects previously 

undertaken and capability to complete projects 

without having major cost escalations or overruns.
15 61 22 70 71

Demonstrated ability to complete work in a timely 

manner. 10 44 14 47 46

Overall evaluation of completeness and contents of 

the proposal. 5 21 5 24 22

References 5 22 19 24 22

423 251 458 461

1st 

TOTAL POINTS:

2nd4th 3rdRECOMMENDED PRIORITY OF MOST QUALIFIED FIRMS: 



 

Plymouth Municipal Airport - PMZ 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 

FOR 
ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTANT SERVICES 

 
FOR 

AIRPORT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 

FOR THE 

PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT 
(PMZ) 

 
1069 Plymouth Airport Road 

Plymouth, NC 27962 

 
Mary Moscato  

Airport Development Director  
(252) 495-1411 

mmoscato@washconc.org 
 

 
 

April 30th, 2024 

mailto:mmoscato@washconc.org


2  

1. GENERAL 

Washington County, a body politic of North Carolina, and the owner, operator, and 
sponsor of the Plymouth Municipal Airport (PMZ), is seeking statements of qualifications from 
qualified consultants for professional on-call airport architectural, engineering, and planning 
services for Airport Development Projects for the next five (5) years. A&E services will generally 
consist of architectural design, civil, geotechnical, structural, mechanical, electrical engineering, 
and capital project planning. 

Submittals will be received until 5:00 p.m. on June 14th, 2024, in the office of the 
Airport Director to the attention of Mary Moscato at the address below: 

Plymouth Municipal Airport  
1069 Plymouth Airport Road 
Plymouth, NC 27962 

 
No proposal will be accepted after this time. Firms are solely responsible for ensuring 

timely delivery of any proposals to the County by the deadline stated. Washington County 
assumes no responsibility for costs incurred in responding to this RFQ. 

 
Questions regarding the scope of services or other items related to this request must be 

directed to: 
 

Mary Moscato  
Airport Development Director 
Plymouth Municipal Airport 
252-495-1411 
mmoscato@washconc.org 

 
2. SEQUENCE of Activity 

• Issue RFQ on April 30th, 2024 
• Receive and answer any questions concerning RFQ 
• Interested firms respond by the deadline of 5:00 pm on June 14th, 2024 
• Review committee convenes to review submittals – June 21st, 2024 
• Interviews conducted if necessary 
• Contract negotiations begin 
• Contract approval recommendation to Board of County Commissioners – 

July/August, 2024 

3. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Washington County continues to work diligently to provide improvements that 
will promote growth and enhance safety and service at PMZ. 

mailto:mmoscato@washconc.org


3  

Projected project services may include airside and landside planning, 
preliminary engineering, design, bidding/negotiation, construction management, and 
project closeout phase services. Special services, such as geotechnical investigations, 
materials testing, surveying, construction observation and resident inspection services 
may also be needed and may be accomplished by the principal consultant or a 
subcontracted sub-consultant. Among the projects that may be considered during the 
next five (5) years are as follows: 

 
a. AWOS  
b. 10-Unit T-Hangar 
c. Airfield maintenance equipment storage building 
d. Terminal building 
e. Rehabilitation of terminal parking Lot 
f. Terminal apron rehabilitation 
g. Taxi-lane and asphalt apron rehabilitation 
h. Perimeter fencing 
i. 60' x60' hangar, apron, and parking lot 
j. Land acquisition 
k. Other capital improvement projects that may be funded 

Consultant will be expected to provide miscellaneous services relating to the airport 
on an as-needed and as-requested basis. Services may include technical assistance, general 
consulting and assistance with grant applications, research, contract document preparation, 
or other professional services. 

Key individuals identified in the proposal as members of the project team will be 
expected to be available to perform the work as identified for each project. 

4. CONTENT OF THE PROPOSAL 

Washington County requests that any firm desiring to be considered submit four (4) 
hard copies and one (1) flash drive copy of the Statement of Qualifications as requested in 
section one of this RFQ. Copies of your proposal should be marked "ARCHITECTURAL, 
ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTANT SERVICES FOR PMZ", and 
should contain the following tabbed sections: 

a) Cover/Title Page listing the statement purpose, the firm’s name, address, 
and a contact person’s information for questions concerning the submitted 
statement. 

b)  A section on the prospective firm’s experience, providing a description of 
the firm's experience and qualifications in airport engineering, planning, and 
construction work for similar type projects. A list of similar airport projects 
that involved federal and state funding and were completed within the last 



4 

five (5) years should be included, along with a listing of any and all office 
locations that would be available to assist in the Airport’s projects’ work.  

c) A section that provides a list of those firm employees who would be
pertinent in developing and supporting all airport development and project
management. This listing should include capability and the responsibility for
each of those firm employees, especially for those who have specific similar
experience to the projects listed above, and who have experience in working
with FAA and NCDOA regulations and procedures.

d) Provide as a minimum, three (3) references familiar with the quality of work
accomplished by the prospective firm on similar type projects. References
must include the reference agency’s name and address, along with a contact
person’s telephone number/email address; and a summary of the relation
and experience the reference has with the prospective firm.

The entire Statement of Qualifications should not exceed fifteen (15) pages; 
excluding the cover/title page. Statement of Qualifications that exceed 15 pages will 
not be considered. 

5. QUESTIONS PRE-SUBMITTAL

All questions and clarifications should be submitted by e-mail to the above e-mail 
address. No phone calls, please. Any responses will be provided in writing as Addenda, and 
uploaded for all interested parties to view at https://washconc.org/bid-opportunities/ 

6. EVALUATION PROCESS

Washington County follows the qualification-based selection process set by the FAA 
under AC150/5100-14E, Change 1, and as required by the NCDOT Division of Aviation. 
Proposals received will be evaluated by a review committee and the committee will select 
the firms to be interviewed, if necessary. Statements will be evaluated according to the 
following non-exclusive selection criteria:  

a) Specific professional backgrounds and experience of the key personnel who
will be involved in providing these services. 15 points

b) Demonstrated capability of firm to furnish said personnel for work on
county’s projects and availability of said personnel to county staff and for
attendance of public hearings and board meetings as required. 20 points

c) Firm’s knowledge of FAA/NCDOT Division of Aviation regulations, policies and
procedures and proven background, experience in working with the FAA and
NCDOT Division of Aviation, and other airports of this type and size, including
Firm’s ability to assist county staff with any online portal documentation

https://washconc.org/bid-opportunities/


5  

required by state and/or federal agencies.   30 points 

d) Quality of comparable projects previously undertaken and capability to 
complete projects without having major cost escalations or overruns. 15 
points 

e) Demonstrated ability to complete work in a timely manner. 10 points 

f) Overall evaluation of completeness and contents of the proposal. 5 points 

g) References.  5 points 

General Comments:  Any cost incurred by respondents in preparing or submitting 
proposals for the project shall be the respondents' sole responsibility.  All responses, 
inquiries, or correspondence relating to this RFQ will become the property of the County 
when received and will be subject to the open records law of the state of North Carolina. 
The County reserves the right to refuse any or all proposals received. The County reserves 
the right to select a Firm without holding interviews 

7.   CONTRACT 
 

The top-ranked firm or firms will be invited to negotiate a five-year on-call master 
contract with Washington County to be recommended to the Washington County Board of 
Commissioners for approval. For each project performed under the Master Contract, a 
detailed scope of work will be developed and agreed to by the Aviation Consultant and 
Washington County. This detailed scope of work and associated fee will be developed 
into a work authorization and be included as an attachment to the Master Contract. The 
Master Contract may be cancelled by either party for any reason at any time. 

 
 

END OF RFQ 



JUNE 14, 2024

Submitted by:

Architectural, Engineering, and
Planning Consultant Services 

Marty Wynn, PE
Senior Project Manager

6230 Carolina Beach Road
Wilmington, NC 28412

(P) 910.685.7113
(C) 910.612.6900

for Airport Capital Improvements Projects
for the Plymouth Municipal Airport (PMZ)



Mary Moscato
Airport Development Director
1069 Plymouth Airport Road
Plymouth, NC 27962

Reference: Architectural, Engineering, and Planning Consultant Services for PMZ

June 14, 2024

Dear Ms. Moscato,

AVCON, INC. is pleased to submit four (4) hard copies and one (1) flash drive of the Statement of Qualifications for Architectural,
Engineering, and Planning Consultant Services for Plymouth Municipal Airport (PMZ) for Airport Capital Improvement Projects.

Founded in 1988, AVCON, INC. (AVCON) serves the aviation, facilities, transportation, and development industries and employs over
120 professionals with expertise in all aspects of aviation planning and design; civil engineering, electrical engineering, mechanical
engineering, plumbing engineering, fire protection design, utilities coordination and design, and structural engineering; traffic planning
and highway design; and a full array of design and construction support services. AVCON has built its reputation on delivering
innovative and practical engineering solutions to clients throughout the Southeast. These solutions blend both economic and
technological elements to provide an effective approach to all the firm’s projects. AVCON offers high-level technical expertise based
on more than three decades of hands-on experience – ensuring the job is done right the first time. AVCON prides itself on partnering
with clients in Transforming Today’s Ideas into Tomorrow’s Reality.

For 36 years, AVCON and its dedicated personnel have cultivated a reputation for implementing and delivering innovative and
practical engineering solutions to our clients. In addition to our quick response times and creative solutions, one of the greatest
benefits of contracting with AVCON is our involvement on the front end of projects, providing innovative concepts for improvements
and efficiencies, avoiding constructability issues with creative solutions, working to design less costly alternatives, and designing
projects in a manner that provides for reduced long-term maintenance, higher operating efficiencies, and increased sustainability
and resilience. 

The AVCON team has truly unparalleled qualifications to support Washington County and PMZ on this contract. We bring extensive,
relevant, and award-winning project experience such as airport planning, environmental analysis, land acquisition assistance,
preliminary design, final design, estimating, bidding, construction administration, and resident project representative services, and
excellent relationships with many governing agencies, including NCDOA, NCDOT, and the FAA. We also possess a thorough knowledge
of current regulations and permitting requirements for local, state, and federal regulatory agencies. Finally, AVCON’s proven response
capabilities are unmatched and are only a phone call or a short drive away.

AVCON has earned our reputation as a leading airport consultant for airports throughout the Southeast and the firm has successfully
been serving the Carolinas since opening its Charlotte office in 2002. AVCON has served as the prime consultant for individual
project-based and multiyear, airport general and on-call consulting contracts since its inception and the firm’s airport professionals
have been instrumental in the design, permitting, and construction of hundreds of projects at multiple airports throughout the
southeast. Additionally, AVCON has specifically selected this team of professionals and subconsultants based on long-term
successful working relationships as well as the specific expertise required to address the needs of PMZ. 

James Moose, PE, Principal-in-Charge, and Marty Wynn, PE, Senior Project Manager understand the importance and future
potential of PMZ as a key economic contributor to the County and region. They both hold more than eight years of experience at
PMZ, and will continue to work with the County/Airport to map out development and funding strategies over the next five years and
beyond. AVCON will keep the County/Airport up to date throughout all phases of a project through regular communication with the
designated County/Airport staff. Your Senior Project Manager, Marty Wynn, PE is available to the County/Airport on a 24/7 basis,
ensuring that each priority is addressed appropriately and meets or surpasses expectations in every instance. He works out of
AVCON’s Wilmington office and can be reached by email or phone at: mwynn@avconinc.com, Office: 910.685.7113, Cell:
910.612.6900.

We appreciate your review of our team’s credentials for this contract and are excited to demonstrate our personal and corporate
commitment to Washington County and PMZ. We look forward to the opportunity to serve you and thank you in advance for your
consideration in this important role.

Sincerely,
AVCON, INC.

6230 Carolina Beach Road
Wilmington, NC 28412

(910) 685-7113
www.avconinc.com

AVCON, INC.
ENGINEERS & PLANNERS

James Moose, PE | Principal-in-Charge Marty Wynn, PE | Senior Project Manager
1



FIRM OVERVIEW AND EXPERIENCE

AVCON is a full-service engineering and planning firm specializing in airports, transportation,
facilities, and site development projects. With 36 years of airport general consulting, on-call
services, and design and planning experience at more than 100 airports, AVCON’s staff of
engineers and planners has completed essentially every type of airport project, ranging from
airport master plans, environmental assessments, DBE plans, and condition assessments, to
airfield pavement designs, lighting and NAVAIDs, hangar developments, terminal upgrades,
fuel farms, security and access control, roadway and parking designs, and utility and
stormwater improvements. AVCON also provides specialty services related to airfield and
lighting evaluation, electrical vault arc-flash analysis, and capacity studies utilizing in-house
testing equipment and fully trained staff. These capabilities result in safe, cost-effective, and
efficient enhancements while reducing construction impacts.

Because an airport includes many elements beyond the limits of the airfield, it is important
to consider an engineering team that also understands the connection between the airfield  
and the supporting infrastructure and can offer an experienced and insightful perspective on
development and project execution. AVCON provides this understanding and skill. In 

2A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

Complementing a long history of design services is an extensive construction background that allows AVCON to provide quantity
takeoffs and realistic cost estimates. This capability has contributed to a proven track record, assisting AVCON’s clients (and funding
agencies) with budgeting for small and large multi-phase projects. 

The collective experience of AVCON for both commercial service and general aviation airports is extraordinary and unmatched.
AVCON frequently receives industry recognition and exposure through our award-winning projects and knowledgeable staff. Our
aviation professionals are often present at industry conferences and workshops about implementing cost-saving and sustainable
project strategies that have resulted in long-lasting design solutions.

AVCON’s airport professionals have been instrumental in the design, permitting, and construction of thousands of projects at airports
throughout the Carolinas and the Southeast, allowing the team to offer an extensive range of experience that meets the needs of PMZ
and specifically the requirements of the RFQ. AVCON has worked at over 100 airports, which include air carriers, general aviation, and
military facilities. As evidence of AVCON’s long-term commitment to quality and service, the firm continues to provide engineering
services to many of its earliest clients.

TEAM EXPERTISE

Both James and Marty have successfully served many airports in assignments similar to this role, including similar multi-year
contracts for airports in Smith Reynolds Airport, Ashe County Airport, Kinston Regional Jetport, Clinton-Sampson County Airport,
Asheville Regional Airport, Montgomery County Airport, Duplin County Airport, Avery County/Morrison Airport, Wilmington
International Airport and on-call with DOA. AVCON is prepared to handle any project services including planning, design, bidding,
construction administration, grant administration, and land acquisition. With the list of projects covered over the next few pages, you
will see that AVCON has the experience needed to handle any assigned project including AWOS, hangars and maintenance buildings,
terminal building, rehabilitation of landside and airside pavements, fencing, site developments, and land acquisition. Additionally, this
management team will work to:  

Maintain project costs per
grant limitations and pre-
established budget

Review and coordinate
project management tasks
for the team.

Perform quality reviews prior
to certifying deliverables.

Adhere to approved project
schedules by allocating
appropriate staff and
subconsultant resources

Remain accountable for the
content of plans and
specifications along with
bidding/contract documents.

addition to our airfield expertise, AVCON also provides related civil engineering design services for elements more commonly
associated with the landside (non-aviation) portion of airports, including land development such as utilities, roads, and parking
facilities; structural and support engineering for hangars and other building infrastructure; and electrical design for primary power
distribution and airfield lighting improvements. AVCON offers complete civil, structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, and fire
protection design services to augment their recognized airport and aviation disciplines.



3A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

PROJECT EXPERIENCE

This $341K project included the removal of trees and brush within the Runway
Protection Zone and the approach of Runway 24. The site included an existing pond,
two existing streams, and wetland areas. Construction comprised stump removal and
grass reseeding in areas that were not identified as Waters of the US (i.e.,
jurisdictional wetlands or streams). Tree stumps remained in areas that were
identified as jurisdictional to avoid land disturbance within the Waters of the U.S.
Project elements included clearing by stump in place, clearing and grubbing, erosion
and sediment control, and revegetation (seeding and mulching) to increase safety
around the airfield.

Runway 24 Obstruction Removal | Clinton-Sampson County Airport

The $3.8M Partial Parallel Taxiway and Apron Expansion project consisted of the
western portion of the parallel taxiway and Phase 1 of the apron expansion, as well as
approximately 4 acres of obstruction removal. The overall scope of work for the
project included clearing and grubbing, demolition/relocation of existing pavement
and marking; proposed asphalt paving; aggregate base course; LED taxiway lighting
and signage; electrical duct bank installation; drainage improvements; wind cone
relocation; and obstruction removal.

Partial Parallel Taxiway and Apron Expansion | Ashe County Airport 

Smith Reynolds Airport's primary runway, Runway 15-33, was deteriorating and
required rehabilitation. To minimize impact on MRO tenants, AVCON developed a
phased approach, including alternatives like displaced thresholds and declared
distances, night closures, full-time closures, and weekend closures. Work on this
$6.8M project comprised 4” mill/asphalt pavement resurfacing, adjustment to “Hot
Spot” taxiway intersections, replacement of a failed storm drain pipe crossing under
Runway 15-33, and installation of new taxiway edge lighting and guidance signs at
the reconfigured taxiway intersections. Through coordination with tenants and
suppliers, we completed the project successfully within budget and on schedule.

Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation | Smith Reynolds Airport

Airfield Lighting Rehabilitation | Smith Reynolds Airport

This project consists of the rehabilitation of the airfield electrical systems including
Runway 4-22 and 15-33 and Taxiways A, B, C, D, E, F, H, M, N, O and P. The rotating
beacon was also be replaced with a new LED rotating beacon. The work included
the removal of all light fixtures, cable, conduit, and counterpoise and installation of
new Taxiway edge light fixtures and signage. In addition, new runway edge lights,
threshold lights, and signage were installed for Runways 15-33 and 4-22. The design
included the cable, conduit, duct bank, junction can plazas, and lightning protection
to provide a reliable, resilient, and efficient airfield lighting system. 

As part of the Terminal Area Development Program, the Authority worked with
AVCON on the design and construction of an apron expansion and partial parallel
taxiway. A total of three design options were developed for the Authority’s review.
The Authority selected one of the options and requested some changes to the
layout. AVCON incorporated the suggestions/recommendations and then finalized
the design. The overall scope of work for this $1.7M project included
demolition/relocation of existing utilities, pavement, and marking; removal of
existing fueling tanks; proposed paving; stone; grading; matting; electrical duct bank
installation; relocation of existing fuel tanks and dispenser equipment; installation
and testing of the relocated fueling facility; drainage improvements; fencing; and
access controls.

Apron Expansion and Partial Parallel Taxiway | Avery County Airport



4A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

This $472K project included the construction of over 8,500 ft of 8 ft tall chain-link
fence with one 20-ft long double swing gate around the perimeter of the airport.
The project was divided into Base Bid and Additive Alternative. The Base Bid
project included the construction of approximately 5,500 ft of chain-link fence,
starting from the south end of the site. The south eastern and north eastern
property line and tied into the existing airport entrance gate. It also included the
installation of one 20 ft manual double-swing gate on the existing gravel road at
the south end of the site and approximately 40 ft from the property line.
Additionally, the Base Bid included the dismantling and removal of 500+ ft of a
pre-existing six ft tall chain-link fence. The Additive Alternate included the
installation of approximately 3,200 ft of chain-link fence along the south and
western property line, at a midpoint of the Runway 3-21. 

Perimeter Fencing | Montgomery County Airport

This $7M project comprised the design and construction of a new facility consisting
of two hangars, approximately 11,500 sf each with one having an interior office
space of 3,000 sf, approximately 9,400 sf of apron and access taxiway parking
area, and entrance road (approx. 750 sy), and extension of water and dry utilities to
service the site. The project was completed in two phases, with the first phase
being the site preparation with clearing/ grubbing and grading. The second phase of
the overall development included minor site grading and unclassified excavation,
taxiway construction, apron construction, drainage installation, and utility
installation as well as construction of the two hangars, parking lot, and entrance
drive; taxiway marking and lighting; fence/gate installation; and seeding/mulching.

Forest Service Hangar Facility | Duplin County Airport

This $8.5M project included milling and overlay of Runway 5-23 based on the
findings and inspection report from the NCDOA. The pavements exhibited various
levels of distress, oxidation/weathering, lane separation, raveling, and
longitudinal/transverse cracking. The project removed the distressed upper surface
coarse and replaced with new asphalt pavement.

Runway 5-23 Rehabilitation | Kinston Regional Airport 

This project includes the removal and replacement of the existing Runway 5-23
edge lighting and signage, Runway 5 displaced threshold lighting, Runway 5 end
lighting, distance-remaining signs, Runway 23 threshold lighting, and Runway 23
end lighting with new LED fixtures as well as updating the infrastructure, adjusting
linear spacing of lights between thresholds, upgrading lightning protection,
replacing circuit conductors including the homeruns, and vault
modifications.Modifications and updates were also made to Taxiways A and B.
Additional services included removal and replacement of the Runway 5 PAPI
system with a new LED system and removal and replacement of Runway 5-23
REILs and wind cones as well as replacement of the circuit conductors and power
source. 

Airfield Electrical Rehabilitation | Kinston Regional Jetport

This facility contains a new 12,500-gallon tank and a relocated 10,000-gallon tank.
In addition, a 10,000-gallon underground tank was removed. The fuel farm facility
has self-dispensing and card reader capabilities. The $637K project also included
removal of 255 ft of existing chain link fence, two existing swing gates, and one
existing pedestrian gate as well as installation of approximately 337 ft of new
terminal fence. Additionally, two sliding gates with Advantage DK Digital Keypad
and one pedestrian gate were installed. The scope of work included relocation of
the existing tank, removal of the existing underground tank and installation of the
new fuel farm facility.

Fuel Farm and Terminal Fence | Ashe County Airport

CONTINUEDPROJECT EXPERIENCE -



5A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

RECENT / RELEVANT EXPERIENCE
AVCON’s airport professionals have been instrumental in the design, permitting, and construction of thousands of projects at airports
throughout the Carolinas and the Southeast, allowing the team to offer an extensive range of experience that meets the needs of PMZ
and specifically the requirements of the RFQ. AVCON has worked at over 100 airports, which include air carrier, general aviation, and
military facilities. As evidence of AVCON’s long-term commitment to quality and service, the firm continues to provide engineering
services to many of its earliest clients. The matrix below shows additional projects and services completed in the last 5 years that
AVCON has completed in North Carolina which provide relevant experience to similar projects for PMZ.



6A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

PROJECT TEAM

TEAM ORGANIZATION CHART

Engineering Design
Travis Bird, PE

Caleb Williams, EI
Alisha Todd

Andrew Mitchell, EI

Airfield Electrical / NAVAIDs
Mark Goodacre, ACE

Lee Nemer, ACE
Stephanie Heagney, ACE

MEP
Zemp Pepper, PE

Sean Day, PE

Structural
Luca DelVerme, PE

Dominick Fiorentino, PE

Airside & Landside Planning
Ryan Lenda, CM
Michael Kotlow
Matthew Tracy

Enviornmental
Ryan Lenda, CM

Troy Beasley (WithersRavenel)

Land Acquisition
Neil Burleson (THC)

Surveying
Gary Kreiser, LSS
(WithersRavenel)

Principal-in-Charge
James Moose, PE

QA/QC Manager 
Mike Darcangelo, PE

Senior Project Manager
Marty Wynn, PE

Grant Administration
 Denise Merritt
Marty Wynn, PE

James Moose, PE

Bidding / Negotiation
Construction Management &

Project Closeout
Marty Wynn, PE

Caleb Williams, EI

Construction Observation &
Resident Inspection Services

Victor Styles

Geotechnical Investigations
& Materials Testing

Andrew Nash, P.E. (Terracon)
David Carver (Terracon)

Marty Wynn, PE is a civil engineer with 34 years of experience. He is skilled in managing projects from funding, to design and
construction; he has established relationships with funding agencies; and he is experienced in preparing client reimbursements
for FAA and state grants. Marty’s strengths include pavement studies, overlay pavement designs, drainage system design,
master plan updates, runway extensions, apron expansions and rehabilitation, roadway design, NAVAID installations, airfield
lighting rehabilitation, hangars, taxiways, approach analyses, land use planning, permitting, stormwater design, perimeter
fencing, grant reimbursements, terminal area studies, land use planning, and innovative ways of value engineering for efficient
use of available funding.

MARTY WYNN, PE | SENIOR PROJECT MANAGER

Airfield Pavement Rehabilitation, Kinston Regional Jetport, NC | Project Manager
This project consisted of the design and construction of the rehabilitation of the existing runway and general aviation apron pavements were in poor
condition and in need of rehabilitation. The pavements were exhibiting various levels of distress; oxidation/weathering, paving lane separation, raveling,
and longitudinal/transverse cracking. 

Forestry Service Hangar Facility, Duplin County Airport, NC | Project Manager
This project consisted of two hangars that were approximately 11,500 sq ft each with one having an interior office space of 3,000 sq ft. A 9,400 sf
apron was also constructed. The parking area and entrance road were approximately 750 sq yd. This was a new facility being built for the Forest
Service which will be relocating from Kinston Regional Jetport out of their aging facilities. This project consists of clearing/grubbing, grading, drainage,
taxiway and apron construction, utility installation, parking lot construction, taxiway lighting, fence/gate installation, and seeding/mulching.

FBO and Terminal Area Parking Lot Rehabilitation, Clinton-Sampson County Airport, NC | Project Manager
This project included the design and construction of the existing FBO apron and terminal parking lot pavement rehabilitation. The existing parking lot
exhibited various levels of distress; oxidation/weathering, pavement separation, raveling, and cracking. The existing pavement section varies from 1.5 to
2 in. of state mix asphalt over a sand clay base. The parking lot was paved with 2 in’s of an NCDOT S9.5B mix. The FBO Apron was paved with 1.5 in’s of
P-401 Asphalt overlayed with 1.5 in’s of P-404 Fuel Resistant Asphalt.

Parallel Taxiway Design, Plymouth Municipal Airport, NC | Project Manager
This project consists of the construction of a full parallel taxiway and connector taxiways and taxilanes. The parallel taxiway was needed to bring PMZ
into compliance with the current statewide system plan, and in doing so, increase the overall safety of the airport users. The project also included
extensive permitting efforts in order to minimize environmental impacts. The project consisted of substantial undercutting/underdrain system to
stabilize the subgrade, grading, drainage, paving, lighting, and seeding/mulching.



7A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

James Moose, PE has 23 years of experience managing and designing airport development projects in North Carolina and across
the southeast. His areas of expertise include project management, planning, grading, drainage, pavement design, detention,
sediment and erosion control, roadway layout and design, utilities, lighting, NAVAIDS, estimating, permitting, and construction
administration. He has been responsible for the design of pavements for numerous airfield projects, including ramps, taxiways,
runways, and overlays.

JAMES MOOSE, PE | PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE

Partial Parallel Taxiway and Apron Expansion, Ashe County Airport, NC | Project Manager
Project included clearing and grubbing, demolition/ relocation of existing pavement and marking; proposed asphalt paving;

Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation, Smith Reynolds Airport, NC | Project Manager
The project consisted of a 4” mill/asphalt pavement resurfacing, adjustment to“Hot Spot” taxiway intersections, replacement of a failed storm drain pipe
crossing under Runway 15-33, and installation of new taxiway edge lighting and guidance signs at the reconfigured taxiway intersections. 

Mike Darcangelo, PE has over 46 years of aviation experience including the management, planning, design, and construction of
airside and landside projects at commercial service, general aviation, and military airports. His areas of expertise include project
management; client services; project development and coordination; general consultation; grants administration; budgeting;
scheduling; and direct oversight of the production of project plans, specifications, cost estimates, and other related studies and
project documents.

MIKE DARCANGELO, PE | QA/QC MANAGER

Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation, Smith Reynolds Airport, NC | QA/QC Manager
Managed the design and construction phase services for the rehabilitation of primary Runway 15-33. The project included an

Airfield Pavement Rehabilitation, Kinston Regional Jetport, NC | QA/QC Manager
This project consisted of the design and construction of the rehabilitation of the existing runway and general aviation apron pavements were in poor
condition and in need of rehabilitation. The pavements were exhibiting various levels of distress; oxidation/weathering, paving lane separation, raveling,
and longitudinal/transverse cracking. 

aggregate base course; grading; drainage and erosion control installation; LED taxiway lighting and signage; electrical duct bank installation; drainage
improvements; wind cone relocation; and obstruction removal.

updated pavement condition survey of the runway, comparing it to the results from the 1999 Pavement Management and Maintenance Study, for use in
the pavement rehabilitation design process. The final approach and pavement design included the milling of 3½” of existing asphalt pavement and
replacing it with 3½” of new FAA P-401 asphalt pavement.

Parking Lots Program, Asheville Regional Airport, NC | Project Manager
The Asheville Regional Airport Parking Lot Program was developed due to the growing needs for parking. The demand was due to historic growth at the
airport as well as the Terminal Expansion Program that would impact existing parking systems. Through multiple projects and years, AVCON developed
and completed the design of four separate parking areas, Including a new Cell Phone Lot, TNC and Taxi Lot, and two long-term shuttle lots.  The parking
lots completed to date have added more than 1,100 parking spaces through the airport at a cost of over $10.5 million. 

Terminal Building and Corporate Hangar, Avery County Airport | Project Manager
The terminal and corporate hangar project includes the design and bidding of a 3200 sf Terminal building and 10,000 sf hangar. Each building includes
full civil site work, mechanical, electrical, utilities, and lighting design. This project is part of a larger airport Terminal Building program that includes the
relocation of an existing fuel farm, expansion of the existing apron, construction of a new partial parallel taxiway, security fencing, tie downs, drainage and
utility infrastructures, and other related work.

Denise Merritt has seven years of experience in the development and management of grants using different funding sources for
all types of airport development projects. She is knowledgeable in the use of the EBS/Partner Connect system and remains in
contact with the NCDOA APMs and Grant Staff regularly. Denise is experienced in Request for Aids (RFA), reimbursement
requests, quarterly status reports, project budget and A-code breakdowns, and grant close-out requirements. Currently Denise
is managing multiple grants for multiple airports across North Carolina including PMZ. The projects and grants include planning,
design and bidding, construction and construction phase services, and land acquisition.  

DENISE MERRITT | GRANT ADMINISTRATOR 

PROJECT TEAM - CONTINUED

When we went through our last RFP for professional services we focused on wanting a
knowledgeable, dependable, and reputable firm. The firm had to be knowledgeable in all the
Federal, State, and Local policies, rules, and requirements to assist us in getting the wide
variety of projects we were pursuing completed... AVCON’s staff reputation was one of the
items that helped us select them as our On-Call Consultant.

-Richard Barkes, Airport Director
North Carolina Global TransPark



8A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

Caleb Williams, EI has over seven years of experience in different aspects of civil engineering, including road design, storm
design, grading, erosion and sediment control, cost estimating, permitting, MOT, pavement marking plans, and stormwater
management/BMP. Additionally, Caleb brings knowledge in preparing floodplain studies and floodplain alterations using HEC-RAS
software.

CALEB WILLIAMS, EI | PROJECT ENGINEER

Airport Parking Strategy Study, Wilmington International Airport, NC | Project Engineer
This project included an updated airline forecasting was developed and used to make facility recommendations over the next 20
years, including an evaluation for a future parking structure. Immediate curb front improvement recommendations to improve 

Airfield Pavement Rehabilitation, Kinston Regional Jetport, NC | Project Engineer
This project consisted of the design and construction of the rehabilitation of the existing runway and general aviation apron for the North Carolina Global
Transpark (NCGTP)-Kinston Regional Jetport (ISO). In 2016, the Final Submission of the Airport Pavement Management System Update, Inspection Report
was submitted to North Carolina Division of Aviation. The report findings indicated that Runway 5-23 and the general aviation apron pavements were in
poor condition and need of rehabilitation. The pavements were exhibiting various levels of distress; oxidation/weathering, paving lane separation, raveling,
and longitudinal/transverse cracking.

traffic flow on the curb front while increasing public safety were developed. A plan to eventually construct a parking structure was also developed
providing phasing to be utilized to reroute the entrance roadway system over some time to spread out the capital outlay and to minimize the
disturbance to travelers.

Alisha Todd has over 20 years of experience in the design and preparation of site plans and specifications for all types of airport
development projects. Her areas of expertise include grading, drainage, pavement, electrical layouts, pipe networks, stormwater
management, erosion and sediment control, safety and phasing plans, and airfield geometrics (horizontal alignment and vertical
profiles) for runways, taxiways, and aprons.

ALISHA TODD | PROJECT ENGINEER

Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation, Smith Reynolds Airport, NC | Project Engineer
The project comprised an analysis of the existing runway pavement section, the development of pavement rehabilitation
alternatives, and a complete pavement design based on selected alternatives.

Forest Service Hangar, Duplin County Airport, NC | Project Engineer
The project comprised two hangars of approximately 11,500 sf each with one having an interior office space of 3,000 sf; 9,400 sf apron and access
taxiway; and 750 sy parking area and entrance road as well as drainage and utility installation, taxiway marking and lighting, and fence/gate installation.

Travis Bird, PE has over seven years of experience as an Engineer with AVCON, focusing on airfield pavement related projects.
He graduated in 2017 from the University of Central Florida with a BS in Civil Engineering. He has extensive experience with the
identification and assessment of pavement distresses (in both asphalt and concrete pavements) and the design of
rehabilitation alternatives. Recent projects have included the development of Airport Pavement Management Systems (APMS),
runway and taxiway rehabilitations, parking lot expansions, and apron rehabilitations. In addition to his analysis and design
efforts, Travis has also been responsible for construction oversight and inspection on airfield paving projects. His recent
experience includes projects at Asheville Regional Airport, Mobile International Airport, Orlando International Airport, and Smith
Reynolds Airport.

TRAVIS BIRD, PE | PROJECT ENGINEER

AVL Parking Lot Revisions, Asheville Regional Airport, NC | Project Engineer
This project consisted of the alteration and extension of the general aviation middle ramp to develop a new parking lot to accommodate up to 256
vehicle parking spots. The overall scope of work included a new gravel parking lot entrance, reconfiguration of the existing pavement area, airport
fencing, and gate, and associated permitting. The South Parking Area project consisted of the development of a new South Parking Area as identified by
the AVL Master Plan. 

Parallel Taxiway A, Plymouth Municipal Airport, NC | Grant Administration
The project comprised the design and construction of a full parallel taxiway, connector taxiways and taxi lanes and included extensive permitting efforts
to minimize environmental impacts.

Andrew Mitchell, EI has had broad exposure to airport engineering and design, despite only having two years of professional
experience. He has worked in the areas of planning, pavement design, grading, estimating, permitting, contract administration,
and construction observation. Andrew’s experience includes apron, taxiway, and runway rehabilitation projects for both GA and
commercial airports.

ANDREW MITCHELL, EI | CIVIL ENGINEER 

Cargo Apron Phase 2 - Design, Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport, SC | Designer
Assisted Project Engineer in design development, plan set production, and cost estimates/quantity takeoffs for 30%, 60%, and
90% Submittals. In addition to producing a quality plan set, assisted in compiling contract documents, administration of bids,
and addressing bid questions.

Airport Pavement Improvement Program Priorities 2 & 4, Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport, SC | Designer
Conducted inspections of all of GSP airfield’s concrete areas, including Runway 4-22, Taxiways A, B, C, J, K, and L, and Aprons of the MRO, FBO, and Fed
Ex Facilities. Analyzed and quantified distresses for the production of maintenance plans. 

PROJECT TEAM - CONTINUED



9A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

Mark Goodacre, ACE has over 40 years of experience in the planning, design, construction, and maintenance of electrical
distribution systems and airfield lighting systems. He is an AAAE Airport Certified Employee (ACE) in the field of Airfield Lighting
Maintenance, and he serves as an instructor for the Florida Airports Council’s (FAC) Basic Airfield Electrical Safety Workshop. He
has experience preparing design documentation for an airfield’s lighting layout and circuitry for all associated runways, taxiways,
and parking aprons.

MARK GOODACRE, ACE | SENIOR ELECTRICAL DESIGNER

Airfield Lighting Replacement, Marine Corps Air Station New River | Project Manager
The project comprised the removal and replacement of incandescent, fluorescent, and first-generation LED airfield lighting
equipment with new LED products. Navigational aids such as PAPl’s and wind cones were replaced with LED products.

Airfield Redevelopment Program - Permanent Runway, Asheville Regional Airport, NC | Senior Electrical Designer
The project consisted of the removal of the existing Runway 16-34, construction of permanent Runway 17-35, and conversation of the temporary
runway to a parallel taxiway. Included the development of two new ILS approaches and required coordination with the FAA for establishment of new
flight procedures.

Lee Nemer joined AVCON in July 2018 and works under Mark Goodacre as an Electrical Engineer. Since joining AVCON he has
worked on multiple airport projects throughout Florida, North Carolina, Texas, and Alabama. His skills include lighting layouts,
circuit design, duct bank system design, manhole design, and vault work. He has provided cost estimates for large-scale projects
and is proficient in AutoCAD.

LEE NEMER, ACE | ELECTRICAL ENGINEER

Airfield Lighting Replacement
Marine Corps Air Station New River | Electrical Engineer
The project comprised the removal and replacement of incandescent, fluorescent, and first-generation LED airfield lighting
equipment with new LED products. Navigational aids such as PAPl’s and wind cones were replaced with LED products.

Airfield Lighting Rehabilitation, Smith Reynolds Airport, NC| Electrical Engineer
This project consisted of the rehabilitation of the airfield electrical systems including Runway 4-22 and 15-33 and various taxiways. The rotating beacon
was also replaced with a new LED rotating beacon. The proposed work included installing new Taxiway edge light fixtures and signage for all Taxiways on
the airfield. 

Victor Styles serves as a Construction Inspector and has over 30 years of industry experience. He was previously employed
with Kinston Regional Jetport where he served as Maintenance Supervisor and Fire Chief Department Supervisor. Victor is
experienced and skilled in maintaining and implementing solutions for airports to keep operations running smoothly.

VICTOR STYLES | CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR

FBO Apron Rehabilitation, Clinton-Sampson County Airport, NC | Construction Inspector
The project included the removal of the existing apron asphalt, regrading the clay sand base, placing crushed aggregate base
course, paving the NCDOT P-401 asphalt surface course, and the applying P-608 Emulsified Asphalt Seal Coat over the apron.

Runway 24 Obstruction Removal, Clinton-Sampson County Airport, NC | Construction Inspector
This project comprised approximately 21-acres and included clearing and grubbing, erosion and sediment control, construction safety and phasing, and
turf restoration.

Stephanie Heagney, ACE has over seven years of experience in airfield electrical design and lighting experience including
multiple projects assisting as a CEI inspector performing duties related to airfield lighting and signage elements of new and
rehabilitation construction projects on airfields.

STEPHANIE HEAGNEY, ACE | ELECTRICAL ENGINEER

Airfield Lighting Replacement, Treasure Coast International Airport, FL | Project Engineer 
This project comprised the replacement of airfield signage to meet FAR Part 139 standards and various airfield electrical
upgrades to increase the efficiency of the system, reduce maintenance costs, and improve safety. The work included multiple
signs, all-new cables and transformers.

Runway 4-22 Rehabilitation and Related Work, Blue Grass Airport, KY | RPR - Airfield Lighting
This project included inspections for the recent rehabilitation of Runway 4-22 and related work at Bluegrass Airport, Lexington, KY, a single air carrier
runway airport. The work included multiple signs, centerline lighting, TDZ lighting, runway edge lighting, multiple taxiway edge lighting, all new cables and
transformers, and related lighting vault and controls work.

Parallel Taxiway Rehabilitation, Kinston Regional Jetport | Construction Inspector
The project included pavement removal, milling, pavement repair, and paving all the taxiways on the airfield.

PROJECT TEAM - CONTINUED

Parallel Taxiway, Plymouth Municipal Airport | Construction Inspector
The project included subgrade stabilization, underdrains, grading/drainage, paving, electrical vault installation, airfield lighting/signage, and
seeding/mulching.



10A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

Ryan Lenda, CM is an aviation and business professional with over 20 years of experience in the aviation industry. His
responsibilities include roles ranging from managing complex planning projects to providing consultant services and working
with stakeholders to ensure design elements comply with aviation regulations. Ryan has completed multiple planning
assignments at airports throughout the U.S. including Apron Utilization Plans, Gate Expansion Analyses, Airport Layout Plans,
Exhibit A Updates, Feasibility Studies, Master Plans, Siting Studies, Land Use Planning, Development/Redevelopment Studies,
and more.

RYAN LENDA, CM | SENIOR AIRPORT PLANNER

Capital Improvement Plan Program (CIPP), Kennedy Space Center | Director of Aviation Planning
Planner responsible for assisting in developing a roll-up Capital Improvement Plan Program (CIPP) incorporating budget, cost, and funds planning for
NASA Centers nationally. As part of the CIPP, he helped conduct an inventory of existing facilities at Kennedy Space Center.

General Aviation Master Plan, Charlotte Douglas International Airport, NC | Director of Aviation Planning
Developed a General Aviation Master Plan for Charlotte Douglas International Airport (CLT) to accommodate corporate GA 
traffic and expand the work completed in the 2018 hangar expansion study. The plan had two primary goals: preparing an affordable 20-year plan to
meet GA needs and maximizing CLT's revenue-earning potential while utilizing its property effectively. The plan enabled CLT to attract new businesses
and generate revenue over the long term.

As a Senior Airport Planner, Michael Kotlow is responsible for the production of aviation planning projects including master
plans, airport layout plans, benefit-cost analyses, runway length analyses, noise studies, and various specialty studies. He has
worked within the aviation planning field since 2005 gaining extensive knowledge and completing numerous projects for
airports of all sizes throughout the U.S. He has experience with Microsoft Office, AutoCAD, and ArcGIS Pro software.

MICHAEL KOTLOW | AIRPORT PLANNER

Airport Layout PLan Update, Kinston Regional Jetport, NC | Senior Airport Planner
Project tasks included evaluation of the airport facility layout for conformance with FAA AC 150/5300-13A, Airport Design;
evaluation of the known obstructions to the airspace to determine the current impact to the Airport; determination of the

Benefit-Cost Analysis (BCA) for Runway Extension, Morgantown Municipal Airport, WV | Senior Airport Planner
Michael led the efforts for this BCA to extend the runway at MGW from 5,199 feet to 6,200 feet. The project was necessary to provide a more flexible
operating environment that would result in a cost savings for existing. Michael coordinated all aspects of the BCA effort including meeting with various
airport stakeholders such as the City of Morgantown, WVU, airport tenants, corporate aircraft users, and the FAA. The FAA approved the BCA and is
funding the design and construction of $50+ million runway extension project.

current and future critical aircraft; assisting the airport in supporting aviation demand within the region; evaluation of the airfield development options;
and provision of an aeronautical obstruction survey in compliance with FAA AGIS policies which includes an airport airspace analysis for vertically-
guided operations for Runway 5/23; and the development of an ALP.

Matthew Tracy has eight years of experience and is proficient with CAD software such as AutoCAD, Fusion 360, Revit, and
SolidWorks. Additionally, he has experience working with ASME Y14.5 standards and architectural and mechanical drawings.
Matthew is a member of a local maker space where he teaches classes on the CAD program Fusion 360 on a

MATTHEW TRACY | CAD TECHNICIAN

Airport Layout Plan Update, Kinston Regional Jetport, NC | CAD Technician
This project involved preparation of an Airport Layout Plan Update with Narrative Report for the Kinston Regional JetPort at the
North Carolina Global TransPark (NCGTP). Project tasks included evaluation of the airport facility for conformance with FAA AC
150/5300-13A, Airport Design; evaluation of the known obstructions to the airspace to determine the impact to the Airport; 

Master Plan Update, Kissimmee Gateway Airport, FL | CAD Technician
This Master Plan Update will document the changes that have occurred in the last 17 years, including full-length parallel taxiways on both runways, a new
airport administration building, the straightening and widening of Hoagland Boulevard to the west, and the new Martin Luther King Boulevard and
roundabout to the north. Most importantly, this Master Plan Update will provide planning for an airport welcoming Cirrus Aircraft and several related
clients to the airport.

determination of the current and future critical aircraft for the Airport; assisting the airport in supporting aviation demand within the region; evaluation
of the airfield development options; and provision of an aeronautical obstruction survey in compliance with FAA AGIS policies.

South Apron Utilization Study, Bob Sikes Airport, FL | Senior Airport Planner
Comprehensive analysis of current apron facilities at the Airport. The limits of the project measure approximately 1,350 ft by 250 ft. Tasks included
evaluation of existing apron layouts, data analysis and development of aircraft parking requirements, preparation of proposed apron layout, and
coordination with the FAA. The study was performed using recommendations in the Airport Cooperative Research Program (ACRP) Report 113,
Guidebook on General Aviation Facility Planning.

PROJECT TEAM - CONTINUED



11A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

Sean Day, PE is an experienced Electrical Engineer with problem-solving and critical thinking skills coupled with excellent
communication skills to contribute to complex design projects. His areas of expertise involve many low voltage systems
including Premise Distribution, Physical Access Control, Video Surveillance, Public Announcement, Distributed Antenna, and Fire
Alarm systems. He has knowledge of copper, fiber, and wireless ethernet networking over local and wide area networks.

SEAN DAY, PE | ELECTRICAL ENGINEER

Corporate and Bulk Storage Hangars, Greenville-Spartan International Airport, SC | Electrical Engineer
The project included a new 30,000 sf bulk storage hangar with provisions for a future 8,000 sf one-story attached office/shops
area and a new 16,000 sf corporate hangar with 2,500 sf of associated office space. The project also included 

Terminal B Expansion, Orlando Sanford International Airport, FL | Electrical Engineer
Provided electrical engineering services for the new Access Control System and Closed-Circuit Television security systems. The work included replacing
outdated security systems as well as the design of new security systems for the terminal expansion. The camera system included stationary indoor and
outdoor cameras as well as PTZ.

necessary drainage and utility enhancements to serve the two new hangars. These enhancements consisted of drainage improvements including
treatment/attenuation storage areas; potable water and sanitary sewer services; fire supply water services including an estimated 300,000-gallon
storage tank and 2,500 GPM diesel fire pump system; electrical power services; communication services; and natural gas service. 

Luca DelVerme, PE has 24 years of structural engineering experience in both the public and private sectors. He has practiced
structural design for a variety of building types, including airport terminals, hospitals, universities, courthouses and jails, parks
and trail facilities, aircraft and storage hangars, and solid waste facilities throughout the state of Florida.

LUCA DELVERME, PE | SENIOR STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

Chiller Replacement, Smith Reynolds Airport, NC | Senior Structural Engineer
The project included the replacement of two 200-ton water-cooled chillers, cooling towers, and associated chilled water
pumps and condenser pumps which serve the 46,000 sf Piedmont Propulsion Facility.

MRO Hangar with Associated Office/Shop Space, Treasure Coast International Airport, FL | Senior Structural Engineer
The project comprised a 28,500 sf MRO hangar with an associated 3,000 sf one-story attached office/ administrative 
space, plus a detached 1,200 sf fire pump building, and a 200,000-gallon fire water ground storage tank. The project also included necessary site
drainage improvements, a water main extension, a sanitary lift station and force main, electric and communication utility extensions to serve the new
hangar, plus extensive security perimeter fencing and gate work.

Dominick Fiorentino, PE is a licensed Structural Engineer with more than 35 years of experience in the design and construction
of Public Facilities, including transportation and pedestrian bridge structures. He has experience in multiple disciplines including
Structures, Roadways, Drainage, and Traffic Control. He provides structural assessments, new designs, rehabilitations, and ADA
accessibility evaluations.

DOMINICK FIORENTINO, PE | STRUCTURAL ENGINEER (TRANSPORTATION)

Ballough Road Bridge Replacement, Daytona Beach, FL | Structural Engineer
The primary project elements included dredging, a boardwalk around the entire perimeter of the basin, a new boat/kayak

Parks and Recreation Bridge Assessments, Orange County, FL | Structural Inspector
The project consisted of on-site, nondestructive visual inspection of ten existing pedestrian/trail bridges and preparation of a bridge inspection report
for each identified and observed defect as well as an opinion of current structural condition under NBI and FDOT Bridge Inspector’s Field Guide. Five of
the bridges were steel steadfast bridges, three were timber bridges, and one was a concrete structure.

launch ramp and retrieval facility on the west side of the basin, and replace the bridge on Ballough Road with one that is designed to accommodate the
size of watercraft that will be accessing the boat/kayak facility and the commercial waterfront development surrounding the Root Pond waterway.

Zemp Pepper, PE serves as Mechanical Design Manager at AVCON where he is responsible for oversight of the firm’s MEP Group.
Over his 39-year career, Zemp has completed hundreds of renovation and new construction projects. His wide range of
experience includes commercial buildings, municipal buildings, educational buildings, universities, performing arts centers,
museums, hotels, parking garages, airport terminals, and hangars.

ZEMP PEPPER, PE | SENIOR MECHANICAL ENGINEER

Forest Service Hangar, Duplin County Airport, NC | Senior Mechanical Engineer
The project comprised two hangars approximately 11,500 sf each with one having an interior office space of 3,000 sf; 9,400 sf
apron and access taxiway; and 750 sy parking area and entrance road as well as drainage and utility installation, taxiway marking
and lighting, and fence/gate installation.

Terminal Building and Corporate Hangar, Avery County Airport | Airport Senior Mechanical Engineer
The terminal building MEP design includes gas fireplace, zoned heat pump HVAC systems, power distribution, LED lighting with occupancy controls,
voice/data communications, access control, video surveillance, and WiFi. Hangar design includes ventilation by means of industrial ceiling fans, mini-split
unit for office area, gas-fired heating, a trench drain system to contain spills and allow wash-down, power distribution for the hangar and site, static
grounding system for aircraft, LED lighting for all areas including medium bay fixtures selected for hangar storage.

PROJECT TEAM - CONTINUED



SUBCONSULTANTS

12A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

Since its establishment in 1965, Terracon has transformed into a flourishing, employee-owned engineering 

consulting firm, boasting a workforce of over 5,500 professionals spread across 175 locations nationwide. Specializing in
Facilities, Environmental, Geotechnical, and Materials Services, Terracon provides timely, data-driven insights for projects
spanning from ground to sky. Notably, the firm secured the #20 spot in ENR's Top 500 Design Firms in 2023, solidifying its
position as a leading player in the industry. Terracon's extensive team of professionals, encompassing engineers, architects,
and industry specialists, ensures efficiency and risk mitigation in roofing, waterproofing, building enclosure consulting, and
third-party testing. With a strong presence in North Carolina for over 20 years, Terracon's local experts, stationed across six
offices, including Charlotte, Raleigh, and Greenville, NC, deliver comprehensive services backed by an in-house laboratory
adhering to stringent quality standards. 

For more than 28 years, THC has successfully provided land acquisition and relocation services for numerous clients throughout the
United States, including municipal airports, Charlotte-Douglas International Airport, Piedmont Triad International Airport, Raleigh-
Durham International Airport, Town of Knightdale, City of Mount Holly, Town of Huntersville, Town of Stallings, Town of Mooresville, City
of Charlotte, Mecklenburg County, and North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT). They have acquired a wide variety of
right of way, obstruction easements, and land rights to include both partial and total acquisition of residential, commercial, and
agricultural property. THC’s experience includes assisting thousands of diverse businesses, property owners, and tenants with the
relocation process while ensuring clients are in full compliance with local, state, and federal regulations. THC has been working
continuously in the state of North Carolina for over 27 years. 

WithersRavenel, Inc. is a 100% Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) company, with more than 375 
employee-owners who excel at providing a variety of engineering and consulting services for their clients. Founded in
October 1983 as Withers & Ravenel, Inc., WithersRavenel is equipped with 39 years of serving a wide array of clients and
projects through innovative and cost-effective solutions in North Carolina. WithersRavenel provides fast, accurate, and
reliable geomatics services. By integrating their geomatics services with all of the other planning and engineering disciplines
that they offer, they provide the most efficient solutions for the real-world challenges that their clients face. Services include
Subsurface Utility Engineering (SUE), Remote Sensing, Geographic Information Systems (GIS), Residential & Commercial
Survey, and Survey Construction Services. Additionally, WithersRavenel recognizes the importance of addressing
environmental impacts related to land development. Communities have concerns for the well-being of plant and animal life as
well as human life, and increasingly complex government regulations have been created to address these concerns. 

Office Location: 2401 Brentwood Rd Ste 107, Raleigh, NC 27604-3686 

Office Location: 8514 McAlpine Park Dr., Suite 295, Charlotte, NC 28211

Office Location: 219 Station Rd., Ste. 101, Wilmington, NC 28405

AVCON staff, particularly James, Marty, and Denise, maintain strong working relationships with the North Carolina Division of
Aviation (NCDOA) staff and the FAA Southern Region, Memphis, and Atlanta ADO’s. AVCON is routinely engaged with the
NCDOA and FAA Memphis ADO in projects at Avery County Airport, Smith Reynolds Airport, Kinston Regional Jetport, Clinton-
Sampson County Airport, Norfolk International Airport, and Plymouth Municipal Airport, among others. AVCON routinely keeps
in contact with the NCDOA staff members. This method of open communication and coordination has been mutually
beneficial to clients and has helped promote the ideas and visions of airports into real projects. This communicative
approach, be it by telephone, emails, letters, and/or meetings, has proven successful both before and during a project, the
goal being no surprises at any level for anyone.

AVCON serves airport clients with exceptional attention, quality, and care. AVCON’s ability to provide this level of service is
based on its commitment to the airport and aviation industry, and its complete understanding of current FAA and NCDOA
policies and design criteria. Having performed nearly every type of airport consulting service and airport project, AVCON and
its partners know the specific submittal and review processes necessary for agency approval, including FAA, NCDOT, and
other federal and state regulatory agencies. This knowledge and experience enable AVCON to establish and achieve realistic
project schedules that meet the expectations of the client, NCDOA, and FAA, and ensure project compliance with applicable
agency standards.

EXPERIENCE WITH THE FAA AND NCDOA

FIRM EXPERIENCE WITH FAA AND NCDOA



13A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

AVCON works with numerous clients that receive FAA and state funding, including discretionary and entitlement grants, as well as
state block grants and STI funding. We are very knowledgeable of FAA design standards and guidelines, as well as regulations, rules,
policies, and procedures. AVCON’s projects have utilized FAA staff at the Southern Region Office, as well as in the Atlanta, Memphis,
and Orlando ADOs. 

AVCON has provided grant funding assistance for many airport clients and airfield projects over the past three decades. These
grants have included FAA AIP, FAA Discretionary, NCDOT Block Grants, STI Grants, Noise Funding, Property Acquisitions, DOT Grants,
Economic Development Grants, REA grants for rural utility expansions, and others. We have partnered with our North Carolina clients
and have proven to be very successful with securing project funding, grant amendments, and additional grants for vital projects.
AVCON has aided airports across the state to identify funding, develop funding plans, and implement successful applications to the
funding source below that are available to North Carolina’s airports.

Federal Funding 
Non-Primary Entitlement (NPE) 
Apportionment (APP) 
Discretionary (DISC) 
Supplemental / Discretionary 
CARES/CRRSA/ARPA
Airport Infrastructure Grant (AIG/BIL)

EXPERIENCE WITH NCDOT BLOCK GRANT FUNDS, FAA DISCRETIONARY AND REIMBURSABLE AGREEMENTS

State Funding 
State Aid 
Safety Enhancement 
Economic Development 
STIP
Directed Funds

THE AVCON ADVANTAGETHE AVCON ADVANTAGE

Unmatched familiarity with
PMZ and the surrounding area

Committed Project Manager with
over 34 years of experience at
airports throughout the Southeast

Strong working relationships (over 36
years) with the NCDOA and FAA, and
extensive knowledge of funding sources,
policies, and design criteria

Prequalified with the NCDOT in 17 work
categories, and current on-call consultant
for Aviation Professional Services

Common sense approach to projects,
incorporating value engineering to ensure
the most efficient use of the County /
Airport’s valuable time and money

FIRM EXPERIENCE WITH FAA AND NCDOA - CONTINUED

PROJECT APPROACH
AVCON is a reliable and professional engineering and planning firm that offers a full range of services for airport projects. Our team
of over 130 professionals is highly experienced, knowledgeable, and efficient in planning, designing, and managing airport projects.
We specialize in administering the airport's funding program, performing high-quality engineering design, and managing bidding and
construction services. Our focus and strength lie in providing exceptional general consulting services to airports in North Carolina.

PHILOSOPHY OF SERVICE

The AVCON Team is prepared to address any aspect of planning, design, or construction services as may be requested under this
continuing services agreement. This section of the proposal provides a synopsis of the overall approach to serving as a continuing
services consultant, from the philosophical approach to doing business, to the actual day-to-day services AVCON would propose
to County/PMZ staff. The ongoing relationship of a continuing services consultant must be based on the highest levels of trust
between the Owner and the Consultant. To provide a basis for understanding this service relationship, the following page showcases
types of philosophical commitments that should be considered:



PROJECT APPROACH -

14A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

Serve as an extension of staff. AVCON knows that the primary day-to-day responsibility of management relates to
the ongoing operations of the airport, funding and grant help, and the needs of their tenants. To the extent requested,
the team’s role will be to support management in areas outside of these day-to-day responsibilities in identifying,
orchestrating, and assisting in accomplishing Capital Improvements and other assigned projects. 

Create and maintain a unified and focused approach. As a continuing services consultant, we will maintain overall
cohesiveness of the entire array of airport development entrusted to the team. In addition, through our commitment
to the construction quality assurance and the construction-monitoring phase of the firm’s services, we will ensure
that the final constructed project meets or exceeds the applicable design standards and the County’s expectations.

Experts with the requirements of on-call consultant services. These include all aspects of task order assignments,
reporting, financial controls, integrated construction phasing for multiple projects; and overall commitment to
minimizing the impacts of construction and development on the day-to-day operations of the airport and adjacent
facilities.

Team Approach. With multiple professionals, AVCON can commit to receiving and responding to County / Airport
staff inquiries within 30 minutes. AVCON has an excellent track record of responsive service for all the firm’s clients.
To ensure this capability, AVCON will have an overlapping matrix of primary and support personnel for tasks so that
the County / Airport can always find assistance among the team members.

EXAMPLE OF ONGOING PROJECTS
The graphic below indicates the typical methodology for identifying and accomplishing Architectural, Engineering, and Planning
Consultant services assignments. Although the approach varies among clients and tasks, this process closely resembles the step-
by-step process for identifying and accomplishing the necessary tasks assigned under this agreement. Based on more than 450
previous assignments under continuing or general consultant roles over the past three and a half decades, AVCON has developed
the outline on the following pages for undertaking continuing services agreements: 

Finalize negotiation on Master Agreement

Receive/Respond to request for a service

Arrange a scoping meeting and identify project budget
and funding

Coordinate and solicit proposal input from team
members including potential MBE/DBE/SBE/VBE
subconsultants

Develop proposed scope of work including intent,
completion schedule, deliverables, and proposed
startup for Owner concurrence

Prepare final scope of work, draft fee proposal and
submit for approval to County Project Manager

Complete final task order with confirmed scope and
negotiated fee

Establish task order schedule with County staff for
performance

Designate and assign applicable planning, design or
construction personnel for each task including
subconsultants

Following receipt of NTP, proceed with the various
tasks in accordance with the Task Order Agreement
schedule

CONTINUED



15A R C H I T E C T U R A L ,  E N G I N E E R I N G ,  A N D  P L A N N I N G  C O N S U L T A N T  S E R V I C E S ,  P M Z

Project/Airport Bid Cost Final Cost Schedule Met Notes

Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation, INT $6,806,099.00 $6,879,813.05 Yes Additional work added to the project. Project remained
within available funding.

NC Forestry Hangar Complex – Site
Preparation, DPL $559,314.00 $522,463.99 Yes Savings applied to next phase of work. Project was

completed under budget.

NC Forestry Hangar Complex - Hangar
and Apron, DPL $4,981,812.60 $5,534,675.56 No Additional work added to the project. Project remained

within available funding.

Taxiway A Rehabilitation, ISO $6,652,983.00 $6,768,483.98 Yes Additional work added to the project. Project remained
within available funding.

Parallel Taxiway and Apron Expansion,
GEV $3,113,776.50 $3,121,514.05 No

Project delays due to weather, temperatures, and
material deliveries. Project remained within available
funding.

MRO Hangar and Associated
Improvements, FPR $7,957,822.18 $6,134,689.55 Yes Value engineering was utilized to extend project funds.

Planning and scheduling are essential elements in implementing controls on any project. From a budget perspective, AVCON takes
pride in completing the project scope without requesting any additional fees over those authorized from the outset of the project.
This has been demonstrated on our past assignments across the region, despite unforeseen conditions impacting projects, changes
in scope due to permitting or other factors, etc. The thorough identification of an accurate program at the start of each design effort
will ensure that the County / Airport minimizes or avoids entirely any surprises in professional fees or overall budget.

In addition to budget controls, AVCON is proud of our record in meeting Owner-established schedules for design and construction.
Our projects are completed within the original design and construction schedule, with rare exceptions. Exceptions to schedule
compliance are limited to those only where a delay was warranted due to factors outside of AVCON’s control (e.g. unforeseen
conditions, federal permitting, inclement weather, etc.) and those specifically authorized by the Owner.

Schedule management is an essential element of the overall client communication effort and will be a focus of this contract. County
/ PMZ staff will be invited to attend regularly scheduled coordination meetings or teleconferences for project-related discussions so
factors that may represent potential project delays can be addressed and resolved before adversely affecting the project schedule.

The following table demonstrates how our team has effectively managed projects to successful outcomes. Our reputation relies on
these successes, and we will deliver this same level of care for all PMZ projects.

ON-TIME / IN-BUDGET PERFORMANCE

REFERENCES

Client / Reference Description of Services Dates

Eric Payne, Airport Director
Ashe County Airport
(336) 982-5144
epayne@ashecountygov.com

AVCON has served as the General Consultant for Ashe County Airport since 2005 providing consulting,
planning, conceptual engineering, environmental study, design, bidding, and construction phase services
for various projects, including the Runway Extension; Airport Layout Plan Update; Runway, Taxiway, and
Apron Strengthening; Perimeter/Security Fence; Fuel Farm Facility; Land Acquisition; SWPPP and SPCCP
Plans; Partial Parallel Taxiway and Apron Expansion; and Obstruction Removal.

2005 -
Ongoing

Mark Davidson, AAE, Airport Director
Smith Reynolds Airport
(336) 767-6361
mark.davidson@smithreynolds.org

AVCON has served as general consultant to Smith Reynolds Airport and Forsyth County since 2007
providing planning, design, and construction phase services on a variety of projects, including: Runway
15-33 Rehabilitation; Airfield Pavement Rehabilitation (Runway, Taxiways, and Apron); Airfield Drainage
Improvements; Terminal Fencing; Taxiway Q Pre-design and Environmental Assessment; and Taxilane L
and Apron Expansion.

2007 -
Ongoing

Richard Barkes, Airport Director
North Carolina Global TransPark
(252) 523-1351 ext. 309
rbarkes@ncdot.gov

AVCON has served as a general consultant to the North Carolina Global TransPark Authority since 2008,
providing planning, design, and construction phase services on a variety of projects including: South
Cargo Apron; Taxiway Extension; Signage, and Fencing; Approach Clearing and Grading; and Updates to
the Airport Certification Manual and Airport Security Program Manual.

2008 -
Ongoing

Providing quality Architectural, Engineering, and Planning Consultant services requires a firm-wide dedication by the consultant. It
requires a consultant willing to partner with an airport to ensure the airport’s needs are met, regardless of contractual obligations.
Below is a list of some of the entities in North Carolina for whom we are currently providing exceptional services.

PROJECT APPROACH - CONTINUED



































220 HORIZON DRIVE, SUITE 100  s  RALEIGH, NC  s  27615  |  O: 984.459.8280  s  F: 984.459.8279
PARRISHANDPARTNERS.COM

PARRISH AND PARTNERS
of north carolina, pllc

Re:   RFQ for Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Consultant Services for Plymouth Municipal Airport

Dear Ms. Moscato and Selection Committee Members:

Parrish and Partners of North Carolina, PLLC (P&P) would 
be honored to serve Plymouth Municipal Airport (PMZ) and 
Washington County as your trusted on-call consultant. Our 
goal at P&P is to start every project with a tailored approach 
specifically prepared for our partner. The specialized project 
team for this contract has been structured to provide the 
County and PMZ with industry experts who bring decades 
of experience helping advance industrial growth at airports 
throughout the Carolinas.

We are proposing Dion Viventi, PE, CM, CFII, to serve as your 
Project Manager and Primary Point of Contact. He will be 
supported by discipline specialists/task leads based on the 
nature of each assignment. Dion will work closely with the 
County and Airport as an extension of staff, keeping everyone 
informed of project progress while overseeing the project 
team, schedule, and deliverables. 

As you complete your evaluation, I would like to note that 
we take pride in building long-term relationships with every 
client, and we achieve this by providing first-rate customer 
service, intensive quality control processes, close stakeholder 
coordination, and dedication to producing high quality 
deliverables at a reasonable cost.

If you have questions or need additional information please feel 
free to contact Dion any time.

Sincerely, 
Parrish and Partners of North Carolina, PLLC

Jeff Kirby, PE, President

Primary Point of Contact:
DION VIVENTI, PE, CM, CFII

Senior Project Manager 

O: 984.459.8273  l  M: 252.333.4224
dviventi@parrishandpartners.com

220 Horizon Dr., Ste. 100, Raleigh, NC 27615

We would be honored to partner with you!

June 14, 2024

Mary Moscato, Airport Development Director 
Plymouth Municipal Airport
1069 Plymouth Airport Road
Plymouth, NC 27962

mailto:dviventi%40parrishandpartners.com?subject=
https://www.linkedin.com/company/3611118/admin/dashboard/
https://www.parrishandpartners.com/
KMeyers
Text Box
Tabs, bookmarks, and hyperlinks have been added for your convenience.  

KMeyers
Text Box

KMeyers
Tabs, bookmarks, and hyperlinks have been added for your convenience.  

KMeyers



PAGE 2

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

B. FIRM EXPERIENCE & QUALIFICATIONS  

Since opening our doors in 2013, P&P's key objective is to provide a comprehensive set of highly qualified aviation 
planning and design professionals who have successfully completed a myriad of projects at airports of all sizes, and who 
are capable of responding at a moment’s notice with concise, proven solutions. This hits a cornerstone of our corporate 
philosophy, which is “unwavering client service.” 

Serving as the Prime Consulting Firm, P&P is geared to meet your specific architectural, engineering, and planning 
needs, and appreciates this opportunity to be a part of your team. Not only do we offer a wide spectrum of professional 
services to the aviation community, our team has first-hand knowledge of local practices and procedures. Our 
capabilities range from planning and feasibility studies to environmental document preparation; from preliminary 
design and construction documents to field and office construction services; and from program management services 
to aviation related industrial recruitment support and assistance.

The P&P Team has consistently provided these services to both commercial service and general aviation (GA) airports. 
Our experienced aviation engineers, planners, and designers have completed numerous airport projects ranging in 
size and complexity from Airport Master Plans and new air carrier runways at some of the country’s largest airports, 
to apron rehabilitation and airfield electrical improvements at small GA airports. Additionally, we offer comprehensive 
assistance in the areas of grant administration and state/federal grant coordination.

To further enhance our capabilities, we have partnered with Three Oaks Engineering (DBE), Terracon Consultants, 
Lindsey Architecture, and Walls Engineering (DBE). As proven on past collaborations, we will work together seamlessly 
to achieve great success on your projects. 

PARRISH PARTNERS
59  Total Professional Staff
24  Engineers & Planners
  5  Offices in the Carolinas

Accomplishments:
Celebrating 11 Years of Service
#1 Best Places to Work in Engineering by 
Best Companies Group (2024)
Best Employers in North Carolina & South 
Carolina (2018-2023)

“Our vision at Parrish & Partners is to be the firm of choice. This 
is achieved by maintaining a focus on people – a focus on 

providing the best service for our extraordinary clients and 
setting up our talented team for success.
We are proud, passionate, and committed. Our goal is 
to exceed each client’s expectation for personal service, 

timeliness, and budget on every project. We are not satisfied 
until our client is satisfied!” - Ed Parrish, PE, Chairman

In-House Services: 
PLANNING & ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION OTHER
• Master Plans / System Plans
• Environmental Reviews
• NEPA Documentation
• Noise / Land Use Studies
• Terminal Area Studies
• Site Selection Studies
• eALP / ALP Studies & AGIS Coord.
• Airspace / Approach Analysis

• Runways, Taxiways, Aprons
• Greenfield Airport Sites
• Access Roads / Parking 
• Airfield Lighting / NAVAIDS
• Drainage Improvements
• Airfield / Landside Structural 
• Security Fencing / Access Control
• Maintenance / Storage Facilities

• Land Acquisition
• Grants Administration
• Program Management
• Industrial Recruiting Assistance 
• Operational Efficiency Analysis
• Activation Planning
• Government / Community Relations
• Signage & Wayfinding Studies
• GIS Analyses & Support

We offer the perfect combination of relevant experience, expertise, and a quality-driven mind-set 
to perform all services associated with this airport capital improvement projects contract.



PAGE 3

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

PREVIOUS EXPERIENCE ON SIMILAR PROJECTS

The following table provides a sample of similar projects our staff is working on or has completed involving federal 
and state funding. Select in-depth descriptions for projects completed within the last five years are provided on the 
following pages. (NOTE: > Reselected)

ON-CALL SERVICES

 • Mount Airy/Surry County Airport (MWK), NC (>2018, 2024)
 • Statesville Regional Airport (SVH), NC (>2018, 2023)
 • Rocky Mount - Wilson Regional Airport (RWI), NC
 • Piedmont Triad International Airport (GSO), NC (>2019)
 • Elizabeth City Regional Airport (ECG), NC (>2019)
 • Rockingham County Shiloh Airport, (SIF), NC (>2021)
 • Asheville Regional Airport (AVL), NC
 • Johnston County Regional Airport (JNX), NC
 • Harnett Regional Jetport (HRJ), NC

 • Duplin County Airport (DPL), NC
 • Greenbrier Valley Airport (LWB), WV
 • Hanover County Municipal Airport (OFP), VA
 • Myrtle Beach International Airport (MYR), SC
 • Bamberg County Airport (99N), SC
 • Hummel Field Airport (W75), VA (>2021)
 • William M. Tuck Airport (W78), VA
 • Virginia Tech/Montgomery Executive Airport (BCB), VA 

(>2020)

APRONS TERMINAL AREA & HANGAR DEVELOPMENT 

 • Terminal Apron Expansion, GSO
 • Apron Rehabilitation, MWK
 • Apron Rehabilitation, ECG
 • Apron Rehabilitation, LWB
 • South GA Apron Rehabilitation, AVL
 • Expand Terminal Apron-South, AVL
 • Apron Rehabilitation, SIF
 • GA Apron & Hangar Development, SIF 
 • Construct Apron, BCB 

 • Boom Supersonic Final Assembly Line, GSO
 • Samaritan's Purse Airlift Response Center (MRO), GSO
 • Hangar Development, MWK
 • Corporate Area Development, SVH
 • Hangar Development, RWI
 • Terminal Space Study, MYR
 • Terminal Area Plan, Charlottesville-Albemarle Airport 

(CHO)

RUNWAYS LAND ACQUISITION & OBSTRUCTION CLEARING

 • Runway Rehabilitation Phases 1-4, GSO
 • Runway & Taxiway Extension, MWK
 • Runway 10-28 Safety Enhancements Program, SVH
 • Runway Rehabilitation, W78
 • Runway Rehabilitation, OFP
 • Runway Rehabilitation, LWB
 • Runway Rehabilitation, SIF

 • Multiple Land Acquisitions, MWK
 • Runway 18 & 36 Obstruction Clearing, MWK
 • Land Acquisition Assistance, SVH
 • US Coast Guard Land Acquisition, ECG
 • Runway 13-31 Obstruction Removal, SIF
 • Obstruction Removal, RWI

TAXIWAYS APPROACH LIGHTING & NAVAIDS

 • Taxiway Rehabilitation, MWK
 • Taxiway Extension Paving & Lighting, MWK
 • Construct Partial South Parallel Taxiway, SVH
 • Reconstruct Taxiway Lighting System, LWB
 • Taxiways A & M Rehabilitation, GSO (Owner's Rep.)

 • Install PAPI/REIL, Runway Lights & LED Taxiway Lights, 
MWK

 • Replace Glideslope & Localizer, SVH
 • Install PAPI/REIL, SIF 
 • Install PAPIs, W75
 • ALSF-2 Approach Lighting, GSO

MASTER PLAN / AIRPORT LAYOUT PLAN (ALP) UPDATES

 • ALP Update, MWK
 • ALP & Market Assessment, SVH
 • ALP Update, ECG
 • Master Plan Update, LWB

 • ALP Update, SIF
 • Master Plan/ALP, DPL
 • Master Plan Update, MYR
 • ALP Update, W75



PAGE 4

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

ON-CALL SERVICES, Mount Airy/Surry County Airport, NC 

P&P was selected for on-call consulting services in 2013, and reselected in 2018. Relevant experience within the past 
five years includes:     

 • GA Apron & Hangar Development Phase 1-2: Responsible for design and construction for site preparation and initial 
construction of large development areas; key project aspects included site grading, construction of an internal access 
roadway, preparation of hangar sites, permitting, and installation of new utilities (12/2020)

 • Torres Property Acquisition: Currently assisting with the acquisition of three parcels of land needed to construct 
additional T-hangars and provide a source of borrow soil for a planned taxiway project; responsible for coordinating 
fair market appraisals and surveys, and assisting the Airport Authority with negotiations (ongoing)

Contact: 
Mount Airy/Surry County Airport Authority – George Crater, Airport Manager; 336.401.8201, craterg@co.surry.nc.us
Scope of Services: 
Grant Management, Programming, Planning, Civil Design, Cost Estimating, Construction Phase Services, Environmental 
Documentation, Environmental Mitigation, Section 404 Permit & Mitigation Coordination

Pike Hangar Runway & Taxiway Rehab

ON-CALL SERVICES, Harnett Regional Jetport, NC 

P&P was selected in 2022 to provide on-call engineering and architectural services. Relevant experience within the 
past five years includes:     

 • New Terminal Building Construction Phase Services: Providing construction administration and oversight for the new 
7,035 SF terminal building currently being constructed, with tasks including (ongoing):

 – permitting assistance, including erosion control monitoring
 – construction oversight, including quality assurance (QA) testing and resident project representative (RPR)
 – review of contractor pay applications and quantities
 – conflict resolution through RFI and change orders
 – review of shop drawings
 – conducting bi-weekly project status meetings
 – part-time construction inspection for site and building construction
 – coordination of subconsultants
 – review of project schedules
 – coordination with County staff and Jetport Committee
 – punch list inspection and final inspection to ensure conformance with plans and specifications

 • Airport Land Acquisition: Providing environmental documentation, geotechnical investigations, airport planning, 
surveys, and coordination of appraisals to allow for reimbursement from NCDOA for the land purchase; property to be 
acquired was identified on the Airport Master Plan that is currently underway as being a short-term project in the CIP 
for the purpose of airport terminal area expansion and airport access road relocation (ongoing)

Contact: 
Harnett County – Brent Trout, County Manager; 910.893.7555, btrout@harnett.org
Scope of Services: 
Programming, Planning, Environmental Documentation, Land Acquisition, Agency Coordination, Civil Design, Construction Phase 
Services, Value-added Services, Cost Estimating

Public Meeting

mailto:craterg%40co.surry.nc.us?subject=
mailto:btrout%40harnett.org?subject=


PAGE 5

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

ON-CALL SERVICES, Statesville Regional Airport, NC 

P&P was selected in 2013 and reselected in 2018 and 2023 to provide on-call engineering, planning, and architectural 
services. Relevant experience within the past five years includes:  

 • Eastside Taxiway Lighting & Vault: Provided design and construction services for the installation of taxiway edge lights 
along east side partial parallel Taxiway B, as well as construction of a replacement airfield lighting vault; included 
installation of an automatic backup generator for the new airfield lighting vault, and replacement of the incandescent 
runway edge lights and threshold lights with new LED fixtures; scope revised due to additional grant funding to 
include rehabilitation of a portion of the Medium Intensity Approach Lighting System with Rail (MALSR) system and 
replacement of the Distance Measuring Equipment (7/2022)

 • East Corporate Development Area: Assisted with obtaining $9M from the state with no local match required for the 
design and construction of this $11M project that consisted of a 20,000 SY apron and 37,000 SF MRO hangar along the 
eastern portion of Taxiway B; also prepared the Categorical Exclusion (CE); new facility intended to house Victory Air 
will generate over 100 new aviation jobs at the Airport (12/2021)

 • Land Acquisition Assistance: Performed NEPA services for the acquisition of nine residential parcels located east of 
Taxiway F, contiguous with existing airport property; properties acquired comprise a small portion (33%) of the overall 
future aeronautical development proposed for this Central Corporate Area, as indicated on the current (2017) ALP; 
project consists of (ongoing): 

 – demolition of existing residential structures to be acquired as part of the Proposed Action 
 – construction of 305,000 SF of apron pavement, 16 new corporate hangars, and a new terminal building
 – approximately 21 acres of additional impervious surfaces at the Central Corporate Area
 – development considerations, such as potential hazardous materials located on the parcels
 – preparation of the Short Form Environmental Assessment (EA) and coordination with the North Carolina State 

Historic Preservation Office
 – acquisition efforts performed in accordance with FAA Advisory Circular 150/5100-17, Uniform Relocation Act, and 

other Federal policies
 – all properties surveyed, appraised, and cleared of NEPA requirements prior to any offer to purchase and/or 

negotiations with the landowner

Contact: 
City of Statesville – John Ferguson, Airport Manager; 
704.873.1111, jferguson@statesvillenc.net
Scope of Services: 
Civil Design, Airfield Electrical, Programming/Planning, EA/CE, 
Permitting Support, Grant Management, Construction/Bidding 
Phase, Resident Inspection

ON-CALL SERVICES, William M. Tuck Airport, VA 

P&P was selected in 2017 to provide airport engineering and consulting services. Relevant experience within the past 
five years includes:     

 • Wildlife Fencing: Installation of fencing not only assisted as a wildlife deterrent from adjacent fields and woodlands, 
but also aided in security of the airfield from outside threats; project consisted of (2022):

 – FAA compliant chain link fencing along the perimeter of the airfield within the confines of Tuck Airport Road, Wolf 
Trap Road, and the surrounding forests

 – dual swing manual vehicle gates at main airfield entrance points and strategic maintenance access locations
 – pedestrian swing gate at one location near the terminal building for user access
 – minor clearing and grubbing to ensure proper installation of fencing

Contact: 
Halifax County – Scott Simpson, County Administrator; 434.476.3300, srs@co.halifax.va.us
Scope of Services: 
Civil Design, Bidding Phase Assistance, Cost Estimating, Grant Management, Construction Phase Services, Project Management, 
Environmental Documentation

Land Acquisition

mailto:jferguson%40statesvillenc.net?subject=
mailto:srs%40co.halifax.va.us?subject=


PAGE 6

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

ON-CALL SERVICES, Rocky Mount - Wilson Regional Airport, NC 

P&P was awarded a General Consultant Services contract in 2019. Relevant experience within the past five years 
includes:     

 • GA Hangar Development Planning: Responsible for securing land and providing multiple large corporate hangar 
development sites for prospective tenants; also serving as a technical advisor for development and lease negotiations 
(ongoing)

 • Aviation Economic Development Planning: Facilitated coordination with the Airport Authority, as well as State and 
Federal legislators and officials to create visioning documents and presentations to help obtain funding for the first 
phase of a long-term aviation industrial development on 
the south side of the Airport that is anticipated to create 
thousands of jobs at ultimate buildout (2/2024)

Contact: 
Rocky Mount - Wilson Airport Authority – Jarrett Moss, Interim 
Airport Director; 252.446.3189, director@krwiairport.com
Scope of Services: 
Civil Design, Bidding Phase Assistance, Cost Estimating, Grant 
Management, Construction Phase Services, Project Management,  
Environmental Documentation, Section 404 Permit, Corporate 
Recruitment Assistance

ON-CALL SERVICES, Asheville Regional Airport, NC 

P&P was selected in 2018 to serve as an on-call consultant. Relevant experience within the past five years includes: 
 • Terminal Apron Expansion: Reviewed existing conditions and coordinated the expansion project with various local 

agencies, which consisted of (3/2022): 
 – over 120,000 CY of embankment
 – 13,500 SY of concrete pavement
 – embankment of approximately 40'
 – construction of a retaining wall
 – wetland mitigation and significant stormwater drainage design due to construction over an existing stream

 • South GA Apron Rehabilitation: Reviewed existing pavement conditions and designed a project to rehabilitate a 
portion of the GA apron to accommodate heavier aircraft, which consisted of (12/2022): 

 – removal and replacement of approximately 14,000 SY of airfield pavement
 – design and bid asphalt and concrete pavement options for funding flexibility
 – construction phasing and access were of critical concern due to the proximity of the project work area(s) to the 

ARFF facility, fuel truck traffic, GA activity, and other airport tenant movements
 – close coordination with airport staff to design a construction phasing plan that would minimize disruption to 

airfield activities while maximizing the contractor’s work area(s) and production

Contact: 
Greater Asheville Regional Airport Authority – Jared Merrill, VP-Planning; 828.209.5113, jmerrill@flyavl.com
Scope of Services: 
Project Management, Civil Design, Cost Estimating, Construction Phase Services, Bidding Phase Assistance, RPR, Environmental 
Coordination

Apron Expansion GA Apron Rehabilitation

R
oc

ky
 M

ou
nt

 - 
W

ils
on

 R
eg

io
na

l A
irp

or
t

Te
rm

in
al

 A
re

a 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t C

on
ce

pt
s

Scale: 1" = 300'

Exhibit 2.3
Alternative 2
Northwest

N

Legend:

Phase 1

Phase 2

Phase 3

80' x 80' Box Hangar
Development

80' x 80' Box Hangar
Development

100' x 100' Box Hangar
Development

80' x 80' Box Hangar
Development

80' x 80' Box Hangar
Development

80' x 80' Box Hangar
Development

Secondary Access Road

Demolition

ADG II, TDG 2

ADG II, TDG 2

ADG III, TDG 3

100' x 100' Box Hangar
Development

60' x 60' Box Hangar
Development

Proposed hangar expansion development concept

mailto:director%40krwiairport.com?subject=
mailto:jmerrill%40flyavl.com?subject=


PAGE 7

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

ON-CALL SERVICES, Piedmont Triad International Airport, NC 

P&P was selected in 2016 for extension of staff services, then selected in 2018 to provide on-call services for 
construction administration, construction management, and inspection services, and reselected in 2019 to provide 
on-call engineering consulting services. Relevant experience within the past five years includes: 

 • Runway 5R-23L Rehabilitation Phase 1-4: Assisted with reviews of the runway design and performed construction 
management and inspection for the runway program, which consisted of (7/2023):

 – Phase 1: reconstruction of approximately 4,700' of Runway 23L
 – Phase 2: placement of fill and installation of new drainage infrastructure to correct grade deficiencies between 

Runway 5R-23L and parallel Taxiway M 
 – Phase 3: reconstruction of approximately 4,500' of Runway 23L   
 – Phase 4: reconstruction of the final 801' of Runway 23L, the blast pad, connections to Taxiway A and Runway 13-32, 

complete replacement of the MALSR, and relocation/replacement of portions of the Instrument Landing System 
(ILS) 

 • Terminal Replacement Program – South Concourse Expansion: As a subconsultant to Lindsey Architecture, 
responsible for planning and civil engineering for the expansion of the South Concourse, to include passenger 
boarding bridge analysis, aircraft movement analysis and planning, apron design, and drainage design (ongoing)

Contact: 
Piedmont Triad Airport Authority – Lorin Akins, Project Manager; 
336.665.5600, akinsl@gsoair.org
Scope of Services: 
Construction Management, Construction Administration, Construction 
Inspection, Civil Design, Planning

ON-CALL SERVICES, Elizabeth City Regional Airport, NC 

P&P was selected in 2014 for a general consultant services contract, and reselected in 2019. Relevant experience 
within the past five years includes: 

 • Elizabeth City State University (ECSU) Aviation Facility Phase 1 & 2: Secured funding and designed a new terminal 
apron, airport terminal, 16,000 SF maintenance hangar, T-hangar taxilanes, and box hangars for the ultimate buildout 
of airside land; through multiple funding sources and legislative earmarks, this ongoing program will yield significant 
revenue and support operations from new aircraft tenants and ECSU (ongoing)

 – Aviation Facility Phase 1: planning, design, and construction of a large asphalt apron, utilities, parking, and site 
improvements to serve the new terminal; also included architectural planning for hangars and office space; assisted 
the Airport Authority with project funding through the State

 – Aviation Facility Phase 2: design and construction for the expansion of the new terminal apron, new terminal, 
hangars, utilities, and conversion of the old terminal into office space for ECSU’s flight program; heavily assisted 
with obtaining legislative earmarks from the State General Assembly for 100% project funding and reimbursement 
of recent local matches on the initial apron construction that was funded through State Apportionment Appraisal 
Services for Land Acquisition: Assisted with the appraisal of approximately 15 acres belonging to ECSU; the land, 
which is no longer needed by the ESCU Aviation Science Program, is adjacent to the Airport Authority’s Aviation 
Industrial Park (2020)

Contact: 
Elizabeth City/Pasquotank County Airport Authority – Scott Hinton, 
Airport Manager; 252.489.8977, manager@ecgairport.com
Scope of Services: 
Civil Design, Bidding Phase Assistance, Cost Estimating, Grant 
Management, Construction Phase Services, Project Management, 
Environmental Documentation, Section 404 Permit, Corporate 
Recruitment Assistance

Runway Rehabilitation

ECSU Aviation Facility

mailto:akinsl%40gsoair.org?subject=
mailto:manager%40ecgairport.com?subject=


PAGE 8

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

EXPERIENCE WORKING WITH FAA & NCDOA REGULATIONS & PROCEDURES 

Both Dion Viventi, PE, CM, CFII, and Tim Gruebel, PE, have decades of experience working with the 
FAA on discretionary and entitlement funding projects. We also provide PMZ with an unmatched mix 
of former NCDOT and NCDOA staff who have served in leadership positions. Each of these personnel 
are intimately familiar with federal and state regulations, policies and procedures, protocols, and 
most importantly, the correct methods of communication. Our team possesses invaluable 
relationships with FAA and NCDOA staff, as well as numerous other agencies, which will prove 
beneficial by efficiently and effectively executing projects to contain costs and achieve schedules. 

P&P's leadership staff has routinely assisted airport owners with: 

 • Preparing grant applications and supporting materials
 • Securing funding at every level: local, state, and FAA
 • Tracking and reporting on project expenditures/grant drawdowns
 • Preparation of close-out forms
 • Leveraging access to special state and federal funding
 • Coordinating Modifications to Standards material and approvals

The pie chart to the right presents a snapshot of 
project funding at airports for which P&P Team 
members have worked. During the last three 
years, P&P's aviation clients have received over 
$112 million of FAA/State discretionary funds for 
critically needed improvement projects. 

Our team regularly works closely with Airport 
Sponsors to establish goals and a vision for the 
airport. We work to make that vision a reality 
by getting your projects funded through traditional and alternative funding sources. Dion will assist PMZ at any level 
needed with all of your project planning and funding needs to help your projects succeed. 

P&P's key leadership team has worked with the FAA, specifically the Southern Region and the Memphis ADO, for their 
entire careers. Through industry involvement, we have historically participated in draft Advisory Circular reviews, 
furnishing valuable comments to the FAA and the industry on best practices.

FAA/State Discretionary: $102,000,000 Non-Primary Entitlement: $19,680,609

Local: $11,229,133 Alternative Funding: $157,000,000

FAA/State Discretionary: 
$112,531,591
Non-Primary Entitlement: 
$19,680,609

Local:
$11,229,133

Alternative Funding: 
$157,000,000

Over the past five years, we have assisted Statesville Regional Airport in maintaining a continuous stream of 
funding to move projects forward. We have helped the Airport secure more than $35 million for upcoming 
projects with no local match, and the NCDOA has indicated that more is on the way! 

Ground-breaking ceremony held at 
SVH on May 9, 2024, for the new 
terminal building that will span 
an impressive 22,900 square feet 
across three floors. As an on-call 
consultant, P&P is managing the 
project and assisted in securing 
the necessary funds for the $12.5 
million terminal building. 



PAGE 9

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

ON-TIME / IN BUDGET PERFORMANCE ON PROJECTS

P&P conducts Value Engineering (VE) assessments on all projects we perform. We are continually looking for cost 
savings in projects and programs without sacrificing project quality. As your Project Manager, Dion will conduct and 
direct VE assessments and analysis. Dion will work with you to find the most expeditious and cost-effective path to 
making your vision a reality. The following is a snapshot of state/federally-funded projects completed without having 
major cost escalations or overruns:

PROJECT NAMES
COST COMPLETION

BUDGET FINAL SCHEDULE ACTUAL
ELIZABETH CITY REGIONAL AIRPORT, NC
+T-Hangar Taxilane & Drainage Rehabilitation $239,761 $251,179 5/11/2019 5/11/2019
STATESVILLE REGIONAL AIRPORT, NC
Eastside Taxiway Lighting & Vault Construction  $1,547,179  $1,547,179 7/16/2022 7/11/2022
MOUNT AIRY/SURRY COUNTY AIRPORT, NC
*Aircraft Storage Hangar $1,377,000 $1,525,623 12/30/2019 12/29/2019
ROCKINGHAM COUNTY SHILOH AIRPORT, NC
Runway 13-31 Rehabilitation $4,025,915 $3,683,789 7/8/2020 6/4/2019
Runway Lighting Rehabilitation $360,910 $359,240 4/1/2020 3/20/2020
WILLIAM M TUCK AIRPORT, VA
Runway 19 Rehabilitation $2,413,860 $2,135,107 7/5/2019 7/3/2019
ASHEVILLE REGIONAL AIRPORT, NC
Rehabilitate South GA Apron  $7,319,269  $6,223,976 12/17/2022 12/14/2022
* Owner Requested Work Added to Contract         +Contractor Added Material

LOCATION OF OFFICES TO PERFORM WORK  

With team members in offices throughout the Southeast, we pride ourselves on maintaining maximum efficiency 
and being highly successful while working seamlessly together utilizing available technology. Your proposed Project 
Manager/Lead Civil Engineer, Principal-In-Charge, and Lead Aviation Planner are all based in our Raleigh office. 
They will be supported by our highly qualified engineers, planners, designers, and technicians located in Greensboro 
and Charlotte who will be utilized for airside and landside design projects, as well as exceptional airport planners in 
Charleston and environmental specialists in Columbia.  

Dion is a licensed pilot and he is readily available and highly responsive. Working directly with P&P staff is a team of 
qualified engineers and technicians that will serve key/critical roles. We are ready to begin work immediately! 

 UNPARALLELED CONVENIENCE

Parrish & Partners 
220 Horizon Dr., Ste. 100
Raleigh, NC 27615
1801 Stanley Rd., Ste. 315
Greensboro, NC 27407
6701 Carmel Rd., Ste. 210
Charlotte, NC 28226
140 Stoneridge Dr., Ste. 500
Columbia, SC 29210
170 Meeting St., Ste. 110
Charleston, SC 29401

Three Oaks Engineering (DBE)  
324 Blackwell St., Ste. 1200, Durham, NC 27701

Terracon Consultants  
314 Beacon Dr., Winterville, NC 28590

Lindsey Architecture
324 S. Elm St., Ste. 500, Greensboro, NC 27401

Walls Engineering  (DBE)
8226 Creedmoor Rd., Ste. 201, Raleigh, NC 27613



PAGE 10

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

C. PROJECT TEAM   
ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

PROJECT MANAGER
Dion Viventi, PE, CM, CFII (P&P-Ra)

LEGEND
 Key Staff    

_%    % of Availability (based on a 40-hour work week)

Firm
P&P – Parrish & Partners

TO – Three Oaks Engineering (DBE)
TE – Terracon Consultants 
LA – Lindsey Architecture 

WE – Walls Engineering (DBE) 

Office Location
Ra – Raleigh, NC Du – Durham, NC
Gb – Greensboro, NC Co – Columbia, SC
Ct – Charlotte, NC Ch – Charleston, SC

Wi – Winterville, NC

Laura Stevens, AICP, 
      ENV SP (P&P-Co)

Jennifer Martin, PE, CM (P&P-Ra)
Adam Efird, PWS (TO-Du)
Nancy Oberle (TO-Du)

ENVIRONMENTAL / NEPA

Dion Viventi, PE, CM, CFII
 (P&P-Ra)

Tim Gruebel, PE (P&P-Ra)
Jon McCalmont, PE (P&P-Ct)
Joseph Wilbourne, PE (P&P-Gb)
Hunter Boniface, PE (P&P-Ct)

AIRFIELD / LANDSIDE

SENIOR ADVISOR
Jeff Kirby, PE (P&P-Gb)

Richard Walls, PE (WE-Ra)
Justin Tudor, PE (WE-Ra)

ELECTRICAL

Jennifer Martin, PE, CM
(P&P-Ra)

Hillary Crawford, EIT (P&P-Ch)

PLANNING

Don Alexander, PE (P&P-Ct)
UTILITY DESIGN / COORDINATION

Rod Lindsey, AIA, NCARB, LEED AP 
(LA-Gb)

 ARCHITECTURE

Jennifer Martin, PE, CM (P&P-Ra)
Cindy Pearce (P&P-Gb)

LAND ACQUISITION / 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Laura Stevens, AICP, ENV SP (P&P-Co)
Hillary Crawford, EIT (P&P-Ch)

PUBLIC INVOLVEMENTL'Quaan Atkinson (P&P-Gb)
DRONE SERVICES

PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE
Tim Gruebel, PE (P&P-Ra)

Point of 
Contact

 Darrick Olinger (P&P-Gb)

Tim Brister (P&P-Gb)
Dustin Moore (P&P-Gb)
Mike Mauldin (P&P-Co)

CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES

Andrew Gliniak, PE (TE-Wi)
GEOTECHNICAL

James Mason, PWS (TO-Du)
 NATURAL RESOURCES Preferred Local / DBE firm(s) based on

availability and performance

QA TESTING / SURVEYING

Cindy Pearce (P&P-Gb)
GRANT ASSISTANCE 

Jon McCalmont, PE (P&P-Ct)
Jeff Kirby, PE (P&P-Gb)

QUALITY ASSURANCE 

85%

60%

35%

65%

70%

100%



PAGE 11

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

KEY TEAM MEMBERS

DION VIVENTI, PE, CM, CFII, Senior Project Manager – Aviation
Years of Experience: 31     
Location: Raleigh, NC
Education: B.S., Civil Engineering, Rutgers University; A.A., Pre-Engineering, Cumberland County 
Community College 
Registration: Professional Engineer (NC 24643); Certified Member, AAAE; Commercial and Instrument Rated Pilot, 
FAA; Flight Instructor, CFII, FAA

Dion is a Senior Project Manager with 31 years of diverse experience, nearly two decades of which have been in the 
aviation industry. He brings a unique perspective to aviation project management, with a career spanning from service 
in the US Air Force as a pilot to engineering design, flight instruction, project management at NCDOA, leadership in 
the NC Airports Association, and most recently airport management as Airport Director at Rocky Mount – Wilson 
Regional Airport. Dion will leverage his vast knowledge of airport project management to assist clients with growing 
and improving their airports and the impact they have in their local communities. He will be available for attendance 
of public hearings and board meetings as required by the County. Relevant experience prior to joining P&P:      

 • Rocky Mount – Wilson Regional Airport, NC (Aug. 2016 – Oct. 2023): Airport Director
 • Elizabeth City Regional Airport, NC (Jan. 2014 – Jul. 2016): Airport Manager
 • Runway, Taxiway & Apron Overlay, Harnett Regional Jetport, NC: Airport Project Manager (PM)
 • Approach Clearing & Land Acquisition, Cape Fear Regional Jetport, NC: Airport PM
 • Apron Rehabilitation, Anson County Airport, NC: Airport PM
 • ILS Improvements, Anson County Airport, NC: Airport PM
 • New Terminal & GA Ramp, Albert J. Ellis Airport, NC: Airport PM
 • Runway & Taxiway Pavement Rehabilitation, Asheville Regional Airport, NC: Airport PM
 • Land Acquisition & Approach Clearing, Curtis L. Brown Field, NC: Airport PM
 • Parallel Taxiway Extension, Duplin County Airport, NC: Airport PM
 • New Terminal Building, Duplin County Airport, NC: Airport PM
 • Ramp Rehabilitation, Elizabeth City Regional Airport, NC: Airport PM

TIM GRUEBEL, PE, Operations Manager / Principal – Aviation
Years of Experience: 20
Location: Raleigh, NC
Education: B.S., Civil Engineering, University of Central Florida
Registration: Professional Engineer (NC 041787)

Tim has a comprehensive range of experience that includes aviation, commercial, and industrial project design and 
construction and project management. Tim’s expertise in design, planning, and construction of airport facilities 
includes drainage design and master plans, industrial MRO facilities, hangar development, ARFF facilities, commercial 
and GA terminals, terminal access, and revenue control facilities. He also has extensive experience assisting airport 
authorities with obtaining funding for improvement projects and economic development projects through traditional 
and non-traditional sources. Relevant experience includes:      

 • Boom Supersonic Final Assembly Line (Design-Build (D-B)), Piedmont Triad International Airport, NC: PM
 • Federal Funding Assistance, Elizabeth City Regional Airport, NC: PM
 • Aviation Facility Phase 1 & 2, Elizabeth City Regional Airport, NC: PM
 • HAECO MRO Hangar (D-B), Piedmont Triad International Airport, NC: Airport Authority Representative
 • Samaritan's Purse Parking & Airside Expansion, Piedmont Triad International Airport, NC: PM
 • Lighting Rehabilitation, Rockingham County Shiloh Airport, NC: Construction Phase PM
 • Apron Rehabilitation, Rockingham County Shiloh Airport, NC: Construction PM
 • T-Hangar Taxilane Drainage Rehabilitation, Elizabeth City Regional Airport, NC: PM
 • Corporate Area Development Phase 1, Statesville Regional Airport, NC: PM

Project Manager / 
Lead Civil 

Principal-In- 
Charge



PAGE 12

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

JEFF KIRBY, PE, President
Years of Experience: 36 
Location: Greensboro, NC
Education: B.S., Civil Engineering, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University 
Registration: Professional Engineer (NC 021009)

Jeff is President of P&P and responsible for all aviation-related activities within the firm, including overall technical 
guidance, project management, client relations, and business development. With 33 years of his 36-year career 
dedicated to the aviation consulting industry, Jeff has assisted airports in capital improvement projects ranging in 
size from $50,000 to $70 million, including five new runways and four new GA airports. He has been involved with all 
aspects of airport development, including project planning, design, construction oversight, and grant management at 
both GA and air carrier airports. Relevant experience includes:  

 • On-Call Professional Services: Project Director  
 - Piedmont Triad International Airport, NC
 - Asheville Regional Airport, NC 
 - Mount Airy/Surry County Airport, NC 
 - Elizabeth City Regional Airport NC
 - Statesville Regional Airport, NC
 - Rockingham County Shiloh Airport, NC

 • Corporate Area Development Site Preparation, Statesville Regional Airport, NC: Project Director 
 • Apron Rehabilitation, Elizabeth City Regional Airport, NC: Project Director
 • Expand Terminal Apron South, Asheville Regional Airport, NC: Project Director 
 • Apron Rehabilitation, Mount Airy/Surry County Airport, NC: PM
 • Taxiway Lighting Rehabilitation, PAPI, REIL & Guidance Sign, Statesville Regional Airport, NC: Project Director
 • Terminal Area Development, Mount Airy/Surry County Airport, NC: PM

JENNIFER MARTIN, PE, CM, Senior Project Manager – Aviation
Years of Experience: 37
Location: Raleigh, NC
Education: B.S., Civil Engineering & B.S., Mathematics Education, North Carolina State University
Certifications: Professional Engineer (NC 026985); AAAE Certified Member

Jennifer offers 33 years of experience with NCDOT, including having served as the Planning and Environmental Program 
Manager for NCDOA (2008-2018). Jennifer is an expert in the FAA State Block Grant Program (SBGP) for project grant 
reimbursement, having worked closely with airport sponsors to ensure grants provided a percentage of the cost for 
preliminary engineering, property acquisition, and construction for improvement projects. She assisted with planning 
and engineering scopes of work, fees, and fee negotiations; coordinated FAA approval of design and construction; and 
reviewed and approved invoices in accordance with the FAA Airport Improvement Program and federal and state grant 
assurances. 

Jennifer facilitated production of the 2015 North Carolina Airports System Plan, 2016 Program Guidance Handbook, 
2016 North Carolina Aviation Development Task Force Report, and 2016 Economic Impact of Airports in North Carolina 
report and seeks to leverage the power of these documents to help airports realize their potential as economic 
generators. Relevant experience includes: 

 • Williams Road Realignment for Runway Improvements EA, Coastal Carolina Regional Airport, NC: NCDOT Liaison
 • Airport Master Plan, Harnett Regional Jetport, NC: PM
 • Airport Master Plan, Duplin County Airport, NC: PM
 • Duplin Commons Master Plan, Kenansville, NC: PM

Senior Advisor

Lead Planner



PAGE 13

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

LAURA STEVENS, AICP, ENV SP, Operations Manager / Principal – Environmental 
Years of Experience: 31
Location: Columbia, SC
Education: Master of Earth and Environmental Resources Management; B.S., Marine Science, 
University of South Carolina 
Certifications: American Institute of Certified Planners; Envision Sustainability Professional 

Laura has 31 years of experience preparing environmental documentation and permits for surface transportation and 
aviation projects. After beginning her career in the field conducting wetland delineations and protected species field 
surveys, she is now responsible for project management tasks, as well as assessing potential project impacts to natural 
and human resources, preparing NEPA documents, Clean Water Act Section 404/401 permitting, public involvement, 
and agency coordination. Laura is a strong researcher and writer with excellent working relationships with many 
transportation and environmental agency personnel. Relevant experience includes: 

 • Environmental Assessment for Runway 10-28 Safety Enhancement Program, Statesville Regional Airport, NC: 
Environmental Lead

 • Categorical Exclusion for South Corporate Area Development, Statesville Regional Airport, NC: Senior 
Environmental Planner

 • New Aviation Facility, Elizabeth City Regional Airport, NC: Environmental Lead
 • Master Plan Update, Myrtle Beach International Airport, SC: Senior Environmental Planner
 • Written Re-evaluation – Runway Extension & Associated Projects, Mount Airy/Surry County Airport, NC: Senior 

Environmental Planner
 • Categorical Exclusion for New Aviation Facility, Elizabeth City Regional Airport, NC: Senior Environmental Planner
 • Categorical Exclusion for Proposed Taxiway Lighting Reconstruction, Greenbrier Valley Airport, WV: Senior 

Environmental Planner
 • Airport Master Plan Update, Greenbrier Valley Airport, WV: Environmental Planner
 • Airport Master Plan Update, Mid-Ohio Valley Regional Airport, WV: Environmental Planner
 • Environmental Impact Review – Runway Realignment, Hummel Field Airport, VA: Senior Environmental Planner
 • ALP Update, Hummel Field Airport, VA: Senior Environmental Planner

DARRICK OLINGER, Construction Services Supervisor
Years of Experience: 46
Location: Greensboro, NC

Darrick has 46 years of experience in both airside and landside construction projects. He has airside inspection and 
testing experience with soils, aggregate, bituminous and PCC concrete, and airfield lighting. He also has underground 
utility installation inspection and erosion and sediment control compliance inspection experience. Darrick’s 
responsibilities have included quality assurance oversight of contractor quality control compliance, documentation 
of contractor daily activities, and verification of contractor monthly pay application requests, as well as providing 
supervision and protection of the owner’s interest by leading and managing the development of plans and 
specifications to ensure that design and construction meets the client’s goals and project’s programming guidelines. 
Relevant experience includes: 

 • Apron Rehabilitation, Greenbrier Valley Airport, WV: Resident Project Representative
 • Taxiway A Lighting Rehabilitation, Statesville Regional Airport, NC: Construction Services Supervisor
 • Runway 5R-23L Rehabilitation Phase 1, Piedmont Triad International Airport, NC: Resident Project Representative
 • Apron Rehabilitation, Mount Airy/Surry County Airport, NC: Construction Services Supervisor
 • Ramp Rehabilitation, Elizabeth City Regional Airport, NC: Construction Services Supervisor 
 • Holly Springs Road Relocation, Mount Airy/Surry County Airport, NC: Construction Services Supervisor

Lead Env. 
Planner 

Lead 
Construction



PAGE 14

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

ADDITIONAL TEAM MEMBERS

Below are brief credentials of additional personnel. Full standard resumes can be provided upon request.

PERSONNEL YEARS 
OF EXP. LOCATION EDUCATION / CERTIFICATIONS / RELEVANT PROJECTS

Jon 
McCalmont, PE 24 Charlotte, NC

Professional Engineer (NC); B.S., Civil Engineering
 • Rehabilitate South GA Apron, AVL: PM
 • Expand Terminal Apron South, AVL: PM
 • Hangar Site Development, BCB: PM for Construction Phase Services

Joseph 
Wilbourne, PE 8 Greensboro, NC

Professional Engineer (NC); B.S., Civil Engineering
 • GA Apron & Aircraft Storage Hangars, MWK: Design Engineer
 • East Corporate Area, Ph 1, SVH: Design Engineer
 • South Corporate Apron Development, SVH: Lead Designer

Hunter 
Boniface, PE 6 Charlotte, NC

Professional Engineer (NC); B.S., Civil Engineering
 • Rehabilitate South GA Apron, AVL: Assistant PM
 • Terminal Apron South Expansion, AVL: Assistant PM
 • Install Security Fencing, LWB: Assistant PM

Hillary 
Crawford, EIT 6 Charleston, SC

Engineer-In-Training; B.S., Civil Engineering
 • Airport Master Plan Update, HRJ: Aviation Planner
 • South Terminal Concourse Study, GSO: Aviation Planner
 • Airport Master Plan, DPL: Aviation Planner

Tim 
Brister 18 Greensboro, NC

Multiple CE&I Certifications
 • *Rehabilitate South Apron, GSO: PM
 • South Parallel Taxiway - East, SVH: PM
 • Runway 5R-32L Rehabilitation, GSO: PM

Dustin 
Moore 12 Greensboro, NC

Multiple CE&I Certifications
 • Greene Street Ph 2 Improvements, Richland Co., SC: Inspector
 • *Village Point Drive, Forsyth Co., NC: Lead Roadway

Mike 
Mauldin 27 Columbia, SC

Multiple CE&I Certifications
 • Rehabilitate South GA Apron, AVL: RPR
 • Greene Street Ph 2 Improvements, Richland Co., SC: Senior Inspector

Don 
Alexander, PE 26 Charlotte, NC

Professional Engineer (NC); M.S., Water Resource Engineering; B.S., Civil Engineering; B.S., 
Applied Mathematics

 • I-85 Reconstruct & Widen D-B, Ph 1 & 2, Spartanburg/Cherokee Co., SC: Lead Hydraulics Engineer
 • SCDOT Statewide Bridge Scour Assessment: Hydraulics Engineer

L'Quaan 
Atkinson 4 Greensboro, NC

B.S., Civil Engineering
 • Runway 10 Safety Area Improvements, SVH: CADD Technician/Junior Inspector
 • Samaritan’s Purse Hangar, GSO: CADD Technician/Junior Inspector

Cindy 
Pearce 5 Greensboro, NC

B.A., Politics; B.S., Accounting
 • Apron Rehabilitation, MWK: Grant Manager
 • Airport Improvement/Debt Service (2021 SCIF Funds), SIF: Grant Manager

Adam
Efird, PWS 15 Durham, NC

Professional Wetland Scientist; NC Surface Water Identification & Training (SWITC), NCWAM, 
NCSAM; B.S., Biology; Master of Natural Resources

 • NCDOT Environmental Analysis Unit On-Call Contract, Statewide, NC: Environmental Scientist
 • NCDOT Project ATLAS, Statewide, NC: Protected Species Modeler

James
Mason, PWS 23 Durham, NC

Professional Wetland Scientist; M.S., Ornithology/Ecology; B.A., Biology
 • Wake Bus Rapid Transit (BRT): Southern/Western BRT, Wake Co., NC: Environmental Scientist
 • Wake BRT: New Bern Avenue BRT, Wake Co., NC: Environmental Scientist

Nancy
Oberle 10 Durham, NC

M.E.M., Water Resources; B.S., Environmental Science
 • NCDOT I-95 D-B, Cumberland/Harnett Co., NC: PM
 • AMC Lynches River Quarry, Chesterfield/Lancaster Co., SC: PM

Andrew
Gliniak, PE 15 Winterville, NC

Professional Engineer (NC); B.S., Civil Engineering
 • Moss East Retaining Wall, Washington, NC: Geotechnical Engineer
 • Lenoir Aviation Center, ISO: Geotechnical Engineer

Rod Lindsey, AIA, 
NCARB 26 Greensboro, NC

Registered Architect (NC); LEED Accredited Professional; NCARB Certified; B.Arch.
 • New Airport Terminal, SVH: Architect
 • Terminal Modernization, GSO: Architect

Richard 
Walls, PE 30 Raleigh, NC

Professional Engineer (NC); B.S., Electrical Engineering
 • Crossfield Taxiway, GSO: Electrical Engineer
 • Runway 05R MALSR, GSO: Electrical Engineer

Justin 
Tudor, PE 11 Raleigh, NC

Professional Engineer (NC); B.S., Civil Engineering
 • Runway Security Gate Enhancements, RDU: Electrical Design Manager
 • Runway Replacement, RDU: Project Engineer

*Experience prior to joining P&P



PAGE 15

Architectural, Engineering, and Planning 
Plymouth Municipal Airport

D. REFERENCES 
At P&P, our clients are our top priority. We are dedicated to providing exceptional client service and quality on every 
project. Discover firsthand accounts from the following three references who have worked directly with our P&P Team 
for on-call planning, engineering, and construction services.

Scott Hinton, Airport Manager 
Elizabeth City Regional Airport

1028 Consolidated Road
Elizabeth City, NC 27909

252.489.8977
manager@ecgairport.com

John Ferguson, Airport Manager
Statesville Regional Airport

301 S. Center Street
Statesville, NC 28677

704.873.1111
jferguson@statesvillenc.net

Phil Lanier, Airport Director
Johnston County Regional Airport 

3149 Swift Creek Road
Smithfield, NC 27577

919.934.0992
phil.lanier@jnxairport.com

HEAR WHAT OUR CLIENTS HAVE TO SAY...
"I very much appreciate the aviation engineering knowledge shown by Parrish 
& Partners staff. Their quick response to any issues we may have has been 
excellent. In our project discussions, I feel they are more of a partner with us 
rather than just a contractor working for the Airport Authority” 
– George Crater, Airport Manager, MWK

”LWB has worked directly with Parrish & Partners to assist us with numerous 
services including our AIP, apron rehab, taxiway lighting, and the writing of our 
Airport Master Plan, to name a few. I have been impressed with Jon McCalmont 
and his staff. Jon has always been very knowledgeable, professional, and 
efficient. He is extremely responsive to our needs and always makes a special trip 
to WV to attend all of our Airport Authority Board meetings.” 
– Brian Belcher, Former Airport Director, LWB

“Incredibly responsive and engaged. Top shelf work that reflects extensive 
industry experience and an in depth understanding of our airport and the unique 
challenges we face. A true partner.“ 
– Scott Hinton, Airport Manager, ECG

"Parrish & Partners is always available and keeps an open line of communication 
with MYR and our team.” 
– Breck Dunne, Director of Airport Development, MYR

”It is my pleasure and an honor to recommend Parrish & Partners to be the 
Engineers of Record. We had several projects that were stalling and when Parrish 
& Partners came on board, they picked up the slack and ran with it. We are now 
over 50% complete with building a new terminal, have a new ALP and Master 
Plan and are looking at additional runway projects." 
– Lewis Weatherspoon, Harnett County Board of Commissioners, District 4

mailto:manager%40ecgairport.com?subject=
mailto:jferguson%40statesvillenc.net?subject=
mailto:phil.lanier%40jnxairport.com?subject=


STATEMENT OF
QUALIFICATIONS FOR

Architectural, Engineering, and
Planning Consultant Services

for 
PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL

AIRPORT
(PMZ)

JUNE 14, 2024



TALBERT & BRIGHT

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024

1 

June 14, 2024 

Ms. Mary Moscato, Airport Development Director 

Plymouth Municipal Airport  

1069 Plymouth Airport Road 

Plymouth, NC 27962 

RE: Qualifications Statement for Architectural, Engineering, 

and Planning Consultant Services for PMZ 

Dear Ms. Moscato: 

Talbert & Bright, Inc. is pleased to submit our Statement of Qualifications for Architectural, Engineering, 

and Planning Consultant Services for Plymouth Municipal Airport. We hope to provide our assistance to 

Washington County and the Airport in obtaining Federal and State grant funding for, and implementing, 

projects critical to the Airport’s future. 

Talbert & Bright, Inc. (TBI) is recognized as a leading aviation consultant in the southeast. During the past 

35 years, TBI and its affiliated companies have performed over 2,500 airport planning, design, and 

construction projects and has a history of success with these projects throughout Eastern North 

Carolina.  

Our dedicated staff takes great pride in working closely with our clients, our attention to detail, and 

working hard to maximize federal and state grant funds. We feel that TBI offers many advantages to 

Washington County, and the Airport in the future development at PMZ: 

1. We understand the North Carolina Division of Aviation (NCDOA) and the Federal Aviation

Administration (FAA) airport grants programs, and we are very knowledgeable of the process required

to justify funding of important projects, as well as managing all aspects of NCDOA grants for many of

our clients.

2. Jay Talbert, P.E. will serve as Principal in Charge and Randy Fender, P.E. will be Project Manager for

Plymouth Municipal Airport. Our team’s technical, organizational, and communication skills will

ensure your priority projects are well-designed and are completed on schedule and within budget.

3. Our personnel and team members assigned to your airport are experienced and capable in all phases of

airport planning, design, and development. Having completed numerous projects similar to the

priority projects identified for Plymouth Municipal Airport, there should be a minimal learning curve

for our staff at PMZ.

4. TBI has the foremost staff of Grants Managers of any Consultant in North Carolina.  This team

works directly with the NCDOA grants staff daily and is capable of handling ALL aspects of grants

administration for Washington County and the Airport, if requested.



TALBERT & BRIGHT 

 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

2 

 

5. Both Jay Talbert and Randy Fender have outstanding long-term working relationships with the 

NCDOA and FAA and are familiar with their policies and regulations, as well as their expectations. 

This knowledge is essential in being able to identify, coordinate, and resolve any issues during the 

funding, planning, engineering, and construction phases of work at the Airport. 

 

6. TBI also has an outstanding record of assisting our clients in obtaining North Carolina Transportation 

Reserve Directed Funds (TRDF) and NCDOA discretionary funding. (In FY24, TBI Clients received 

over 70% of all TRDF funding.) 

 

7. Talbert & Bright, Inc. understands the Airport’s upcoming project priorities including a new AWOS, 

10-Unit T-Hangar, Terminal Building, and other projects. Please note in the Supporting Data section 

of this proposal that we have recently completed or are currently completing multiple projects similar 

to PMZ’s priority projects. 

 

8. In the most recent NCDOA Airport Economic Impact update, PMZ is shown to positively impact 65 

jobs and have a total Economic Output of almost $11 million regionally.  The ongoing good health of 

your Airport is vital to Washington County and beyond.  We believe that TBI would be a successful 

team member with the Airport to continue this positive growth. 

 

Talbert & Bright, Inc. hopes the attached Qualifications Statement which follows this letter clearly shows 

our experience and capability to help Washington County and Plymouth Municipal Airport meet your 

goals and complete your priority projects. 

 

Thank you once again for considering Talbert & Bright, Inc.  

 

Yours truly, 

 

John T. Talbert, III, P.E. Randy R. Fender, P.E. 

Principal in Charge Project Manager 



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

3 

 

FIRM EXPERIENCE                                  
 

Talbert & Bright, Inc. (TBI), a privately held professional corporation founded in 1989, provides engineering and planning 
services exclusively to airport owners, operators, and authorities. Headquartered in Wilmington less than 3 hours from 
Plymouth with affiliated offices in Charlotte, NC, Columbia, SC and Richmond, VA, TBI has substantial consulting 
experience for multiple airport clients with similar needs throughout the Southeast. TBI’s Wilmington office currently 
serves as the Engineer of Record for more than 25 airports, many of which are very similar to PMZ, and more than 75 
airports out of all of our offices.  
 
Since its founding, TBI and its affiliated 
companies have completed over 2,500 
airport or aviation related projects 
including planning, design and 
construction projects in North Carolina, 
South Carolina, Virginia, Georgia, and 
Maryland. In fact, no other firm has more 
experience in Airport Design and 
Planning in North Carolina than Talbert & 
Bright. Our in-depth knowledge and 
working relationship with state and 
federal regulatory and funding agencies is 
key to TBI having moved significant 
projects forward.  
 
TBI brings a practical and cost-effective approach to developing strategies that allow airport owners to plan and 
implement projects to meet both present and future demand in a constantly changing environment. We pride 
ourselves on a client-centric reputation for delivering outstanding quality, on-time, and on-budget projects with an 
equally exceptional level of dedication to each client independent of airport size or function. For over three 
decades, TBI has consistently provided solutions to the most challenging airport problems with successful 
outcomes on project assignments for a wide range of clients from small GA facilities to complex air carrier airports.  
 

The testament to TBI’s proven “customer first” philosophy are the many long-term relationships we have fostered 
with our clients, over 80% of whom TBI has been serving for over 10 years. By drawing upon the experience, skills, and 
versatility of our staff, TBI is committed to serving PMZ with continuity and an in-depth familiarity of the Airport’s 
development initiatives. Washington County can rest assured that on-going and future airport projects will be 
completed with an unmatched understanding of your issues and strategically staffed such that they move forward 
quickly, without the need for a learning curve. In addition, TBI is confident that our history of providing personalized, 
on-demand service to all our clients will demonstrate a new level of responsiveness and commitment to serving PMZ.  
With a singular focus on aviation, TBI’s integrated staff assists clients in managing a full suite of airport projects from 
justification through completion. TBI’s aviation professionals are experts in aviation project management, budget 
development, schedule creation and maintenance, and implementation.  
 
Our airfield design, landside design, and construction expertise include a wide variety of airport improvement projects 
including runways, taxiways, aprons, terminal buildings, ARFF buildings, hangars, airfield and apron lighting, NAVAIDs, 
AWOS, fuel systems, roadways, parking, and terminal facilities. TBI also has significant experience in airport planning, 
environmental assessments, environmental permitting, master plan development, airport layout plans, economic 
feasibility studies, and terminal area studies. TBI is intimately familiar with an airport owner’s expected outcomes and 
brings the detailed understanding associated with proposed development to move projects forward most effectively.  
 
 



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

4 

 

TBI is a devoted and trusted partner to federal, state, and local agencies including the North Carolina Department of 
Transportation – Division of Aviation (NCDOA) and the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA). TBI has delivered projects 
to our client base with construction values ranging from $30,000 to over $100 million. As outlined in this Statement of 
Qualifications, TBI has assembled a team specifically designed to provide professional services for PMZ. The 
subconsultants on our team are noted in the following pages, along with select examples of our experience at other 
airports. With our experience at airports in Eastern North Carolina, the TBI Team understands PMZ’s operational needs, 
soil and drainage, climate, local construction, local material, and local permitting requirements. With this invaluable 
knowledge, the TBI Team has demonstrated the ability to execute projects in a cost-effective manner that minimizes 
disruptions to operations and produces positive results for the Airport. TBI will work to secure FAA and NCDOA funding 
and complete projects to meet Airport Objectives while satisfying PMZ’s mission. Through the development of airport 
planning documents, project purpose and need justification, and realistic cost estimates, TBI has shown the NCDOA 

exemplary conduct in meeting funding 
deadlines and delivering high quality 
projects. As a result, TBI has enabled many 
airports throughout Eastern North Carolina 
to become well positioned to receive future 
discretionary funds. 
 
TBI’s proven track record of completing 
construction projects on time and on 
budget can be partly attributed to the ‘cost 
saving’ culture of our staff, including our 
construction inspectors. From initial project 
planning through construction, we are 
always looking for opportunities to 
maximize project funding and minimize 
project costs while providing a quality 
construction project. 

 
EXPERIENCE WORKING WITH FAA AND NCDOA                                     
 

TBI will assist PMZ with close coordination of the Airport Capital Improvement Plan (ACIP), project schedules and 
project budgets, and planning and design/bidding documents. This will ultimately result in the development of grant 
applications for PMZ to receive state and federal grant funds. TBI understands the importance of ongoing 
communication with the NCDOA to keep the agency informed on funding needs, project schedule and progress, and 
grant closeout in a timely manner. 
 

TBI will work closely with PMZ to help the Airport 
maintain an outstanding reputation with the NCDOA as 
an Airport who meets grant deadlines, closes grants in a 
timely manner, provides detailed and accurate 
documentation, and completes projects within 
established budgets. TBI understands PMZ’s vision for 
the future. Our local knowledge and our relationships 
with the NCDOA and FAA positions us to help PMZ 
achieve that vision. Working together, TBI and PMZ can 
be successful in helping PMZ obtain NCDOA grant funds 
(state and federal) for “important” projects that improve 
the safety and reliability of PMZ’s facilities. 
 



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

5 

 

FIRM GRANTS MANAGEMENT  

 

TBI has completed over 1,200 airport projects in North Carolina alone.  With a dedicated Grants Management team, 
TBI sets itself apart from other Consultants.  The TBI Grants team shares the communication from the NCDOA and 
FAA with the TBI Project Managers so that all opportunities for grant funding are pursued and handled efficiently.  
Our Grants team works with Project Managers to assess upcoming projects and Work Authorizations in order to 
match each budget with the most suitable funding opportunity.   
 
TBI’s Grants team provides grant administration assistance through the life of a project for airports throughout 
Eastern North Carolina. This includes initial funding source discussions with NCDOA to confirm projects are eligible 
for grant funding, Request for Aid management with preparation of grant application materials for state and 
federal grants, grant budget oversight, grant modification administration, quarterly reporting, and grant close-out.  
TBI will work closely with the County and Airport to prepare and submit monthly requests to the NCDOA to 
allow reimbursement of expenditures without delay.  Included in this is the preparation of all the grant 
documents for the sponsor, point of contact for the NCDOA, and the maintenance of the grant file which contains 
a complete record of every project expenditure, payment, and grant reimbursement.  Our Grants Manager, Hillary 
Meinheit, will work closely with the County and the Airport to coordinate all tasks needed to complete each step 
in the grant life process in the NCDOT Enterprise Business Services website. 

 
PROJECT PERFORMANCE  
 

Talbert & Bright, Inc. has a proven track record of completing projects on time and within budget. Our past 
performance can best be illustrated by the longevity of our client relationships - we have worked with most of our 
clients for more than 20 years. The following sample listing of projects shows our commitment to completing 
projects within the established project and grant budgets, without cost escalations or overruns.  

 

 

 

 

Project Location Project 
Original 

Construction 
Budget 

Final 
Construction 

Cost 

Expected 
Completion Date / 
Actual Completion 

Date Coastal Carolina 
Regional Airport 

Roadway Rehab and Commercial Service 
Parking Lot Rehab and Expansion 

$2,491,190 $2,439,190 
November 2022/ 
November 2022 

Washington-
Warren Airport 

Runway 5-23, Taxiway and Apron 
Pavement Rehabilitation 

$6,231,250 $5,850,150 
June 2020/                     
June 2020 

Pitt-Greenville 
Airport 

GA Apron Expansion & Rehabilitation $3,954,570 $3,771,390 
August 2021/                 
August 2021 

Lumberton 
Regional Airport 

Partial Parallel Taxiway $8,174,774 $8,021,021 
February 2023/      
February 2023 

Dare County 
Regional Airport 

Aircraft Parking Apron Rehabilitation $2,994,715 $2,499,279 
July 2022/                          
July 2022 

Cape Fear 
Regional Jetport 

West Apron Expansion – Phase II $3,615,538 $3297,704 
February 2022/ 
February 2022 

Michael J. Smith 
Field 

T-Hangars and Taxilanes $4,005,051 $3,959,197 
September 2022/ 
September 2022 

Burlington-
Alamance Airport 

Runway 6-24 Rehabilitation, Apron 
Rehabilitation, Expansion 

$10,747,205 $10,310,368 
December 2023/ 

October 2023 



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

6 

 

AVIATION EXPERIENCE MATRIX  
 

Talbert & Bright, Inc. and its team have performed over 2,000 airport planning, design, construction, and other 
types of aviation projects.  An overview of the types of projects performed by TBI at the home office of Wilmington 
is indicated in the matrix below. *Highlighted s indicate projects within the past five (5) years.  

 

 

 
  

 C
P

C
 

B
U

Y 

SU
T 

M
R

H
 

EW
N

 

O
N

X
 

M
Q

I 

P
G

V
 

H
R

J 

7
W

6
 

LB
T 

SO
P

 

W
4

0
 

ED
E 

6
0

J 

TD
F 

A
C

Z 

A
SJ

 

O
C

W
 

IL
M

 

AWOS / NAVAIDs                     

T-hangars/ Corporate 
Hangars                      

Maintenance /  
Equip. Stor. Bldg. 

                    

Terminal Buildings                     

Airport Roadways & 
Parking Lots 

                    

Apron, Taxiway & 
Taxilane Paving                     

Fencing & Perimeter 
Roadways                              

Land Acquisition/ 
Approach Clearing/ 

Obstruction Analysis 
                    

Runway Rehab/Paving                     

Environmental 
Documentation                       

Airport Master Planning                     

Airfield Lighting                     



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

7 

 

AWOS   
 

 

 Cape Fear Regional Wallace Henderson Field (ACZ)    Mount Olive Municipal  
 Jetport (SUT)  Airport (W40) 
 

Above are three new AWOS IIIP installations designed by TBI.  All were fully coordinated with Jimmy Capps 
(NCDOA) and the equipment was supplied by the NCDOA.  These AWOS units are state of the art models providing 
weather- and airport-related data to pilots and others.  The siting of the AWOS equipment was closely coordinated 
with the NCDOA and FAA to ensure proper clearances around the AWOS equipment were achieved.  Design phase 
services included coordination with licensing agencies and associated utilities (power, communications, etc.) 

 
APRON REHABILITATION  

 

Apron Rehabilitation & Expansion  
Burlington Alamance Regional Airport  
Burlington, North Carolina  
 

In the summer of 2023 BUY 
completed an extensive Apron 
Rehabilitation and Expansion project. 
The project included rehabilitation of 
the existing 14,570 square yard apron 
and an expansion of 15,700 square 
yards.  This project also increased the 
pavement strength to a PCR of 337.  
BUY was experiencing a significant 
increase in larger corporate aircraft 
traffic and this apron expansion 
helped accommodate their increased 
demand. Construction was completed 
under budget and ahead of schedule. 

 
 



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

8 

 

HANGARS         
                   

Hangar Taxilanes, T-Hangar, Corporate 
Hangars, Access Road & Parking Lots 
Northeastern Regional Airport 
Edenton, North Carolina 

 

Talbert & Bright, Inc. is currently assisting the Town of 
Edenton with construction of the much-needed T-Hangar 
& Taxilane development to meet the airport’s demand of 
providing based aircraft hangar space at the airport. The 
project includes construction of a 12-Unit T-Hangar and 
their associated hangar taxilanes connecting to the 
existing apron. A gravel access road to the fuel farm is 
also included in the project which is intended to begin 
construction in summer of 2024. Phase-II development 
includes construction of 50’x60’ Corporate Hangars, 
parking lots for hangar tenants and bituminous access 
road connecting to Midway Drive. The 90’ x 100’ 
Corporate Hangars will be constructed on demand basis 
at the Airport.  

 
 

T-Hangar Development 
Michael J. Smith Field 
Beaufort, North Carolina 
 

Due to damage during Hurricane Dorian, five 
hangar buildings consisting of 28 T-hangar units 
at Michael J. Smith Field were condemned.  This 
resulted in a significant negative impact on the 
Airport’s aircraft storage capacity.  One of the 
five condemned hangar structures also housed 
the Airport’s electrical vault that provides service 
to all airfield lighting infrastructure. 
 
In partnership with the United States Economic 
Development Agency (EDA) who provided 
funding for the project, TBI developed a four-
phase program to expedite replacement of the 
damaged hangars and restore the Airport’s 
hangar capacity.  These four separate projects 
included:  1) Demolition of the existing hangar 
buildings; 2) Procurement of a new, standalone 
airfield electrical vault; 3) Relocation of the 
airfield’s electrical infrastructure into the new 

airfield electrical vault; and 4) Construction of two 14-unit T-hangar buildings and associated taxilanes.  The 
program required extensive coordination and scheduling between TBI, the Airport, and multiple Contractors 
throughout construction. 



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

9 

 

GENERAL AVIATION TERMINAL BUILDINGS                                   

 Cape Fear Regional Washington-Warren     Lumberton Regional  
 Jetport (SUT) Airport (OCW) Airport (LBT) 

 
Talbert & Bright teamed with The Wilson Group to provide design, permitting, bidding and construction 
administration services for these 3 New Terminal facilities at the Cape Fear Regional Jetport, Lumberton Regional 
Airport, and Washington Warren Airport.  Landside improvements and auto parking included auto parking lots, 
security fencing, drainage, landscaping, and lighting.  These are just three examples of more than ten General 
Aviation terminals this team has completed in the past decade. 

 

TERMINAL PARKING LOTS  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 Cape Fear Regional Jetport (SUT) Lumberton Regional Airport (LBT) 
 
Included with the new terminal buildings at Cape Fear Regional Jetport (SUT) and Lumberton Regional Airport 
(LBT), TBI designed the automobile parking lots to provide ample parking for the terminal building employees and 
visitors.  These parking lots were designed to accommodate not only passenger vehicles, but also large delivery 
vehicles with a covered drop off area (SUT) and large terminal curb front.  The parking lots were tastefully 
landscaped and serve as impressive landside “gateways” to the Airports. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

10 

 

PERIMETER FENCE IMPROVEMENT                                  
 

Perimeter Safety Fencing 
Burlington – Alamance Regional Airport 
Burlington, North Carolina. 
 

The project included the installation of approximately 5,600 
linear feet of chain link fence for Phase I of the perimeter 
safety fence. Phase II included installation of an additional 
25,000 linear feet of fence to completely enclose the airport 
perimeter. The project provided security for the airport and 
also serves as a wildlife deterent to aid the airport in 
controlling wildlife incursions in active air operations areas. 
An area 25-feet wide on each side of the fence was cleared 
to allow the airport to easily maintain the fence. The project 
included installation of 10-foot chain-link fence with 3 
strands of barbed wire with a buried 5-foot wildlife 
deterent skirt, gates, clearing, seeding and mulching, and 
temporary erosion control items. Project construction was 
complicated due to the close proximity of residential areas, 
uneven terrain, and the unpredictable occurrence of rock at 
or near the ground surface.   

 

LAND ACQUISITION                                  
 

Runway 23 Approach Land Acquisition 
Cape Fear Regional Jetport 
Oak Island, North Carolina  
 

The proposed Land Acquisition for Runway 23 Approach for the Cape Fear Regional Jetport consists of the survey 
and acquisition of avigation easements of 23 parcels and 2 drainage easements.  The Runway 23 threshold is 
currently displaced 400 feet, which the Airport intends to remove to capture the full usable length of 5,505 feet 
for landing on Runway 23.  TBI performed an analysis to identify obstructions to the future Runway 23 
approach using the 2019 18b survey information, and these 23 residential parcels (Parcels A through W) and 2 
drainage easements were identified as properties 
that currently or have potential to have 
obstructions to the Runway 23 approach, none of 
which are covered by an existing avigation 
easement.  Avigation easements for these parcels 
will be obtained for Type 6 Approach Surface (30:1) 
and Part 77 Approach Surface (34:1) for Runway 23 
Approach. 
 
Services performed by TBI include land acquisition 
coordination, grant administration services, and 
Exhibit A Property Map Services in support of the 
Runway 23 Approach Land Acquisition project at 
the Cape Fear Regional Jetport. 

 



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

11 

 

PROJECT MANAGEMENT                                                                             
 

Since TBI is focused solely on aviation engineering and planning, we can provide our clients with the advantage of 
responsive, client-oriented project management. Each project team, led by one of our firm’s principals, is 
specifically selected to focus on the needs of the project and the client. This approach ensures that if clients have 
questions or concerns, they get immediate attention. Talbert & Bright, Inc. is large enough to provide requisite 
manpower and resources to complete any type of airport development project, yet small enough to pay attention 
to the details. 
 
All work completed for PMZ will be performed under the 
review of founding principal John (Jay) Talbert, III, P.E., 
thus providing a direct line of communication with an 
owner of our firm. Jay’s involvement will ensure effective 
project communication, impart the capability to make 
timely decisions, and allow the allocation of TBI 
resources as necessary to complete your projects. 
 
Randy Fender, P.E. will serve as Project Manager and will utilize his knowledge and experience with site conditions 
and operational constraints at Eastern North Carolina airports to allow your projects to proceed without delay. 
Randy will be involved through all phases of your projects, from project inception through the construction 
closeout. This will result in design and construction projects being successfully completed at PMZ on schedule and 
within the grant budget. Randy will be available to serve PMZ with quick responses to questions and attention to 
the details of each project.  
 
Pamela Culp, P.E., J.D. Lannou, P.E., and Nutan Teketi will collaborate with Randy on every project, providing other 
experienced TBI staff members who will be closely involved. They understand the details involved in the full range 
of anticipated projects at PMZ and will be available to the Airport as projects progress and questions arise. 
 
Jay and Randy look forward to assisting the County and Airport in developing the long-term goals of the Airport 
and aiding in transitioning these into viable funded projects. The TBI project team will work closely with County 
and Airport staff to coordinate airfield operational issues during the design and construction phases of projects to 
minimize impacts to Airport operations. Randy and the TBI Grants team will coordinate with the County to review 
and reconcile grant budgets, assist with grant reimbursements, track project budgets and finances, and help with 
ongoing DBE reporting requirements and other airport business related items. TBI looks forward to working as an 
integral part of further improving the Airport for the residents of Washington and surrounding counties. 

 

WORKLOAD                                                           
 

As a component of routine corporate management, Talbert & Bright, Inc. regularly updates workload projection 
spreadsheets. In addition to projects currently under contract, the workload spreadsheets include anticipated 
projects, which, with a weighting factor, represent the probability of the project work starting up as expected. 
 
Using our workload projection spreadsheets, together with other management tools, we regularly review long-term 
staffing needs and plan recruiting efforts and inter-office support activities accordingly. As a result of this analysis, TBI 
has recently added new engineering and planning        positions. 
 
The TBI Team, as shown in our organization chart, resumes, and team of subconsultants consists of a wide range of 
technical expertise that will help us meet the challenges and demands of the upcoming projects at Plymouth 
Municipal Airport. The County can rest assured that our staffing levels will be adequate to deliver responsive 
service in support of PMZ’s capital improvement projects. 



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

12 

 

PROJECT TEAM ORGANIZATION                                                                                
 

 

 

 

                           

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DBE FIRM: 
 

KEN WEEDEN & 
ASSOCIATES 

TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

Project Manager  
Randy Fender, P.E. 

TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

Airport Engineers 
 

Pamela Culp, P.E. 
 

JD Lannou, P.E. 
 

Nutan Teketi 

TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

Planning & Grants  
 

Senior Aviation Planner 
Jeff Carlson, CM  

 

Grants Manager 
Hillary Meinheit 

 
 
 
 

ARCHITECTURAL 
SUBCONSULTANT: 

 
THE WILSON GROUP 

 

TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

Principal in Charge  
Jay Talbert, P.E. 

PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT  
 

Airport Development Director 
 

Mary Moscato  

ENVIRONMENTAL 
SUBCONSULTANT: 

 
WITHERSRAVENEL 

 
All work will be performed 

out of the TBI  
Wilmington Office 

 
 

GEOTECHNICAL /        
QA TESTING SERVICES: 

 

TERRACON 

 

SUBCONSULTANTS 
 
 

 
 

LAND SURVEYING: 
 

TIMMONS GROUP 
 
 

ELECTRICAL SERVICES: 
 

CHEATHAM AND 
ASSOCIATES, P.A. 



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

13 

 

KEY PERSONNEL RESUMES                                         
John Talbert, III, PE, Principal-In-Charge 

LICENSED: Registered Professional Engineer - North Carolina, South Carolina, & Virginia; Licensed Private Pilot 

GENERAL SUMMARY:  For the past 45 years, Mr. Talbert has worked almost exclusively in the planning and design 
of airport-related facilities, including over 43 years working with NCDOA.  His areas of expertise include the 
planning and design of airport facilities, surveying, photogrammetry, design of roads, railroads, and highways.  He 
has served as project manager or senior engineer on airport development projects at more than 60 general 
aviation, air carrier, and military airports, including over 600 separate projects. Mr. Talbert's airport experience 
includes the design of several new airports, runway overlays, runway extensions, taxiways, runway and taxiway 
reconstruction and strengthening, new terminal areas, access and service roads and auto parking facilities, hangars 
and FBO facilities.  Mr. Talbert has the unique ability to present a difficult-to-justify project in a most favorable 
light and has, on many occasions, assisted in obtaining funding where probabilities were low. 
 

Randy Fender, PE, Project Manager  

LICENSED:  Registered Professional Engineer - North Carolina, South Carolina, & Maryland 

GENERAL SUMMARY:  Mr. Fender has been the project engineer and project manager on numerous commercial, 
general aviation, and military airport airside and landside projects throughout the Eastern United States for more 
than 12 years.  His recent experience includes pavement (runway/taxiway/apron/roadway) rehabilitations, runway 
extensions, apron expansions, hangar design and layout, terminal site design, taxiways, runway safety area 
grading, storm drainage systems, AWOS siting and design, deicing facilities, fuel farm facilities, fencing, passenger 
boarding bridges, airfield lighting systems, installation of NAVAID systems, airfield marking, and land acquisition.  
Mr. Fender has experience leading project teams on projects ranging from $10,000 to $20,000,000, through all 
phases of the project including planning, design, construction, and project closeout.  Mr. Fender’s ability to be 
involved with all phases of a project and his close-working relationship with the NCDOA and FAA helps ensure the 
project is delivered to the Owner on schedule and within the project budget. 
 

Hillary Meinheit, Grants Manager 

GENERAL SUMMARY: Ms. Meinheit provides comprehensive grant administration services for over 20 airports, 
including identification of grant funding sources, preparation of initial grant application and modifications, grant 
accounting and reconciliation, budget planning, quarterly status reports, and audit support.  Ms. Meinheit is 
familiar with all grant processes associated with FAA and NCDOA.  Presently, Ms. Meinheit manages and 
administers more than 40 grants, encompassing a broad range of funding that includes FAA and State grants, 
currently totaling more than $50 million. Ms. Meinheit has over 15 years of experience working with economic 
development grants across industries throughout the U.S.  She is skilled in all facets of grant administration, 
including compliance, policy, budget development and reimbursements, and grant closeout. 
 

Pamela Culp, PE, Airport Engineer 

LICENSED:  Registered Professional Engineer - North Carolina & South Carolina 

GENERAL SUMMARY: Ms. Culp has performed engineering, design, and construction phase support for a variety of 
airport projects throughout North and South Carolina during her 16 years with TBI, including numerous projects at 
airports in Eastern North Carolina.  Ms. Culp provides consistency for each project with her involvement from 
inception through the design and construction phases.  Her airport design project experience includes pavement 
rehabilitations of runways, taxiways, aprons, and roadways; runway and taxiway extensions; runway safety area 
grading; approach analysis and clearing; hangar and hangar taxilane design; erosion control; storm drainage; and 
airfield lighting and marking.  She has been involved with stormwater management and sedimentation and erosion 
control permitting and is proficient in several engineering computer design programs, including AutoCAD Civil 3D 
and FAA pavement design programs.  
 



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

14 

 

JD Lannou, PE, Airport Engineer  

LICENSED: Registered Professional Engineer - North Carolina 

GENERAL SUMMARY:  Mr. Lannou has worked on a variety of airport projects throughout North Carolina, South 
Carolina, and Virginia during his 13 years at Talbert & Bright.  These airport design projects include runway and 
taxiway extensions, apron expansions, airfield pavement rehabilitation and overlays, runway and taxiway lighting 
systems and marking plans, airfield drainage, approach analysis and clearing, and sediment and stormwater 
permitting.  He has assisted on construction administration activities on several airport projects and is proficient in 
many engineering computer design programs, including AutoCAD Civil 3D, Bentley Stormwater Suite, WinTR-55, 
Storm and Sanitary Analysis, and FAARFIELD. 
 

Nutan Teketi, Project Engineer 

GENERAL SUMMARY:  Mr. Teketi has performed engineering design, airport planning and construction phase 
support for a variety of airport projects throughout North Carolina during his 5 years with TBI.  Airport design 
projects in which he has been involved include pavement rehabilitation of runways, taxiways, and aprons, taxiway 
extensions, hangar and taxiway design, erosion control, storm drainage, and airfield lighting and marking.  He has 
also been involved with airport master plans and ALP updates, sedimentation and erosion control permitting, and 
PCN calculations.  He is proficient with several engineering computer design programs, including ArcGIS, AutoCAD 
Civil 3D and FAA pavement design programs. 
 

Jeff Carlson, CM, Senior Airport Planner 

LICENSED:  Licensed Private Pilot (FAA), Control Tower Operator Permit (FAA), Certified Member of American 
Association of Airport Executives, General Contractor (State of Utah) 
GENERAL SUMMARY:  Jeff is a senior aviation planner with over 20 years of construction management and 
planning experience with the last 9 years in airport specific projects and in an aviation planner role. He has been 
the lead planner and deputy project manager on multiple airport planning and construction projects across the 
United States including Hawai’i, California, Washington, Utah, Arizona, Micronesia, Guam, North Carolina, and 
South Carolina. Jeff has worked on a variety of projects to include Airport Master Plans, Airport Layout Plans, 
Airfield Geometry Studies (Runway Incursion Mitigation), Airspace Evaluation, Airports GIS, Statewide Project 
Management, Asset Management, and Construction Management. Mr. Carlson’s experience has enabled him to 
work directly with various lines of business of the FAA, State Aviation Departments, airlines, airport authorities, 
local government officials, and other aviation groups for a variety of airports from General Aviation Airport 
projects to $4B terminal redevelopment at large hub airports. As a result of his varied experience, Jeff is able to 
apply his unique skills to a variety of project types and magnitudes and provide valuable working knowledge on 
behalf of his aviation clients. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



TALBERT & BRIGHT 
 

  

PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, AND PLANNING CONSULTING SERVICES 
FOR PLYMOUTH MUNICIPAL AIRPORT (PMZ) – June 14, 2024 

15 

 

REFERENCES                                      
 

The following are references for project experience outlined in this statement of qualifications: 
 

CAPE FEAR REGIONAL JETPORT (SUT) 

 

Mr. Howard Franklin, Airport Manager 
4015 Airport Road 
Oak Island, North Carolina 28461 
(910) 457-6483 
howie@capefearjetport.com 
 
TBI Client Since:  1990 

Types of Work Completed for Reference: 
Grant Administration, AWOS, Hangars, 
Storage Building, Terminal Building, 
Roadways and Parking Lots, Airfield Paving 
and Rehabilitation, Fencing, Land 
Acquisition, Obstruction Clearing, 
Environmental Documentation and 
Permitting, Airfield Lighting, Airport Master 
Planning 
 

MICHAEL J. SMITH FIELD (MRH) 

 
Ms. Janie Mason, Airport Manager 
180 Airport Road 
Beaufort, North Carolina 28516 
(252) 728-1928 
airportmanager@kmrhairport.org 
 
TBI Client Since: 2005 

Types of Work Completed for Reference: 
Grant Administration, Hangars, Roadways 
and Parking Lots, Airfield Paving and 
Rehabilitation, Fencing, Land Acquisition, 
Obstruction Clearing, Environmental 
Documentation and Permitting, Airfield 
Lighting, Airport Master Planning 
 

NORTHEASTERN REGIONAL AIRPORT (EDE) 

 
Mr. Harry Davis, Airport Manager 
113 Airport Drive 
Edenton, North Carolina 27932 
(252) 482-4664 
davislanding2@gmail.com 

 
TBI Client Since: 1992 
 

Types of Work Completed for Reference: 
Grant Administration, AWOS, Hangars, 
Roadways and Parking Lots, Airfield Paving 
and Rehabilitation, Fencing, Environmental 
Documentation and Permitting, Airfield 
Lighting, Airport Master Planning 

DARE COUNTY REGIONAL AIRPORT (MQI) 

 
Mr. Stacy Ambrose, Airport Director 
410 Airport Road 
Manteo, North Carolina 27954 
(252) 475-5570 
stacya@darenc.gov 
 
TBI Client Since: 1989 

Types of Work Completed for Reference: 
Grant Administration, Hangars, Terminal 
Building, Airfield Paving and Rehabilitation, 
Fencing, Land Acquisition, Obstruction 
Clearing, Environmental Documentation and 
Permitting, Airfield Lighting, Airport Master 
Planning 

 

mailto:howie@capefearjetport.com
mailto:airportmanager@kmrhairport.org
mailto:davislanding2@gmail.com
mailto:stacya@darenc.gov


 
WASHINGTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

 
 
 

       ITEM NO:  5 
 
       DATE:  August 5, 2024 
 
 
ITEM:      Boards & Committees, Ms. Julie J. Bennett, Clerk to the Board 
  
  
SUMMARY EXPLANATION: 
 
Beaufort County Community College (BCCC) President, Dr. Loope has reached out to 
ask the Board to re-appoint Ms. Linda West to the BCCC Board of Trustees. 



 
WASHINGTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

 
 
 

       ITEM NO:  6 
 
       DATE:  August 5, 2022 
 
ITEM:        Finance Officer’s Report 
  
  
SUMMARY EXPLANATION: 
 
Ms. Missy Dixon, Finance Officer, will discuss the enclosed budget 
amendments/transfers to the Board for approval/disapproval and other information. 
 
See attached. 
 
 
 







































































































































































































 
WASHINGTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

 
 
 

       ITEM NO:   7 
 
       DATE:     August 5, 2024 
 
ITEM:       Other Items by Chair, Commissioners, or Staff 
 
  
SUMMARY EXPLANATION: 
 

a.  NCACC Legislative Goals for FY24-25 
Mr. Potter will speak with the Commissioners about coming up with 
legislative goals that the NCACC can assist counties with FY24-25 

 
 

 Department Head Reports from July 2024—see attached 
 

 Statistics Reports—see attached 
 
 

 
 

 



 

Department Head Reports to the Commissioners 
August 5, 2024 

Board of Commissioners’ Meeting 
 
EMS 
Jennifer O’Neal 
 
EMS STAFFING: 
The EMS Division currently has (4) Full-Time Paramedic positions available.  The Transport 
Division has two Full-Time EMT positions available, one Full-Time EMT on medical leave.  We 
are also accepting applications for part time positions for all levels (EMT, A-EMT, and 
Paramedic). We still have two full time EMTs that should complete Paramedic training through 
Martin Community College in the fall.  Part-Time Paramedic KimiAnn Corey was promoted to 
the EMS Director position in Bertie County this past month.  We are very proud of her 
accomplishments and she will do an amazing job.  Unfortunately, this will greatly limit her 
ability to assist us part time.  With research and your help, we have made great progress in 
remaining competitive in the EMS market.  We still have work to do.  Bertie County released 
their new salaries this past week and they will most likely make an impact on this agency.   

 
 
 
 
SAFETY: 
Plans are still underway and working kinks out on the web to begin an Injury Prevention College 
on NeoGov soon.  
 
 



 

SYSTEM BUSINESS: 
UNC PECC+ Program :    Our PECC+ Coordinator has moved to part-time, she will be 
continuing to handle the program. No new update.  
 
Duke RACE-CARS Trial Program:  Deputy Director Annette Ward and Chairman to the Board 
Ann Keyes attended the regional meeting in Raleigh to discuss initiatives including a project to 
reach out to the churches in Washington and Tyrrell Counties and offer training and distribution 
of AEDs.  
 
Call volume and staffing challenges have reduced the opportunities to participate in community 
events for the past several weeks.  However, we were able to attend Camp Corral Hero Day at 
the Eastern 4H Center.  The attending children all have wounded, ill and/or fallen military 
parents. We are excited every year to honor wounded warriors and their families by supporting 
these incredible children.  

 
 
Recreation 
Randy Fulford 
 
Recreation is well.  On Sat July 20, flag football season ended and now our tackle football will 
start. We had food for all.  The County Commissioners, and the Town Mayor and his wife came 
out to help us give out awards for coaches and players   I thank Mrs. Debbie, Mrs. Sarah and 
others that came out to help. God Bless. 
 
 
Elections 
Dora Bell 
 
Filing has ended and we had only 1 candidate who filed. There is a Director and Board Members 
Training section set for August 4th ,5th  and 6th, in Greensboro, NC. 
 
  
Library 
Brandy Goodwin 
 
Staffing: 
No changes to report. 
 
 



 

Programming: 
• Our FINAL Grassroots Arts Series came to an end on June 17th and the attendance 

numbers were up significantly than in year’s past! 
 

• The Summer Reading Program is currently taking place here at the library and we’ve 
seen such a large turnout! Totals are as follows for programs that have taken place thus 
far: 

 
Windy Acres Petting Zoo – 63 
Slime Making Program – 25 
Nature Out Loud! – 25 
OBX Lizard Land – 66 

 
We have three SRP’s remaining; Gene Galligan will join us for a puppeteering adventure on July 
24th, Chowan County Beekeepers on the 31st, and our FINAL program will be on August 7th with 
Rob Westcott’s Magic Show. ALL PROGRAMS ARE HELD ON WEDNESDAY’S AT 1:00 
PM! 
 

• “Family Fridays” Matinee Series is seeing a growing number of attendees. Totals are as 
follows thus far: 

 
June 28th “Elemental” – 8 
July 5th “Wonka” – 9 
July 12th “The Little Mermaid” (2023) – 15 

 
At the time this report was submitted, numbers could not be given for the July 19th showing as it 
has not happened yet. We will be showing three more movies to conclude our series. They will 
be “The Jungle Book (1967) on July 19th, “Super Mario Bros. (2023) on July 26th, and “The 
Wizard of Oz” on August 2nd. ALL SHOWINGS ARE FRIDAY’S AT 2:00 PM! 
 

• Online programs have halted for the summer and will resume once SRP concludes. 
 

• WIP (Works in Progress) is still meeting at NOON on Wednesdays! If you like to knit or 
crochet, please stop by.  

 
Other Library Business: 

• Our Board of Trustees will now be meeting at 11 AM instead of at 2 PM for bimonthly 
meetings due to members favoring an early meeting time.  

 
 
Cooperative Extension 
Rebecca Liverman 
 



 

 



 



 

Tax Office 
Sherri Wilkins 
 
 

1. We continue to work every day with Zacchaeus Legal Services – sending tax 
information, verifying balances due, completing tax certifications, adding attorney 
fees and/or suit cost.  

2. Assisted the taxpayers with the Tag & Tax program, handling value adjustments, 
refunds, releases, address corrections and general questions regarding motor 
vehicles.  

3. Christal has processed the refunds for the month, after the Commissioners 
approval.  

4. Continue to verify PINs for Deed filings, process Tax Certifications and assign 
addresses in GIS – we had several address requests this month. We have a variation 
of these daily.  

5. Continue to work with the landfill. They call us for verification of ownership 
of a property, for example, there is a new owner for a property and that person 
is going into the landfill but before they are allowed to dump their debris or 
trash, the landfill calls us to make sure they own the property at the address 
they have given.  

6. The Statistical report was submitted. 
7. Sent mapping updates to Joe with Atlas. Had correspondence with Joe several 

times for assistance with mapping requests.  
8. Sat in on an online seminar for the 2024 Orthoimagery Quality Review.  
9. Overall, we remain busy with the data processing of  Business Personal 

Property listings and transfers.  
10. Received debt set-off payments this month. 
11. Information needed for the audit was given to the finance office.  
12. Christal Watkins has moved her items to the Delinquent Tax office. However, 

she is remaining in the tax office to assist with phone calls, taxpayer visits, etc.  
13. The entire office is working diligently to get all data entries completed so tax 

bills can be mailed. We have received a lot of phone calls and office visits 
from those that want to capture the 2% discount and they are paying now. This 
is taking up the majority of our time.  
 
 

 
Planning/Inspections/Floodplain Management 
Allen Pittman 
 



 

 
Emergency Management 
Lance Swindell  
 
No report submitted. 
 
 
Soil and Water 
Chris Respass 
 
No report submitted. 
 
 
Landfill 
Vacant 
 
No report submitted. 
 
 
Sheriff’s Office/Detention/E911 
Chief Deputy Arlo Norman/Clinta Blount/Harley Spruill 
 
No report. 
 
 



 

Information Technology 
Darlene Fikes 
 

 
Completed Tasks 
Troubleshoot possible issue with Finance laptop. Issue was with portal. 
Review with Sherri My Documents and Scanning with Land Records, Delinquent Tax & TaxClerk1. 
Make changes. 
Tour 911 Center & Server Room with Jason. 
Lance - picked up tablets. Reviewed log in, settings & basics of tablets. 
Researched issue with address at Elections. Railroad St or NC Hwy 32 N.  Sherri sent email to 
Atlas. 
Review quote with SSG to replace Nano for connectivity to Investigators. 
Troubleshoot issue with scanning at the Landfill. 
Complete 2024 Audit Questionnaire for Thompson, Price, Scott, Adams & Co & email. 
Work on PSAP Assessment Corrective Action Plan with Harley & submit to 911 Board. 
Setup work area for auditors. 
  
  

 
 
Current Tasks 
Cox & Company-Assisting in the Tax Office file conversions.  
Elections internet connection - Dedicated Line installment scheduled for August 9. 
BLaST device installed-need to call since setup seems to not allow connection to wc domain. 
Motorola: 911 Grant & installation of Motorola equipment. 
Investigators internet/phones down. Nano on Courthouse roof has water damage. Will need to 
replace. 
Review computer needs with Lee & Renee. Need to get computer quotes for Water Plant & 
Senior Center. 
Future Tasks 
Setup laptop for County Manager office PO 23-0586. 
Setup copier to be used as network printer for Jail. Determine how to connect. 
Discuss possible setup of scanning with Sheriff Dept & Jail. 
Guy Cayton-Latitude 5520 s/n: B9217S3 will not power on. 
Download vlc on deputies pc. Needed for viewing jail camera feed. 
Create IT Department presentation to be used on County website.  
Copy emails to pst for employees per email from Curtis. Create instructions for moving pst to 
email. 
Factory reset MDTs & setup profile on 911 domain. 
  
  
  
  
Additional Attention Needed 
Waiting for AOC on IT cabinet. 



 

Quote for 4-port wall jack in Commissioners Room. 
Need to check status two camera's not working. 

 
 
  
Senior Center 
Renee’ Collier 
 
No report submitted. 
 
 
Surplus 
Debbie Knieper 
 
No report submitted. 
 
 
Airport 
Mary Moscato 
 
Project Update:  
• Airfield Lighting Improvement Project 

o The project is actively progressing. The Beacon (which has been out of commission for 10 
years) repair is complete and it is now operational. 

• RPZ Obstruction 
o July 23, 2024: The Department of Aviation issued a Grant Execution and Notice to Proceed 

letter for the Obstruction Removal Project. 
 
 
• AWOS 

o No advancement of this project. Continues to work its way through the DOA & FAA 
approval process. We applied for AIG funds and are pending  notification.  

 
Other Activities: 
• Attended a Wildlife Mitigation Course at Rocky Mount Regional Airport. 
• The Department of Aviation conducted an inspection of PMZ that seemed to go well. We will 

receive the written report of their findings.  
• Worked with Emergency Management and the Fire Marshal on a fuel storage situation at one of 

the hangars. This is in response to the NCDEQ Stormwater Inspection. 
• The review committee met to rate and rank the four (4) proposals received for the Engineering 

Master Contract. Talber & Bright was selected as our new engineering firm.  
• Attended the NC Airport Community Quarterly Virtual meeting held by the Becca Gallas, Director 

of the Department of Aviation.  
• Participated in a study being conducted by NC State University on General Aviation Hangar Data 

Collection. 
• Attending ALMP/AirTAP Course 1: Airport Rules and Regulations, Minimum Standards and 

Legal Issues on July 30th.  



 

Revenue Update: 
• July Fuel Sales (as of 7/24):  $1,222.22 
• Total fuel sales for FY25:  $1,222.22 
• Hangar Leases:  $9,000   

 
                         
Facility Services 
Ricky Young 
 
Unfinished Business: 

• Monthly PM’s. 
• Cleaning of HVAC coils. 

 
Maintenance: 

• Completed 63 work orders. 
• Started painting parking lot lines at DSS. 
• Replaced the well and water pump at the Landfill/Animal Shelter. 
• Removed the tree over the generator at CMO building. 

 
Upcoming Projects: 

• Remove the plumbing and cabinets at the Library for new cabinets. 
• Replace the boards on the CMO handicap ramp. 
• Convert the lights to LED at the Water Department in Roper. 

 
 
Register of Deeds 
Timothy Esolen 
 
No report submitted. 
 
 
DSS 
Clifton Hardison 
 



 

 
 



 

 
 



 

 
 

 
 



 

 
 

 



 

 
 

 
 



 

 
 

 

 



 

 

 
 

 



 

 
 

 
 



 

 
 

 
 



 

 

 
 



 

 
 



 

 

Reporting Period:   



July Aug. Sept. Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June
YTD 

Totals

Water Billed FY 22-23  (in 

million gallons)
7.707 7.855 8 6.766 7.766 7.706 6.657 6.814 7.014 6.519 7.56 8.956 90

Water Billed  FY 23-24 (in 

million gallons)
8.08 8.93 7.196 6.896 7.547 6.94 7.77 6.19 6.16 8.23 2.755 8.28 85

Base Charges 70,623$      71,143$      71,210$      71,106$    71,262$   71,106$   71,158$   71,153$     71,439$    71,439$      71,569$     71,517$     854,725$        

Consumption Charges 52,884$      62,621$      43,524$      40,859$    47,242$   40,300$   50,921$   33,618$     32,409$    55,588$      56,844$       57,070$   573,880$        

Reconnecton Charges 1,645$        1,505$        1,575$        1,505$      1,435$      1,575$      875$         2,660$       1,960$      1,715$        1,645$         2,170$   20,265$          

 Number of Abatements 13 16 7 20 15 13 7 15 6 8 12 10 142                 

  Dollar Amount of 

Abatements 
1,161.50$  1,268$        1,814$        2,249$      3,036$     956$         2,893$     1,658$       650$          1,482$        995$          553$      18,712.50$    

Water Pumped                       
(in million gallons)

19.9 16.22 15.6 15.7 15 15 15 14 15 15 15.600 16.800 188.890

Number of Customers 2660 2680 2677 2673 2679 2673 2675 2671 2682 2682 2687 2685 32,124

New taps 5 3 3 3 4 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 20

Water Billed to Roper 4,844.65$     4,844.65$     4,844.65$     4,844.65$   $4,844.65 $4,844.65 $4,844.65 4,844.65$   4,844.65$   4,844.65$     4,844.65$   $4,844.65 58,135.80$             

0

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

July Aug. Sept. Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June

FY Water Consumption Comparison

Water Billed FY 22-23  (in million gallons) Water Billed  FY 23-24 (in million gallons)



July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June
YTD 

Totals

WC Dispatched 164 158 141 150 142 169 133 134 145 129 171 158 1794

WC Transported 109 124 113 113 104 112 106 98 101 94 110 106 1290

WC Refusals 55 34 28 37 38 57 27 36 44 35 61 42 494

Transport Washington

Hospital to Hospitals 0 1 3 1 1 0 1 2 0 0 1 0 10

SNF to Doctors 112 146 137 132 113 111 153 126 114 118 106 95 1463

Hospital Discharges 7 8 8 8 8 10 9 7 6 10 13 14 108

EMS Back Up 0 5 3 5 5 2 5 1 2 10 5 10 53

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June
YTD 

Totals

TC Dispatched 49 51 63 50 74 55 68 62 50 62 72 75 731

TC Transported 31 41 54 38 55 39 51 49 36 42 59 57 552

TC Refusals 18 10 9 12 19 16 17 13 14 20 13 12 173

Mutual Aid Hyde

HC Dispatched 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HC Transported 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HC Refusals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
                                                                

EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES (EMS)

FY23-24

Washington County

Tyrrell County

EMS Dispatches for FY23-24
(Washington, Tyrrell & Hyde Counties)



36%

26%

10%

14%

11%
3%0%0%0%

EMS Dispatches for FY23-24
(Washington, Tyrrell & Hyde Counties)

WC Dispatched

WC Transported

WC Refusals

TC Dispatched

TC Transported

TC Refusals

HC Dispatched

HC Transported

HC Refusals



July Aug. Sept. Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June YTD 
Limbs, Brush & Leaves 44.54 44.29 89.90 79.91 47.12 61.53 80.70 72.12 55.02 55.06 74.28 53.54 758.01

Inert Debris 41.06 31.47 1.99 28.62 4.39 22.25 0 102.64 290.52 24.45 24.01 77.23 648.63

Scrap Metal 1.06 2.13 1.24 1.02 0.81 1.12 1.59 0.93 1.46 1.12 0.58 0.31 13.37

C&D 96.28 84.36 29.31 43.11 26.52 25.01 54.47 231.12 61.52 106.26 68.96 168.861 995.78

Tires 12 4.59 1.79 6.87 2.8 5.76 5.55 4.59 1.49 4.13 7.70 12.70 69.97

LANDFILL  (in tons)

FY 23-24

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

July Aug. Sept. Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June

Landfill Collections in Tons 

Limbs, Brush & Leaves Inert Debris Scrap Metal C&D Tires



July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June YTD Totals

Building $3,495.00 3,800.46$      3,663.00$   6,607.00$   1,220.00$   2,891.00$   2,111.00$   2,812.50$   7,815.00$   5,071.40$   1,458.00$   1,525.00$         $42,469.36

Zoning 150.00$    75.00$         275.00$       50.00$         225.00$       25.00$         75.00$         300.00$       175.00$       150.00$       25.00$         $1,525.00

Reinspect 300.00$    75.00$         150.00$       725.00$       275.00$       -$             150.00$       550.00$       275.00$       250.00$       225.00$       300.00$      $3,275.00

SWUF $0.00 -$             406.25$       62.50$         -$             -$             656.25$       -$             -$             218.75$       167.50$      $1,511.25
HO Recovery 

Fee $0.00 20.00$         10.00$         -$             -$             -$             -$             20.00$         -$             -$            $50.00

Total $3,945.00 $3,970.46 $4,504.25 $7,444.50 $1,720.00 $2,916.00 $2,336.00 $4,318.75 $8,265.00 $5,491.40 $1,926.75 $1,992.50 $48,830.61

PLANNING AND ZONING

FY23-24

Inspections and Fees

$0.00

$1,000.00

$2,000.00

$3,000.00

$4,000.00

$5,000.00

$6,000.00

$7,000.00

$8,000.00

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June

Planning and Zoning Fees Collected (FY23 -24) 

Building Zoning Reinspect SWUF HO Recovery Fee

87%

3%
7%

3%0%

Fees Collected 
Percentages

Building Zoning

Reinspect SWUF

HO Recovery Fee



July Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June YTD Totals

Amount* -$                                        

Current Year Tax 1,292,918.24$    1,841,875.98$   327,668.62$      319,355.85$   260,168.47$   1,568,567.71$    826,014.32$      107,468.28$   101,027.01$   249,698.07$   25,656.44$   184,735.33$   7,105,154.32$                     

Current Yr Discount (25,476.78)$        (21,654.99)$        (526.19)$             4.54$                2.59$                -$                       -$                     -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                -$                  (47,650.83)$                          

Current Year Penalty 787.65$               2,771.65$            1,056.76$          202.13$           200.81$           3,519.82$            1,665.58$          816.67$           299.47$           569.58$           88.55$            14.61$             11,993.28$                           

Current Year Interest -$                      -$                     -$                  -$                  2.59$                    3,635.25$          3,478.73$       3,688.36$       19,609.50$     1,840.33$      4,836.32$       37,091.08$                           

Watershed Tax Current Yr 15,097.27$         21,172.24$         3,795.04$          3,706.23$       3,018.07$       18,412.19$          9,821.04$          1,271.09$       1,110.62$       5,495.85$       280.50$         215.03$           83,395.17$                           

Watershed Discount (302.62)$              (250.79)$              (5.81)$                 -$                  -$                  -$                       -$                     -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                -$                  (559.22)$                                

Watershed Penalty 9.16$                    31.98$                 12.61$                1.77$                2.13$                41.86$                  11.63$                9.45$                3.54$                6.65$                1.25$              0.29$                132.32$                                 

Watershed Interest -$                      -$                     -$                  -$                  -$                       41.34$                37.33$             39.04$             299.67$           339.06$         227.07$           983.51$                                 

Prior Year Tax 18,352.43$         36,799.48$         14,030.87$        11,746.94$     13,152.62$     30,868.77$          38,677.46$        15,816.63$     16,594.89$     17,825.54$     9,670.87$      9,352.33$       232,888.83$                         

Prior Year Penalty 68.78$                  417.40$               11.30$                11.32$             8.98$                56.62$                  128.45$              18.08$             35.92$             373.62$           104.93$         13.59$             1,248.99$                              

Prior Year Interest 2,722.59$            9,883.52$            1,948.27$          1,603.26$       2,701.76$       7,245.98$            7,520.79$          3,937.21$       4,139.65$       5,820.03$       3,183.84$      4,421.11$       55,128.01$                           

Prior Year Watershed 149.83$               462.06$               82.27$                107.42$           120.87$           178.34$                610.30$              191.08$           100.63$           18,419.66$     72.32$            59.57$             20,554.35$                           

Prior Year WS Penalty 0.71$                    4.84$                    0.13$                   0.36$                0.24$                0.67$                    1.18$                   0.75$                0.44$                1,823.93$       1.04$              0.47$                1,834.76$                              

Prior Year WS Interest 170.91$               532.50$               138.46$              148.78$           136.30$           255.79$                333.98$              226.01$           194.63$           3,002.32$       170.03$         142.23$           5,451.94$                              

Bad Checks -$                      -$                      -$                     (173.27)$          -$                  -$                       -$                     -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                -$                  (173.27)$                                

Prepayments 500.95$               5,956.02$            2,762.60$          2,006.00$       2,759.13$       2,763.67$            8,484.73$          7,213.74$       8,714.68$       7,676.18$       9572.78 12980.18 71,390.66$                           

TOTAL 1,304,999.12$   1,898,001.89$   350,974.93$     338,721.33$  282,271.97$  1,631,914.01$   896,946.05$     140,485.05$  135,948.88$  330,620.60$  50,981.94$   216,998.13$  7,578,863.90$                     

Initiated 0

Amount -$                                        

Satisfied/Cancelled 0

Amount -$                                        

*

87966.77 85,307.73$         77,214.79$        74,163.68$     66,628.89$     74,298.54$          83,382.60 80,066.76 97,719.73$     91,628.37 81,600.23$   94,039.90$     906,051.22$                         

 -$                                        

Billed Current Yr 1,315,210.00$    1,315,210.00$                     

Collected All Years 273,626.13$       265,537.20$       72,876.02$        61,864.46$     60,475.94$     174,442.14$       119,465.51$      33,731.11$     52,399.37$     47,788.02$     13,948.40$   12,398.01$     1,188,552.31$                     

Bad Checks -$                      -$                     -$                  -$                  -$                       -$                     -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                -$                  -$                                        

TOTAL 273,626.13$       265,537.20$       72,876.02$        61,864.46$     60,475.94$     174,442.14$       119,465.51$      33,731.11$     52,399.37$     47,788.02$     13,948.40$   12,398.01$     1,188,552.31$                     

Billed Current Yr 6,583.70$            -$                      -$                     -$                  -$                  -$                       -$                     -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                -$                  -$                                        

Collected Current Yr 1,055.97$            1,825.37$            170.37$              618.59$           145.76$           1,604.27$            1,033.69$          -$                  0.35$                5.90$                -$                -$                  6,460.27$                              

TOTAL 1,055.97$            1,825.37$            170.37$              618.59$           145.76$           1,604.27$            1,033.69$          -$                  0.35$                5.90$                -$                -$                  6,460.27$                              

Collected Current Yr 13,576.76$         27,943.80$         16,688.19$        21,036.21$     29,251.70$     26,519.82$          47,338.15$        1,358.21$       683.66$           1,720.24$       $214.67 0 186,331.41$                         

Creswell Levy 7,708.14$            19,091.33$         3,106.76$          1,908.22$       3,863.21$       41,771.70$          22,576.08$        319.87$           1,094.96$       551.69$           998.65 297.73 102,990.61$                        

1,600,966.12$   2,297,707.32$   521,031.06$     498,312.49$  442,637.47$  1,950,550.48$   1,170,742.08$  255,961.00$  287,846.95$  472,314.82$  147,743.89$ 323,733.77$  9,969,547.45$                     

Albemarle Beach Solar, LLC Rec'd the monthly payment, they are on schedule with the payment plan.  Balance due $1,836,949.06

VL Group A, LLC No payments rec'd on the 2023 taxes. Balance due $3,103.80

Plymouth Solar, LLC No payments rec'd on the 2023 taxes. Balance due $37,716.10. 

I am in contact with the same person who is handling the Albemarle Beach Solar, LLC payment plan for a status on the payments for VL Group, LLC and Plymouth Solar, LLC.  

Eddie Smith Drainage

Drainage Fees - Other

Town Collections

TOTAL TAX DEPOSIT

Tax and Tag Collections

Solid Waste Fees

Bank Attachments are usually in/out the same month - the bank either pays or sends a notice that no funds are available.

TAX

FY23-24

Collections

Advalorem Garnishments

Tax Fees

Current Yr Discount Current Year Penalty Current Year Interest Watershed Tax Current Yr Watershed Discount Watershed Penalty Watershed Interest Prepayments TOTAL



July Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec. Jan. Feb. March April May June YTD Total

PARTICIPANT DATA 8108

Unduplicated Attendees 69 79 75 83 71 65 80 81 87 78 73 841

Total Guest Check-Ins 48 16 27 10

New Particpants 0 5 1 5 5 11 2 1 1 4 35

Center-Sponsored Events 367 213 292 157 295 218 338 435 306 334 418 3373

Special Events 99 63 112 147 142 145 127 194 156 214 178 1577

Caregiver's Support Groups 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

Exercise Room 36 40 25 38 26 24 40 50 45 33 32 389

Fitness Workout 13 15 5 6 6 5 5 14 8 12 5 94

Yoga 3 3 1 1 3 2 3 9 7 5 9 46

Chair Exercise 65 64 56 67 51 14 35 71 57 50 55 585

Line Dance 45 49 42 38 28 11 35 44 42 45 17 396

Crafts With Sandra Lee 15 20 13 16 14 12 15 12 12 13 14 156

Drop-in Activities 10 35 36 27 27 29 38 31 32 25 18 308

Pickle Ball 24 10 2 3 2 17 17 28 7 4 0 114

Sewing with Geraldine 19 17 21 17 11 18 6 10 15 10 8 152
Computer Wi-fi 5 11 0 0 1 0 2 6 2 4 6 37

YTD Total

MEAL DATA 761 865 811 962 777 620 749 1037 954 976 0 0 8512

Congregate Meals Served 162 190 165 195 152 139 142 312 299 293 2049

Home-Delivered Meals Served 599 675 646 767 625 481 607 725 655 683 6463

Congregate Meals-Pick-Ups 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

YTD Total

CONTRIBUTION DATA 344.00$  232.00$  437.74$   604.62$  378.31$  464.52$ 499.00$  689.84$   447.75$   130.00$   95.50$  -$    4,323.28$  

Congregate Meals 46.00$    52.00$    69.00$     44.62$    53.31$    -$       44.00$    $156.30 $96.25 561.48$      

Home-Delivered Meals 140.00$  90.00$    262.00$   450.00$  220.00$  380.00$ 365.00$  240.00$   215.00$   2,362.00$  

Activity Fees 155.00$  90.00$    105.00$   110.00$  105.00$  75.00$   60.00$    75.00$     90.00$     90.00$     60.00$   1,015.00$  

Donations 3.00$      -$         1.74$        9.52$     30.00$    218.54$   46.50$     40.00$     35.50$   384.80$      

SENIOR CENTER

FY23-24

700

800

Meals Served (FY23-24) Senior Center Activities (FY23-24) Total Guest Check-Ins

Center-Sponsored Events

Special Events



0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Congregate Meals Served Home-Delivered Meals Served

47%

22%

0%

5%

1%1%

8%

5%

2%
4% 2%2%1%

Special Events

Caregiver's Support Groups

Exercise Room

Fitness Workout

Yoga

Chair Exercise

Line Dance

Crafts With Sandra Lee

Drop-in Activities

Pickle Ball

Sewing with Geraldine

Computer Wi-fi



July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June
Total (by 

Gender)

Total 

Incacerations

55 45 53 51 36 48 42 40 57 51 49 45 572 572
Male 29 26 33 30 21 29 25 26 37 33 30 29 348

Female 11 5 9 5 2 6 8 7 14 12 14 10 103

Male 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Female 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Male 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Female 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Male 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Female 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Male 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Female 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Male 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Female 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Male 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 7

Female 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Male 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Female 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

13 13 10 15 12 12 8 7 6 6 5 6 113 113

Male 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Female 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
US PRISON TRANSPORT 

451

0

1

0

0

0

7

0

0

MARTIN

BEAUFORT

PITT

Northampton

SURRY

SMCP

HYDE

DETENTION 
FY23-24

Incarcerations by County

WASHINGTON

CHOWAN

98%

0%0%0%0%0%2%0%0%

Incarcerations by County (Total FY23-24)

WASHINGTON

CHOWAN

HYDE

MARTIN

BEAUFORT

PITT

Northampton

SURRY

US PRISON TRANSPORT



JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE
YTD 

TOTALS

Total  Number of Dispatched Calls 1045 973 880 993 852 896 882 873 989 943 1077 1165 11568

Law Enforcement 786 765 697 817 701 678 693 662 688 663 796 894 8840
Animal Control 78 39 25 10 0 16 42 59 69 59 68 72 537

EMS 181 169 158 166 151 202 147 152 170 154 213 199 2062

Reported Incidents 28 28

Total Arrests 5 0 2 5 0 4 6 10 3 8 13 5 61

Misdemeanor Arrests 2 1 2 0 3 4 3 3 5 4 4 31

Felony Arrests 3 1 3 0 1 2 7 0 3 9 1 30

Total Papers Served 40 0 50 59 37 36 41 19 30 40 40 51 443

Criminal Papers Served 7 15 6 0 7 3 1 2 37 4 7 89

Civil Papers Served 33 35 53 37 29 38 18 28 3 36 44 354

Total Papers Outstanding 31 0 46 12 21 17 25 28 17 35 21  253

Criminal Papers Outstanding 16 32 6 6 2 0 0 2 11 13 12 100
Civil Papers Outstanding 15 14 6 15 15 25 28 15 24 8 15 180

Gun Permits Issued  N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 0

Conceals Pending  N/A 0

Concealed Permits Issued  N/A 17 11 16 10 14 12 25 12 21 14 10 11 173

SHERRIFF

FY23-24

5%

18%

Dispatched Calls (FY23-24)

Law Enforcement

Animal Control

EMS



77%

EMS

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

YTD TOTALS

28 31 30

89

354

100

180

Total Arrests & Papers Processed/Served (FY23-2)

Reported Incidents Misdemeanor Arrests Felony Arrests Criminal Papers Served Civil Papers Served Criminal Papers Outstanding Civil Papers Outstanding



JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE
YTD 

TOTALS

Total  Number of Dispatched Calls 398 357 349 397 406 409 332 0 0 0 0 0 2648
Plymouth Police Department 316 287 275 329 340 324 277 2148

Public Works 9 12 13 4 9 13 0 60
EMS Calls in the Town of Plymouth 73 58 61 64 57 72 55 440

Plymouth Fire Department 17 18 26 20 19 24 18

SHERRIFF

FY23-24



 
WASHINGTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

 
 
 

       ITEM NO:   8 
   
       DATE:     August 5, 2024 
 
ITEM:        Closed Session 
  
SUMMARY EXPLANATION: 
 
 
Mr. Potter would like to have the following Closed Sessions pursuant to NCGS§143-
318.11(a)(3) (attorney-client privilege) and NCGS §143-318.11(a)(6) (personnel). 
 



DRAFT 

 

                        
July 1, 2024 

 
 The Washington County Board of Commissioners met in a regular meeting on 
Monday, July 1, 2024, at 6:00 PM in the Commissioners’ Room, 116 Adams Street, 
Plymouth, NC.  Commissioners Tracey A. Johnson, Ann C. Keyes, Carol V. Phelps, John 
C. Spruill and Julius Walker, Jr. were in attendance. Also, present were County 
Manager/County Attorney Curtis S. Potter, Assistant County Manager, Jason Squires, 
Clerk to the Board Julie J. Bennett and County Finance Officer Missy Dixon. 
 
 Chair Keyes called the meeting to order. Commissioner Walker gave the 
invocation. Commissioner Phelps led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
 ADDITIONS/DELETIONS:   
 
 Mr. Potter added the following two (2) items:   
 
 Consent Agenda g) 2nd Judicial District—Drug Recovery Court Coordinator 

Position FY25 
 

 RESO2024-25 Authorizing Execution Of Kroger Opioid Settlement And 
Approving The Second Supplemental Agreement For Additional Funds---this is to 
be added after discussion in Closed Session) 

 
 Commissioner Spruill  made a motion to approve tonight’s Agenda with the 
added items.  Commissioner Phelps seconded; motion carried unanimously. 
 
 CONSENT AGENDA: 

Items listed under Consent are generally of a routine nature.  The Board may take action to 
approve/disapprove all items in a single vote.  Any item may be withheld from a general action, to 
be discussed and voted upon separately at the discretion of the Board. 

 
a) Approval of Minutes of June 3, 2024  
b) Tax Refunds & Releases & Insolvent Accounts 
c) FY25 Salary Schedule/COLA Adjustments 
d) RESO 2024-22:  Proclamation—Designation of July as Parks & Recreation Month 
e) RESO 2024-23 Authorizing Execution of A 2nd Utility Right of Way Agreement with 

Dominion Energy to Install and Connect Electrical Utilities at the Newly Constructed PK-
12 School 

f) RESO 2024-24:  Recognizing and Approving of the Official America 250 NC Committee 
g) 2nd Judicial District—Drug Recovery Court Coordinator Position FY25 

 
 Commissioner Spruill asked that pages 203-215 (pdf page #s) be removed from the 
June 3rd Minutes re: the Nixon Cemetery. 
 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda with the 
amended changes.   Commissioner Spruill seconded; motion carried unanimously. 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

PUBLIC FORUM:  Mr. Bruce Patterson, Executive, Washington Regional Medical 
Center, stated they see about 500-600 people in the ER/month and at least 12/day.  They are 
getting a CT machine.  They are working on an agreement with Tryner Children’s Hospital 
for telehealth for pediatrics.  They have opened a clinic in Martin County with 3 clinicians. 
He said they will go live with electronic medical records this year. 

 
Commissioner Spruill asked Mr. Patterson about financial issues.  Mr. Patterson 

said their finances are improving.  He just signed a new contract for staff health insurance. 
WMRC is trying to improve the ER by obtaining equipment.  Mr. Patterson said they are 
also receiving funds from local legislators. 

 
Commissioner Spruill asked him to get a slot on the agenda, not the 3-minute 

forum so the Board can get more information and be able to ask questions. 
 
Sarah Baird-Forner spoke about it being Parks & Recreation month.  She praised 

Washington County Recreation staff. She also stated there are not enough activities offered.  
There are not enough youth that sign up for the current activities. She feels the Recreation 
Center should be moved to Washington County High School after it is vacated.  
  
 DEPARTMENTAL UPDATE:   Mr. Chris Respess, Soil & Water gave the 
following presentation to the Commissioners regarding his department.  
 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 Mr. Respess told the Board that he received a Grant for a drone to do aerial 
applications.  Now he is getting his drone license. 
 
 Commissioner Phelps thanked Mr. Respess for the spraying in the Creswell area. 
 
 TAX COLLECTOR’S REPORT AND ANNUAL SETTLEMENT REPORT:   Ms. 
Sherri Wilkins, Tax Administrator, spoke to the Board and gave the following report. 
 

“In accordance with North Carolina General Statute 105-373, I submit the following 
report for Fiscal Year 2024 – 2025: 
 
The total tax levy was $7,662,726.42. This was the billing for the original scroll, the public 
utility scroll, discoveries, and penalties. This amount has been adjusted for releases of $9,276.23. 
The discounts taken through payments received in July and August totaled $50,271.04. This 
amount does not include the registered motor vehicle levy, this is billed and collected through 
NCVTS.  
 
Per the NCVTS Finance Report, the collections for NCVTS totaled $1,012,738.13. The tax 
office does not handle the collection of motor vehicle taxes. We do process any adjustments to 
value, the situs issues, refunds and other questions.   
 
The amount of Real and Personal property not collected is $521,785.41. A listing of the 
delinquent taxpayers and the amounts owed are available in our office for your inspection.  
 
The total amount of collections and credits towards the levy was $ 7,140,941.01. 



DRAFT 

 

 
Our collections for prior years’ taxes were $291,320.72. The amount collected through Debt 
Setoff was $25,112.38, and through wage garnishments and attachments was $6,704.76. 
 
This year we billed and collected for the Washington County Ad Valorem Tax, the Watershed 
1972 Ref Tax, Town of Creswell Ad Valorem Tax, Solid Waste User Fee, Albemarle Drainage 
District, and Pungo River Drainage District. We collected for Drainage District 5. We assumed 
the responsibilities of the GIS office.  
   
The tax office staff has made diligent efforts to collect all taxes due. In addition to our efforts in 
the office, we also work with Zacchaeus Legal Services in the foreclosure proceedings.  
 
I would like to commend all the tax office staff for their efforts in handling all the issues that 
arise from the billings and collections mentioned above. I would also like to recognize the 
Permits office,  Register of Deeds office and the Clerk of Courts office. We work closely with 
these offices, and I appreciate the outstanding working relationship that we have.” 
 

Commissioner Johnson made a motion to approve the Order to Collect Ad 
Valorem Taxes for FY24-25. Commissioner Spruill seconded; motion carried 
unanimously. 

  
 EMTOC UPDATE:   Mr. Potter spoke to the Board about the draft contract that 
was in their agenda package. [This is attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference will be made part of these minutes.] from the Architect for preliminary review 
by the Board.  
During the meeting staff will provide a general update on the ongoing progress of the 
EMTOC project including the following:  
- Site Selection Progress & Status  
- Proposed Design  
- Proposed Budget  
- Project Funding Status of Grant Funds  

o Local Funds  
 
- Design Contract (Specific concerns or questions about the terms and conditions of this 
contract should be discussed in closed session under Attorney Client Privilege.)  
- Any other/additional information or Q&A  
 

Staff would like to recommend that the Board, at the conclusion of this item or any 
closed session held to discuss the terms of the design contract, that the Board make a 
motion:   
1. To approve the proposed design in concept, and  
2. To approve entering into the proposed design contract subject to any additional 
modifications or amendments requested by the Board or recommended to be made in 
County’s favor by the County Attorney prior to its execution.  
 

Mr. Squires noted that there are two (2) proposed sites, one (1) near MTW and one 
(1) near Main Street/Main Street. Soil sampling is being done. Mr. Squires gave an 



DRAFT 

 

overview of what is happening with that. He also mentioned that it is taking longer to get 
contracts completed with Weyerhaeuser. 
 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to approve the proposed design in 
concept.  Commissioner Spruill seconded; motion carried unanimously. 
 

POCOSIN CHARTER SCHOOL (PCS) FACILITIES/FUNDING REQUEST: 
Commissioner Phelps discussed the letter that Ms. Davenport, Vice-President of PCS. Ms. 
Lyn West was in attendance on behalf of PCS; however, she did not have a presentation 
ready due to late notice of the meeting. 

 
Commissioner Johnson stated that this should not be discussed until the school is 

empty and is out of the Washington County School system.  She spoke about teacher 
supplements for the PCS teachers and Mr. Potter said that we do not have the authority to 
give supplements to charter schools. Commissioner Johnson said that all the schools that 
have students from different counties should pay part of a supplement. 

 
Mr. Potter said he would like to discuss this in Closed Session.  Ms. West said that 

PCS is a NC public school and PCS has a public school #. 
 
Commissioner Phelps said this has been discussed.  PCS does not want to build a 

new school if possible. 
 
Mr. Carlos Riddick, Board of Education Chair, said that in a previous meeting it was 

stated that PCS should build a school, so they should. 
 
Chair Keyes suggested that Mr. Potter, Dr. White, WCS Supt. and PCS leadership 

meet. 
 

Commissioner Spruill stated that PCS is for all WCS children and we need to look 
out for them. 

 
Commissioner Phelps made a motion to authorize County leadership to work 

with WCS leadership and PCS leadership to resolve this issue. Commissioner Spruill 
seconded; motion carried. 

 
 NCACC VOTING DELEGATE:  Commissioner Spruill nominated Chair 
Keyes as the Washington County Voting Delegate at the NCACC Annual Conference 
being held in August in Forsyth County. Commissioner Phelps seconded; motion 
carried unanimously.   
 
 BOARDS & COMMITTEES:  Ms. Bennett reminded the Commissioners that they 
wanted to continue their conversation regarding JCPC appointments. Commissioner 
Johnson said she would take the position of Commissioner.  Commissioner Spruill 
recommended his daughter in law Lee Ann Goss for the Attorney slot. 
 

FINANCE OFFICER’S REPORT:   Ms. Dixon went over the budget transfers and budget 
amendments that were in the Commissioners’ package.  Please see below. 



DRAFT 

 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 



DRAFT 

 

Commissioner Spruill discussed the transferring of budgets and bringing the info to the 
Commissioners.  Mr. Potter said they are trying to be transparent about what goes on behind the 
scenes.  Discussion ensued.   
 

Commissioner Johnson made a motion to approve the budget transfers/ 
amendments as presented.  Commissioner Phelps seconded; motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
Commissioner Spruill made a motion to approve individual line items to be overrun 

within a department and budget transfers completed effective June 1, 2024 – June 30, 2024.  
Commissioner Phelps seconded; motion carried unanimously. 

 
 OTHER ITEMS BY COMMISSIONERS OR STAFF: 
 
Commissioner Johnson stated that Dominion Power is having a town hall in surrounding 

counties regarding raising our rates 14%.  Please try to attend.  Washington County is not on the 
grid for wind power so we receive no benefit from them. 

 
Commissioner Spruill and Mr. Squires attended a meeting at the new school and did a 

walk through and is pleased with where it is. 
 

Commissioner Spruill had a discussion with Mr. Potter about the $50K in the budget for a 
solar bond fund. He feels the County does not need to hold those funds for the next 20 years. He 
has done some research on it and that $50K would not touch what it would cost to clean up a 
solar farm and it should not be the County’s responsibility to take care of it. Commissioner 
Spruill  talked about purchasing a bond.  Discussion ensued. Mr. Potter thought that it can only 
be used for a specific use. 

 
Commissioner Spruill said he has a growing concern about our 911 Center and dispatch. 

He keeps receiving concerns.  He feels a committee needs to be formed to address these issues.  
Commissioner Spruill gave a handout for a possible WC911 Center Review Committee.  Mr. 
Potter noted that it has been suggested to the Board to consolidate our E911 with another County 
and the Board turned down that option.  Commissioner Spruill feels the proposed committee 
looks feasible.  It has been discussed internally. 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 



DRAFT 

 

 
 
Commissioner Spruill made a motion to create a WC911 Center Review Committee 

and use the handout above as a guideline.  Commissioner Phelps seconded; motion carried 
unanimously.  
 

Commissioner Phelps talked about a citizen learning there is a fire range on the property 
in front of his house.  He told them they needed to go to the Planning Board. 

 
Commissioner Spruill said the Facilities Committee had a great meeting last week.  The 

County really needs to take a look at the future of the Courthouse. He suggested the Board tour 
the courthouse. Commissioner Spruill will talk about this with the Facilities Director after the 
next Facilities Committee meeting.  

 
Mr. Potter said staff is looking at reviewing the competitiveness of our E911 employees’ 

pay with other counties. He plans to bring that information to the next meeting. 
 
Commissioner Keyes said she attended the RC&D meeting last week that was held 

downtown Plymouth in the Maritime Museum. She mentioned they discussed grant funding that 
is available. She stated that she attended Advocacy Days in Raleigh and too many other meetings 
to mention. 

 
Commissioner Keyes read a letter from the Fire Commission thanking the 

Commissioners for the $.01 increase in their budget and said it was greatly appreciated.  
 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to go into Closed Session pursuant to 
NCGS§143-318.11(a)(3)  (attorney-client privilege and NCGS §143-318.11(a)(6) 
(personnel).  Commissioner Spruill seconded; motion carried unanimously. 
 
  Back in Open Session, Commissioner Spruill made a motion to approve the amendments of 
the June 3 minutes. Commissioner Phelps seconded; motion carried unanimously. 



DRAFT 

 

 
 Commissioner Spruill made a motion to approve the EMTOC architect contract with the 
stipulation that Mr. Potter sign it. Commissioner Phelps seconded; motion carried unanimously. 
 
 Commissioner Phelps made a motion to approve RESO 2024-25 Authorizing Execution Of 
Kroger Opioid Settlement And Approving The Second Supplemental Agreement For Additional 
Funds Resolution 2024-25.  Commissioner Spruill seconded; motion carried unanimously. 
 

Commissioner Spruill made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner                         
Phelps seconded; motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 

    Ann C. Keyes        Julie J. Bennett, MMC, NCMCC 
            Chair          Clerk to the Board 

 


	Cover page  for Commissioner booklets with window 6.4
	Agenda August 5, 2024
	8-5-2024 Item 1 Consent Agenda
	FY24 Pay Tables Schedule eff 7.16.24 draft20240607 w2.5cola v2 for 20240805 bocc mtg
	Washington County LAP for August 5, 2024 BoCC mtg
	SFY 2024-25 and 2025-26 MOU Cover Letter
	County MOU and Data Sharing MOA 2024-25 and 2025-26.fillable_Updated 6.3.2024
	THE NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
	AND
	1.0  Parties to the MOU
	2.0  Terms of the MOU
	3.0  MOU Documents
	4.0  Entire MOU
	5.0  Definitions
	6.0  Audit Requirements
	7.0  Record Retention
	8.0   Liabilities and Legal Obligations
	9.0  Confidentiality
	10.0  Secretary’s Authority Undiminished
	11.0  MOU does not Diminish Other Legal Obligations
	12.0  Notice
	13.0  Responsibilities of the Department
	14.0  Responsibilities of the County
	15.0  Data Security and Reporting
	Data Security: The County shall adopt and apply data privacy and security requirements to comply with all applicable federal, state, department and local laws, regulations, and rules.  The Parties hereby adopt and incorporate the terms of the Data Sha...
	Duty to Report: The County shall report all privacy and security incidents related to the provision of social services programs covered by the MOU to the Department and the Privacy and Security Office within twenty-four (24) hours after the privacy an...
	16.0  Miscellaneous
	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE
	2. BACKGROUND
	3. AUTHORITY OF PARTIES
	4. PARTIES’ ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
	5. ACCESS CONTROL
	6. CONFIDENTIALITY AND SECURITY
	7. CONTACTS
	8. LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION
	9. MONITORING AND AUDITING
	10. DURATION OF AGREEMENT AND MODIFICATION
	11. GOVERNING LAW
	12. OTHER PROVISIONS/SEVERABILITY
	13. ENTIRE AGREEMENT
	14. TERMINATION

	Perf Measures Attach 1 MOU
	Perf Measures Attach 2 
	DSS Perf Measures Fact Sheet
	RESO2024-026 Cumberland St.
	RESO 2024-027 Daisy Lane
	RESO 2024-028 MOU Spending Authorization-Reso-Budget Ord Clarification 8-5-2024
	8-5-2024 Item 2 (public forum)
	8-5-2024 Item 3 Dept. Info--Facilities
	8-5-2024 Item 4 Airport Engineering RFQ Selection
	Agenda Item Memo 4 PMZ RFQ Proposals 20240805
	8-5-2024 Item 5 Boards & Committees
	8-5-2024 Item 6 Finance Officer's Report
	Budget Amendments-Budget Transfers
	Budget Amendments-Budget Transfers
	SEQU1522424072916480

	Finance Report thru 7-26-24
	Expenditure Transction Report-Budget Amendments-Transfers thru 7-26-24
	Revenue Transaction Report-Budget Amendment-Transfers thru 7-26-24
	8-5-2024 Item 7 Other Items
	Reports for 8-5-2024 BoCC Meeting
	Stat Report Cover Sheet
	FY23-24 Statisitc Report (2) (6)
	8-5-2024 Item 8 Closed Session
	7-1-2024 Minutes

	COUNTY: WASHINGTON
	IF DELIVERED BY US POSTAL SERVICERow1: Attention:  County ManagerLegal NoticePO Box 1007Plymouth, NC  27962252-793-5823
	IF DELIVERED BY ANY OTHER MEANSRow1: 
	TITLE: 
	TITLE_2: 
	DATE: 
	DATE_2: 
	DATE_3: 
	Name Title Address Phone Number Fax Number E Mail: 
	CL 14: 
	Page 1: 

	CL 15: 
	Page 1: 

	CL 16: 
	Page 1: 

	website 2: 
	CL 2: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 

	CL 3: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 

	CL 4: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 

	330193: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 

	CL 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 

	CL 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 

	CL 10: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 

	330194: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 

	CL 11: 
	Page 15: 

	CL 12: 
	Page 15: 

	CL 13: 
	Page 15: 

	330195: 
	Page 15: 



